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40 years promoting sustainable development 
and regional integration
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1970-2010

CAF is a multilateral financial institution whose mission is to support sustainable de-

velopment and regional integration in latin America. Its shareholders are: Argentina, 

Bolivia, Brazil, Chile, Colombia, Costa Rica, Dominican Republic, ecuador, Jamaica, 

Mexico, panama, paraguay, peru, portugal, Spain, trinidad & tobago, Venezuela, and 14 

private banks within the region.

the Institution serves both the public and private sectors of the economy, providing 

a wide variety of products and services to a broad portfolio of clients that include the 

governments of shareholder countries as well as public and private companies and 

financial institutions. Social and environmental variables are deemed key in the Institu-

tion’s management policies, including ecoefficiency and sustainability criteria in all of 

its operations. As a financial intermediary, CAF allocates resources from industrialized 

countries to latin America, serving as liaison between the region and international 

capital markets, and promoting business and investment opportunities.
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Bolivia (1970)
Colombia (1970)
ecuador (1970)
peru (1970)
Venezuela (1970)
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40 years of presence, dynamism, progress 

and consolidation in latin america
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this map has been created by CAF with 

illustrative purposes only. therefore, borders, colors, 

denominations, or any other information shown, does 

not imply any judgement by the Institution over the 

legal situation of any territory, or border recognition.
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40 years of consistent 
operational growth 
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1970-2010
  record operations
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APPROVALS

PORTFOLIO

USD 
10,533 
million

USD 
13,878
million



10

ApprovAls by country 

Multinationals 4.9%

Venezuela 14.7%

Peru 29.7%

Ecuador 12.8%

12.6% Bolivia

25.3% Colombia 

1990

2010

Other 7.4%

Venezuela 15.6%

Uruguay 1.1%

Peru 16.1%

Paraguay 0.3%

Panama 3.0%

Mexico 0.3%

Colombia 9.4%     Costa Rica 0.1%    Ecuador 8.6%

15.3% Argentina 

18.8% Brazil

 4.0% Bolivia

broad presence 
in latin american countries
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Tourism 9.6%

Energy 19.4%

Industry 35.1% 

35.9% Hydrocarbons  

ApprovAls by strAtegic AreA

diversification into areas 
of strategic interest 

for shareholder countries

34.9% Economic infrastructure

10.5% Integration infrastructure

Structural reforms 1.5%

Cooperation funds 0.4%

Productive sectors, services, 
and international trade 36%

Social and environmental development 16.7%

45.4% 
Infrastructure  
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1970-2010
  40 years of extraordinary financial performance

TOTAL ASSETS

SHAREHOLdERS’ EqUITy
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USD 
18,547
million

USD 
5,753
million
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Moody’s Investors Service

Standard & Poor’s

Fitch Ratings Ltd.

Japan Credit Rating Agency

1993-2010

Aa3/AA-

A1/A+

A2/A

A3/A-

Baa1/BBB+

Baa2/BBB 

Baa3/BBB-
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two decades as the frequent latin american issuer 
      with the highest credit ratings



14

h
ig

h
, s

u
st

a
in

e
d

, a
n

d
 q

u
a

li
t

y
 g

r
o

w
t

h

MACROECONOMIC 
STABILITy

INVESTMENTS IN ALL 
FORMS OF CAPITAL

PROdUCTIVITy INCREASES

SOCIAL INCLUSION

MICROECONOMIC 
EFFICIENCy

ENVIRONMENTAL 
SUSTAINABILITy

SOCIAL EqUITy

 
an agenda 

for the region’s 
comprehensive 

development that seeks 
high, sustained 

and quality growth
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a comprehensive view of the development process
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MeSSAge 
FRoM the 
exeCutIVe 
pReSIDent

I am pleased to present the 2010 Annual Report within the framework of 
the institution’s 40th anniversary. In these forty years CAF evolved from a 
small regional institution to a bank with latin American reach which to-
day counts with eighteen shareholder countries.

the institution’s growth is reflected in multiple ways: in the volume of its 
operations, in their geographic and strategic diversification, as well as in 
the variety of products and services offered both to the public and private 
sectors of the region, in support of a comprehensive agenda that favors 
sustainable development and regional integration.

the transformation of the institution is also reflected in the construction 
of bridges between latin America and the rest of the world, in order to 
attract financial and technological resources, and to participate in the in-
creasing process of knowledge generation in development issues.

the institution’s financial strength, its high credit ratings, and the solid 
commitment of its shareholder countries, have enabled it to access inter-
national financial markets continuously and competitively.

After forty years, CAF is consolidating itself as a regional bank of latin 
America for latin America, committed to the service of its countries and 
ready to face future challenges with renewed strength and dynamism.

I would like to specially thank the governments, shareholders and Board 
members for their trust and unwavering support, as well as our employees 
for their commitment, creativity and professionalism.

l. enrique garcía
executive president
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2010 18,547 4,127 13,878
2009 15,887 3,685 11,772

FInAnCIAl hIghlIghtS

TOTAL ASSETS LIQUID ASSETS  LOAN AND INVESTMENT   
  PORTFOLIO

USD 
MILLION

USD 
MILLION
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2010 18,547 4,127 13,878
2009 15,887 3,685 11,772

2010 2,814 5,753 166
2009 2,486 5,287 235

PAID-IN CAPITAL TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’   NET INCOME
 EQUITY

USD 
MILLION
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CAF commemorated its 
fortieth anniversary in 
a year of consolidation 
and growth. the 
Institution contributed 
significantly to the 
development debate in 
the region by initiating 
a strategic discussion on 
the challenges that latin 
America must address in 
coming decades.

CAF has positioned 
itself as an important 
player in generating and 
disseminating public 
policy knowledge in 
the region, through its 
presence in important 
international fora 
and events and its 
working agenda with 
international think 
tanks.

the Institution’s 
new latin American 
dimension has been 
strengthened by its 
recent capitalization 
processes and the 
resulting capital 
increases, and is also 
reinforced by a series of 
cooperative agreements 
with other international 
organizations, including 
the China Development 
Bank, the Import 
export Bank of 
India, and the French 
Development Agency.
 

the Institution 
successfully placed over 
uSD 2 billion in 10 
bond issues, thereby 
registering the most 
intense activity in 
capital markets in its 
history. During the 
year, CAF launched its 
second bond issue in 
the prestigious Swiss 
market, and continued 
to participate in latin 
American capital 
markets.

hIghlIghtS
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latin american development bank

Rating agencies 
reaffirmed CAF’s credit 
quality in 2010. Standard 
and poor’s improved its 
outlook from stable to 
positive. the investment 
grade ratings that CAF 
has obtained since 1993 
position the Institution 
as the latin American 
frequent issuer with the 
highest credit ratings.

CAF received several 
recognitions during 
the year including 
Best Multilateral 
Agency 2010, from 
the prestigious latin 
Finance magazine. 
this distinction 
follows other similar 
prior achievements 
including Best latin 
American Issuer 1995 
(euromoney), Best 
Multilateral of the Year 
2000 (latin Finance), 
Issuing Agency of the 
Year 2003 (euromoney), 
Best Bond Issue to 
Finance Development 
2003 (emerging 
Markets), and Best 
Multilateral 2003 (latin 
Finance).

CAF achieved another 
record year in operations 
despite a particularly 
complex international 
environment. Approvals 
for the five-year period 
2006-2010 amounted to 
uSD 39,778 millions, 
and the loan portfolio 
reached uSD 13,878 
million.

CAF inaugurated 
its regional office in 
Montevideo with 
the presence of the 
Vice president of the 
oriental Republic 
of uruguay, Danilo 
Astori. together with 
the regional office in 
panama, the opening 
of this new office in 
the Southern Cone 
forms part of the 
decentralization 
process required by 
the new institutional 
dimensions. 
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latin america seems to have entered 
  a path of prosperity and stability, after having 
  explored multiple development models.
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internAtionAl environMent: 
recent evolution And prospects

the recovery of the global economy exceeded all expectations in 2010 
with the return of growth rates similar to those registered in the period 
that preceded the 2008 crisis. however, the dynamism of the recovery and 
the contribution of countries to global growth are heterogeneous. After 
the initial rebound that marked the end of recession, advanced countries 
are now converging toward relatively low growth rates. In contrast, emerg-
ing economies are experiencing an accelerated expansion, thus becom-
ing the main drivers of global growth. In this context, China became the 
second largest economy in the world exceeding the size of Japan’s gross 
domestic product (gDp). 

During 2010, the economy of the united States grew at a more moderate 
pace. A growth rate close to 3% is expected for the year after the strong 
recovery registered during the last quarter of 2009 (5% annualized). Weak-
ness in labor market continues, with persistently high unemployment rates 
and a slow recovery in job creation, which will continue to weight on 
consumption. In addition, some data from the real estate sector show that 
housing sales remain low, although the sharp fall in volumes and prices 
stabilized during the year. the low activity of the real estate sector will 
jeopardize investment, which could take a toll on output in 2011.

It is expected that the united States will grow below its potential in com-
ing years, but with small risk of a double dip recession. the weakness of 
economic fundamentals makes it difficult to withdraw the current fiscal and 
monetary stimuli. In fact, in 2010 the Federal Reserve introduced another 
program of liquidity expansion (Quantitative easing II) and, on the fiscal 
side, the unemployment insurance benefits were extended until 2011 and 
tax cuts were extended for an additional two years. this will provide addi-
tional support to household consumption; keeping the cost of capital low to 
stimulate private investment, while public investment will remain strong in 
the short term. the progressive reduction of the fiscal space and the need to 
preserve debt sustainability will require a fiscal adjustment which is unlikely 
to take place before 2012. It is also expected that the environment of high 
liquidity and low interest rates will remain at least for several quarters. 

Despite the fact that data for the second quarter of 2010 showed signs of 
recovery, the prospects for the remainder of the year and for 2011 point to 
a very modest growth in europe. the recent debt crisis dented consumer 
and business confidence, softened domestic demand and, consequently, 
production. Fiscal consolidation will also weight on the recovery, which 

eConoMIC 
oVeRVIeW 
AnD RegIonAl 
IntegRAtIon
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has been sustained to a large extent by monetary and fiscal stimuli. the 
withdrawal of these stimuli has been announced in some countries, such 
as germany, while in countries more affected by the debt crisis, such as 
greece, Ireland, portugal, and even Spain, strong fiscal adjustment mea-
sures have been implemented. 

Important differences among countries underlie the general scenario. ger-
many continues to lead growth underpinned by its growing exports to 
emerging economies; while France and Italy have shown modest growth 
based more on domestic than external demand. Spain started to show the 
first signs of recovery as a result of its increasing exports. however, in the 
short term, it will underperform compared to the euro Zone. the greek 
economy contracted more than expected during the second quarter, casting 
doubts over the hopes for a setback in the recession. the financial and fiscal 
crisis tarnished Ireland’s performance in 2010 and the strong adjustments 
associated with the rescue program will dampen growth in the short term. 

the Japanese economy also emerged from recession and accumulated 
three consecutive quarters with positive growth rates, albeit at very mod-
erate rates. external demand provided the greatest boost to growth, to a 
great extent due to the dynamism of interregional trade which under-
pinned Japanese exports. this compensated for the stagnation of private 
domestic demand, derived from deflationary expectations and weakness 
in the job market. the authorities have maintained an expansionary mon-
etary policy and a strong fiscal stimulus, which are expected to continue in 
the short term in order to reduce the risks of sliding back into recession. 
however, there are mounting concerns on the yen appreciation, consider-
ing the dependence of the Japanese economy on exports.

Although the recovery in advanced economies contributed to global 
growth in 2010, emerging economies propelled the expansion led by 
China. After achieving an annual growth rate of close to 12% in the first 
quarter of 2010, the Chinese government was forced to adopt restrictive 
measures to prevent an excessive overheating of the economy and the 
emergence of asset bubbles. thus, China’s growth decreased to an annual 
rate of close to 10% in the following quarters. this nonetheless exuber-
ant expansion of the world’s second largest economy turned out to be the 
main driver of global demand.

the sustainability of this expansion depends, however, on the capacity 
to redirect the sources of growth toward domestic demand, particularly 
towards consumption. A large fraction of the fiscal stimuli in China was 
deployed to investment which benefited sectors linked to manufacturing 
exports. Feeble growth prospects for the advanced economies, would sever 
the impact on gDp growth of manufacturing, unless production can be 
channeled to domestic markets. this shift requires policies aimed at pro-
moting household consumption, improvements in the social protection 
network and more exchange rate flexibility. In the short term, overheat-
ing risks have driven authorities to restrain monetary policy, by increasing 
reserve requirements and interest rates, in order to tame demand growth. 

 
the recovery of 
the world econoMy 
exceeded All 
expectAtions in 2010, 
with growth rAtes 
siMilAr to those 
registered during 
the upswing thAt 
preceded the 2008 
crisis.
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Another driver of global growth has been India, with an annual growth 
rate expected to exceed 8% in 2010. however, stability is threatened by 
inflationary pressures stemming from demand growth exceeding potential 
output and rising food prices. India’s inflation rate is among the highest in 
Asia, forcing the Central Bank of India to raise interest rates several times 
throughout the year. 

Finally, economies in emerging europe have advanced toward recovery, 
although there are notorious exceptions. In many countries, the positive 
performance during the first few months of the year was tarnished by 
the weakening of the external environment during the second quarter. 
Complications in the euro Zone, which is the destination of many of the 
exports of emerging europe and the origin of a large fraction of the capital 
flows, were especially damaging. however, a number signals a gradual re-
covery in some economies as the obstacles were overcome. Russia, turkey, 
and ukraine for example, benefitted from the redirection of capital flows 
toward emerging economies. the increase in the prices of basic products 
has benefitted commodity exporters such as Armenia, Kazakhstan, Mon-
golia, and Russia. on the contrary, the countries of South eastern europe, 
Croatia, and Slovenia remain stagnant or in recession because the recovery 
of exports was overshadowed by the weakness of domestic demand. 

financial, basic goods and foreign exchange markets

the calm that returned to the financial market since 2009 was threatened 
in April 2010 by the fiscal crisis in greece that quickly spread to other 
countries of the euro Zone (Ireland, portugal, and Spain). this unleashed 
a new panic wave, triggering volatility in financial, stock, and exchange 
markets, and considerably widening sovereign spreads, especially in the 
case of european countries with fiscal problems. 

the uncertainty about the solvency of the european banking system, 
highly exposed to sovereign debt in the region, led to a reduction of li-
quidity which forced the european Central Bank intervention. traditional 
safe refuge asset prices, such as uS treasury bills and gold soared, while 
risky assets prices lost part of its previous gains in the year, and the euro 
posted a large decline against the uS dollar. 

After the extraordinary agreements reached between the european 
union, the european Central Bank, and the International Monetary 
Fund to support troubled economies and avoid possible sovereign de-
faults, tensions in the financial markets started to subside. the release of 
positive results of the stress tests for european banks, and the announce-
ments of explicit fiscal consolidation measures by euro Zone members, 
significantly contributed to reestablish calm in the markets. Although 
investor confidence was partly restored, risks still weight on the per-
formance of developed economies, preventing a further dissipation of 
volatility. Any disruption in the markets has the potential to generate new 
episodes of instability in coming months. 
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It should be noted that tensions during the crisis episode circumscribed to 
europe, so contagion to other regions was limited. emerging economies 
only exhibited a temporary widening of sovereign spreads, while spreads 
in the euro Zone widened up to more than 500 bp in some countries and 
still remain high. this resulted in a movement of capital toward emerg-
ing economies. Although the flow of direct investment toward emerging 
economies continues to be important, portfolio flows increased substan-
tially after this episode. A reversion of this trend is not foreseen, at least in 
the short term.

After the April turbulence was overcome, the return of risk appetite moti-
vated the recovery of stock markets. however, stocks still exhibited a high 
volatility explained mainly by the weakening of the uS economy starting 
in the second quarter, the expected impact of the fiscal adjustments in eu-
rope, and the restrictive policies in China to prevent overheating.

Foreign exchange markets also tended to normalize after the April turbulence. 
the euro slided to a minimum of uSD/euR 1.19 at the most critical point 
in the crisis, and then recovered progressively until it reached uSD/euR 1.34 
by the end of the year. the announcement of the fiscal austerity package and 
the successful Spanish bond sale helped to restore confidence in the european 
currency. After plummeting to uSD/gBp 1.43 in 2009, the pound gained 
ground again and closed 2010 at uSD/gBp 1.56.

Although affected by the volatility of the markets, the yen appreciated in 
the last months of 2010. In response, monetary authorities intervened in 
the market to curb yen’s volatility and signaled their commitment to pre-
serve currency stability. After strong international pressures on China and 
its policy of maintaining an undervalued currency, in mid-June, Chinese 
authorities announced they would allow the appreciation of the renminbi. 
however, the greater exchange rate flexibility has not yet resulted in sig-
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nificant currency movements, leading to a marginal appreciation of slightly 
more than 3%.

the commodities market continues to register historically high prices as-
sociated mainly to the strong growth of the Chinese economy and the 
reduced supply of certain basic products. Crude oil remains within a range 
of uSD 70 and uSD 90 per barrel, well above the historical values. the 
same occurred with basic metals, particularly copper.

Agricultural goods also trended upwards, fueled by strong global demand 
conditions– underpinned by emerging economies’ growth– and negative 
supply shocks. the price of wheat hit a 15-year high after the droughts 
affecting Russia and the subsequent global restriction of this global food 
staple. If this phenomenon continues, it could unleash inflationary pres-
sures in several emerging economies, becoming an obstacle for sustaining 
their fast-paced economic growth. 

lAtin AMericA: recent evolution And prospects

latin America posted strong growth in 2010, significantly exceeding 
market expectations. It consolidated the recovery initiated in 2009 and 
positioned itself among the most dynamic regions in the world along 
with emerging Asia. the region grew 6.1% in 2010. It is expected that 
growth will decelerate in 2011 and converge to potential rates in 2011, as 
fiscal and monetary stimuli are withdrawn and activity moderates in ad-
vanced economies. however, it is expected that the impulse from emerg-
ing Asia and domestic demand will still guarantee robust growth rates in 
the region. 

real sector

Recovery consolidated in latin America in 2010. the strong setback 
in activity during the first months of 2009 was followed by a quick 

Graph 2. price index of bAsic goods
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rebound of output that lifted the region out of recession at an unprec-
edented pace.

the stellar performance of the region was linked to both a more favor-
able international environment and, at a domestic level, a timely policy 
stimulus. on the external front, the recovery of international trade vol-
umes underpinned the region’s exports. the rise of commodity prices 
led to an improvement in the terms of trade that particularly favored 
commodity exporters in South America. the recovery of the united 
States supported an increase in worker’s remittances to latin America, 
which further boosted household income and thus consumer’s purchas-
ing power. the region also benefitted from easier access to low-cost 
international financing, due to expansive monetary policies in advanced 
economies and the relatively solid fundamentals of the region, which 
guaranteed the narrowing spreads. 

In addition, anti-cyclical fiscal and monetary policies in most countries 
throughout the region were key to avoid more protected recessions. 
Moreover, the strength of financial systems allowed the monetary stimulus 
to reactivate credit and underpinned private demand. 

the policy mix described above was possible due to the structural reforms 
implemented during the 1990’s, which led to an improvement of external 
and fiscal solvency. this time, latin America was much more resilient to 
withstand a global crisis stemming from the developed world, and avoided 
another episode of fiscal and exchange rate crisis, as the ones in the past.

external sector

the volume and value of sales in international markets picked up with 
the increase of global demand. exports growth, however, did not lead to a 
pari pasu improvement of the trade balance, since imports hiked at a faster 
pace with the recovery of domestic demand. Commodity exporters in 
South America gained from better terms of trade, hydrocarbon and grain 
exporters. larger remittances flows helped finance current account deficit 
in Central American economies. the larger exposure of Central American 
exports to the uS economic cycle was the key to their underperformance 
in trade compared to their South American peers. 

Direct investment continued flowing toward the region due to the 
positive business outlook, especially in energy. the share of portfolio 
capital flows toward the region increased as a result of the abundance 
of international liquidity and interest rate differentials. higher capital 
inflows were in line with the widening gap between domestic savings 
and investment, following the rebound of domestic expenditure. the 
volatile nature of portfolio flows and the resulting currency apprecia-
tion has led to exchange market interventions by monetary authori-
ties, resulting in an accumulation of international reserves. this trend 
is unlikely to be reversed as long as the fiscal stimulus and interest rate 
differentials persist. 
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fiscal accounts

Most countries in the region adopted counter-cyclical fiscal measures in 
response to the crisis. the scope of the policies varied according to the 
soundness of the fiscal position prior to the crisis and the savings generated 
during the period of buoyancy. Countries in which the fiscal improve-
ments were mainly associated with cyclical factors, or which did not save 
enough, had less scope for action. 

As may have been expected, the fiscal stimulus policies led to deterioration 
in fiscal balances in 2009. however, the fiscal outlook improved in 2010 
with up surging revenues, both from domestic and commodity exports 
sources. Facing strong tailwinds for recovery, some countries began with-
drawing fiscal stimuli. 

even though domestic and global dynamics improved fiscal accounts, some 
countries still have pending tax reforms to guarantee structural balance. 
this is the only path to achieve fiscal sustainability in the medium and 
long term. 

monetary and exchange rate policies

the recovery of latin American economies did not fuel inflationary pres-
sures. however, the speedy recovery is bringing the economies of the re-
gion closer to their potential growth levels, which has led some Central 
Banks to initiate a tightening interest rate cycle to prevent overheating and 
to keep inflationary expectations anchored. 

the difficulties faced by some countries to withdraw fiscal stimulus will 
probably lead to a policy mix where Central Banks will assume the pre-
dominant role in cooling down the economies. however, this implies 
important policy dilemmas for monetary authorities. higher interest 
rates encourage capital inflows, and currencies tend to appreciate. un-
til now, the Central Banks have managed the situation mainly through 
sterilized interventions. however, these are costly and their effectiveness 
in counteracting currency volatility is limited. Some Central Banks have 
chosen to establish capital controls and increase reserve requirements, 
among other measures. the latter have unleashed controversy regarding 
their effectiveness and the distortions they can generate. undoubtedly, 
the appreciation of currencies will continue to be one of the main policy 
problems confronted by the region in the short term. 

competitiveness and business environment

According to the latest global Competitiveness Report of the World 
economic Forum (WeF), latin America, on average, ranked 82 in a 
sample of 139 countries. In 2010, the region maintained its average place 
in the ranking, where a number of factors determining countries’ com-
petitiveness are compared. the region still underperforms industrialized 
countries in infrastructure, coverage access and quality of education, 
market efficiency, innovation, and quality of its institutions. 
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the countries with the best performance during the year were Chile (30), 
panama (53), and puerto Rico (41). on the other hand, Bolivia (108), pan-
ama (53), and paraguay (120) showed the highest improvements in their 
competitiveness indexes compared to the previous year. Bolivia improved 
12 places in the report published by the WeF, while panama and paraguay 
managed to rise six and four places, respectively. 

other economies in the region exhibited slight improvements or main-
tained their position in the ranking. Such is the case of Brazil (58), Chile 
(30), Colombia (68), Costa Rica (56), puerto Rico (41), and uruguay (64). 
however, all these economies exceeded the world average ranking of 70 
in the 2010 report.

these positive results reflect the macro efforts made by the region in 
recent decades to reduce their exposure to external shocks, especially by 
improving macroeconomic fundamentals, strengthening the net external 
position, and fostering the development of local financial markets. these 
results were consistent with economic development policies aimed at 
diversifying exports and promoting policies aimed at fostering interna-
tional integration. 

Despite these improvements, according to the Doing Business 2010 report, 
published by the World Bank, latin America continues to be one of the 
developing regions where companies face the greatest difficulties to do 
business. the region, on average, is ranked 95 in a sample of 175 countries 
and faces substantial gaps with respect to other regions such as eastern eu-
rope and Central Asia (71), east Asia and the pacific (83), and the Middle 
east and northern Africa (92). 

Table 1. lAtin AMericA in the world econoMic foruM   

 2009-2010 2010-2011 

Pillars  Ranking out of 134 countries Ranking out of 139 countries Change

Global competitiveness index  82 82 0

Institutions 94 78 -16

Infrastructure 80 78 -2

Macroeconomy 77 78 1

Health and primary education 75 78 3

Higher education and training 78 78 0

Market efficiency 84 88 4

Technological readiness 75 76 1

Business sophistication 75 78 3

Innovation 89 90 1

Source: WEF.   



34

integrAtion And internAtionAl insertion

the volume of world trade grew continuously in 2010 boosted by the 
strong performance of emerging markets. export volumes in Brazil, China, 
and India reached their pre 2008 crisis peaks. In contrast, exports have not 
fully recovered in industrialized economies and remain 8% below their 
pre-crisis levels. 

the relative strength of emerging economies, prompted large inflows of 
capital toward latin America and the Caribbean. these inflows created 
an upward pressure on several latin American currencies during 2010. 
Macroeconomic policies attempting to prevent a further deterioration 
of competitiveness should be expected. Central Banks across the region 
have opted to accumulate international reserves and even some of them 
have adopted measures to curb capital inflows and thus limit the pace 
of currency appreciation, in order to maintain their competitiveness in 
international markets. 

Strong macroeconomic fundamentals supported the region’s attractiveness. 
By the end of 2010, capital flows to the region are expected to grow by 
at least 40%, after a drop in the aftermath of the international crisis. Brazil 
continues to be the largest recipient of international funds in the region, 
followed by Chile, Mexico, Colombia, and Argentina; while the united 
States has managed to maintain its position as the largest investor in the 
region. Just as in previous periods, the service sector captured the largest 
fraction of Foreign Direct Investment (FDI), while primary sectors (agri-
culture, mining, and hydrocarbons) fell compared with 2009. In addition, 
latin American companies continued to consolidate their position in in-
traregional investment flows. Chile became the main latin American in-
vestor abroad (uSD 7,983 million), followed by Mexico (uSD 7,598 mil-
lion), Colombia (uSD 3,025 million), and Venezuela (uSD 1,800 million). 
At the same time, the steel and automotive industries attracted significant 
investment flows to Argentina, Brazil, and Mexico during the year. 

It is also worth mentioning the growing presence of Asian FDI in the re-
gion, especially from China. overall, Asian FDI has become a particularly 
important source of funding for latin America in recent years, mainly 
investing in the energy and telecommunications sectors. 

Starting in the first quarter of 2009, trade continued on the expansionary 
path while experiencing a brief deceleration during the second semester 
of 2010. nonetheless, most of the economies of the region still rely heavily 
on commodity exports, increasing their vulnerability to external shocks. 
to overcome this weakness, authorities in several countries in the region 
have adopted measures to stimulate the productive sectors and to diver-
sify trade partners. latin America deepened its trade relationships with 
Asia increasing the volume of exports by 21% and imports by 33% dur-
ing 2010. It should be noted that the demand for products coming from 
China increased 55% with respect to the previous year, while exports to 
that country –mainly basic agricultural and mineral products– increased by 
58% during the same period. 
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Intraregional trade in 2010 also improved, particularly within regional 
commercial blocks, despite the difficulties observed in the relationship be-
tween Colombia and Venezuela during the first quarter. the increase was 
led mainly by the members of the Mercado Común del Sur (Mercosur), 
which grew at a rate of 9.3% during the year. Intra-community exports, 
within the Andean Community (CAn, in Spanish) reached uSD 5,639 
million between January and September of 2010, for a 2.2% reduction 
with respect to 2009 (uSD 5,767 million). During 2010, there was more 
dynamism between ecuador and peru, resulting in a 57.8% increase in 
bilateral trade. In addition, Colombia increased its exports to peru (49.1%) 
and ecuador (48.4%) contributing to the increase of intraregional exports. 
trade within the Central American Common Market (MCCA, in Span-
ish) also recovered during 2010, increasing by 11.5% with respect to the 
previous year. 

Table 2. fob intrAregionAl exports (in USD thousand)

  2009 2010* Change 

Intra CAN 5,767,429 5,639,510 -2.2%

Intra Mercosur 32,713,144 35,764,012 9.3%

*January-September 2010  |  Source: Central Banks, official sources.

the balance of this past year in the relationship between latin America 
and the Caribbean and the european union was highly positive, with the 
successful completion of the negotiations with the CACM and panama, 
with Colombia and peru, as well as the reopening of negotiations with 
Mercosur. however, the biggest challenge in the agenda is for the initia-
tives in each of the three pillars of the strategic association (trade and 
investment, political dialogue, and cooperation) to be focused on the four 
strategic areas of common interest: growth and better quality of trade and 
investment, infrastructure and competitiveness, climate change and alter-
native energies, and social cohesion.

through the latin American pacific Basin Initiative, known as the Arch 
Forum (Foro Arco), 11 countries of the region continued sharing close 
ties and interest in strengthening their trade and investment relations with 
Asia-pacific. Departing from the existing free trade agreements between 
latin American and some Asian and pacific countries, progress has been 
made in the harmonization of some trade policies and an agreement was 
reached on the identification of key projects in transportation, infrastruc-
ture and logistics with a high regional impact. there are also training pro-
grams in science and technology to bolster productive transformation and 
competitiveness, pillars of intra-regional cooperation, to take advantage of 
trade opportunities, investment, and innovation among countries of the 
region and Asia-pacific. 

During 2010, the latin American and Caribbean countries promoted an 
agenda to stimulate a number of mechanisms for regional integration, to 
promote consensus and strengthen the capacity to participate in dialogues 
related to issues on the international agenda. Strengthening of regional 
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political institutions was paramount.  there were also various negotiations 
with extra-regional partners and, simultaneously, the consolidation of a 
complementary integration agenda. In this context, there were noteworthy 
advances in the South American union of nations (unasur), the Bolivar-
ian Alternative for the Americas (AlBA), as well as in the reorientation of 
the agendas of the traditional integration schemes with Mercosur, CAn, 
and the MCCA. 

Based on the historical tradition of political agreement of the Rio 
group and the mandates of the latin American and Caribbean Summit 
(CAlC), an important step was taken in the Cumbre de la unidad Sum-
mit, which brought together 25 Chiefs of State and governments from 
latin America and the Caribbean with the purpose of reaching a greater 
convergence of the agendas of the different regional integration blocks. 
In pursuit of this common objective, the latin American and Caribbean 
states will promote interaction, coordination, and development in order 
to give the region a greater capacity for dialogue with other regions 
and in the multilateral fora where the issues on the global agenda are 
discussed.

During 2010, unasur became the premier instance for coordination and 
political dialogue to resolve political conflicts between member countries, 
as well as to effective humanitarian actions to attend the impacts of the 
earthquake in haiti. unasur was able to consolidate its position as the 
counterpart in the region’s political dialogue with Africa, Asia, and europe. 
At the same time, there were dialogues aimed at protecting the democratic 
systems of the region. the different South American Councils of Ministers 
created in the framework of unasur advanced in their search for coopera-
tion schemes to achieve joint goals on issues regarding energy integration, 
social policies, education, health, financial integration, and defense. In addi-
tion, agreements led to a South American energy Strategy and a Structure 
of the South American energy treaty.  the institutional scheme of unasur 
was also strengthened, reaffirming the commitment of its members.

the Bolivarian Alternative for the Americas (AlBA) advanced in the 
creation of the Single Regional Compensation System (Sucre, in Span-
ish) as a monetary unit of exchange. this cooperation scheme between 
its member countries succeeded in establishing a system that is compat-
ible with the financial and exchange policies of its members. 

likewise, the sub-regional integration schemes renewed their agendas to 
promote a number of areas for cooperation to advance beyond intrare-
gional trade. the CAn, establishing the strategic axis of Andean integra-
tion, aimed its agenda toward areas of mutual interest, including social, eth-
nic, cultural, educational and environmental issues, and trade facilitation. 

Despite the adverse effects of the crisis, Mercosur was able to advance in 
the definition of some issues related to the Customs union; in particular 
the definition of the remaining universe for the common external duty, 
the scheme regarding double taxation on intraregional trade, and the ap-
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proval of the common customs code. In addition, Mercosur advanced in 
its extra-regional negotiations agenda relaunching the negotiations of the 
economic Cooperation Agreement with the european union.

the MCCA was the integration scheme that showed the most progress in 
the framework of its trade integration process. In this sense, after complet-
ing the negotiation of the economic Complementation Agreement with 
the european union and implementing the Free trade Agreement with 
the united States, the Central American countries advanced significantly 
in consolidating their customs union and incorporating panama to the 
scheme.

other bilateral negotiation efforts were also in the agenda of the countries 
whose international insertion policies have favored free trade agreements 
with extra-regional partners, including the ones subscribed by Costa Rica 
with China and Singapore, by Colombia and peru with Korea and the 
european union, and between peru and Japan. 

In a multilateral context, negotiations of the Doha Round in the frame-
work of the World trade organization are stagnant. At present, progress has 
been scarce in securing agreements that will safeguard the interests of the 
countries which favor greater development.
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40 years of record operations
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CAF’s 40th anniversary was one of the most relevant events of 2010. In a 
year of growth and expansion for the Institution, results evidenced the 
consolidation of 40 years of record operations, even under a particularly 
complex economic scenario. 

Approvals for the five-year period 2006-2010 totaled uSD 39,778 million 
(uSD 10,533 million during 2010) while loan portfolio reached uSD 13,878 
million at the end of the year. throughout its history, CAF has approved more 
than uSD 72,000 million in favor of projects and initiatives aimed at sustain-
able development and regional integration, while supporting the volume and 
quality of its operations with management policies aligned with the various 
national realities. In addition, it has strengthened its capital base in recent years, 
and continues to enjoy support from its shareholders.

In its expansion process, the Institution became an important latin Ameri-
can development bank, which currently has 18 shareholder countries, and 
provides multiple services to a wide variety of clients from public, private, 
and mixed entities of the region. In recent years, CAF positioned itself 
as the main source of multilateral financing for its founding countries, 
and as the main source of multilateral financing for infrastructure in latin 
America. At year-end 2010, 92.2% of approvals were allocated among its 
ten full-member countries.

During four decades CAF has acquired a profound knowledge of regions 
and sectors while playing an anti-cyclical and catalytic role. this has re-
sulted in added value to the projects it finances from a comprehensive 
view of the development process. over the past twenty years, the Institu-
tion significantly diversified its financing toward areas of strategic interest, 
such as infrastructure, social development, and the environment, as well as 
towards productive sectors, both directly and through the financial systems 
of the countries of the region. At present, more than 60% of approvals are 
directed at infrastructure and social development projects.

In 2010 CAF supported shareholder countries during the crisis. the Insti-
tution increased disbursements to over uSD 1,500 million granting credit 
lines to finance several programs. In addition, it increased financing for 
foreign trade and working capital as well as to improve the debt profile 
and financial conditions of the governments of its shareholder countries. 
of the total approvals in 2010, close to uSD 4,000 million were allocated 
through credit lines renewals granted to companies and banks in order to 
strengthen the productive sectors in the region.

 opeRAtIonS
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likewise, cooperation funds managed by CAF, mostly of a non-reimburs-
able nature, aimed at consolidating collaboration networks and supporting 
key initiatives in activities related to pre-investment studies, microfinance, 
competitiveness, democratic governance, comprehensive community de-
velopment, sports and music, heritage rescue, and sustainable development 
in its broadest sense. During 2010, approvals directed towards these strate-
gic programs totaled uSD 46 million.

ApprovAls

During 2010, CAF approved operations for uSD 10,533 million, a record 
figure that represented an increase of over 15% with respect to the previ-
ous year, and consolidated the growing trend of financial support to share-
holder countries within a context of economic recession.

Table 1.  ApprovAls by product   
(in USD million)   
   2010
Medium- and long-term loans  6,024
Sovereign  5,076
Investment programs and projects  4,001
Programatic and SWAPS  1,075
Non-sovereign  948
Credit lines (banks and enterprises) 3,636
Partial credit guarantees  115
Contingent credit lines  620
Equity investments  93
Cooperation funds  46
Total  10,533

of the total approved, over uSD 4,000 million were allocated to invest-
ment programs and projects through medium and long-term loans, and 
over uSD 1,000 million were approved through a comprehensive loan 
program. In addition, over uSD 3,600 million were directed at strength-
ening companies and banks in shareholder countries through credit lines 
in favor of the productive sectors, and uSD 872 million were distributed 
among partial credit guarantees, equity investments, contingent credit lines, 
and cooperation funds. 

approvals by country

CAF’s growing presence in latin America translates into increased opera-
tions in most countries. It is worth noting the uSD 4,020 million (38% of 
the year’s total) approved in favor of Argentina, Brazil, panama, and uru-
guay, countries that have become Series A shareholders. When added to the 
approvals of founding countries, the amount rises to uSD 9,668 million 
and represents 92% of the total. 

In turn, resources allocated in favor of Argentina, Brazil, and Venezuela, 
represented increases of 148%, 118%, and 161%, respectively, when com-
pared to the amounts approved in 2009. 

20
06

20
07

20
08

20
09

20
10

Graph 1.  

ApprovAls

(in USD million)

5,
52

1

6,
60

7

7,
94

6

9,
17

1

10
,5

33



42

In addition, approvals to Brazil, Colombia, and peru reached uSD 1,100 
million, uSD 815 million, and uSD 565 million, respectively. Resourc-
es were directed to the productive sectors through the financial system 
through short- and medium-term lines of credit.

Table 2. ApprovAls by country1

(in USD million)

 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2006-2010

Argentina 580 204 411 649 1,607 3,450

Bolivia 397 275 560 511 426 2,169

Brazil 579 1,518 1,798 907 1,980 6,782

Colombia 1,001 1,213 1,483 2,050 992 6,739

Costa Rica 25 128 120 10 10 294

Ecuador 1,024 1,089 604 873 901 4,490

Mexico 10 - 10 65 35 121

Panama 53 - 635 232 312 1,232

Paraguay 3 - 6 107 36 151

Peru 941 1,180 1.458 2,287 1,693 7,560

dominican Republic - - 75 129 0 205

Uruguay 20 115 601 590 120 1,447

Venezuela 842 816 72 627 1,638 3,994

Other countries 46 69 114 133 783 1,145

Total 5,521 6,607 7,946 9,171 10,532 39,778

1. Includes programs and investment projects, comprehensive program loans, credit lines to banks and companies, partial credit guarantees, equity 
investments, contingent credit lines, and cooperation funds. 

In addition, approvals to other shareholder countries reached uSD 864 
million, representing an increase of 94% with respect to the amount regis-
tered in 2009. In particular, CAF provided extraordinary support to Chile 
and haiti to attend the emergencies derived from natural disasters. 

approvals by strategic area

CAF approved uSD 4,787 million for the infrastructure sector -especially 
in the energy and road areas- in line with the priorities established by 
shareholder countries in their agendas for development. these approvals 
represented 45.5% of the total, of which 34.9% was directed to support 
economic infrastructure projects, and the remaining 10.5% was aimed at 
financing integration infrastructure projects among countries. 

projects approved during the year include: the repowering of embalse‘s 
nuclear plant, the high tension electric line of 500 KV between pico 
truncado and Rio gallegos, the comprehensive reactivation of the Bel-
grano-Cargas Railroad, and phase II of the geostationary telecommuni-
cation satellite (ARSAt), in Argentina; the complementary road works 
program and the transportation program, in Bolivia; the municipal trans-
portation program of goiainia, and the fiscal sustainability program of 
the Contagem municipality, in Brazil; the works for transmilenio mass 
transport system for the troncal phase II and III in Bogota, Colombia; 
the road development program in los Chillos Valley-provincial council 
of pichincha, in ecuador; the program to execute the remaining works of 
tranches 2, 3, and 4 of the road interconnection between peru and Bra-
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zil, which are a part of the III Southern Interoceanic axis of the IIRSA 
initiative, in peru; and the program to strengthen the national electric 
system and the third financing for the hydroelectric plant, Manuel piar 
in the lower Caroni, in Venezuela. 

these initiatives seek to create a platform that will enable the economic 
growth needed to improve the quality of life of the population by promot-
ing favorable competitiveness and sustainability conditions in the region. 

In addition, CAF financed social and environmental development initia-
tives granting resources for the implementation of projects in the areas of 
basic services, building human and social capital, and preserving the envi-
ronment. Approvals to these areas of strategic interest reached uSD 1,763 
million, and represented 16.7% of the total approved during the year.

Resources were assigned to operations such as the Water and Irriga-
tion program, in Bolivia; the non-committed financing facility for the 
comprehensive care of the earthquake emergency, in Chile; the environ-
mental sanitation program for community development (promadec II, 
in Spanish) and the program to support public investment in the social 
sector (pAISSe, in Spanish), in ecuador; the non-committed financing 
facility for solidarity support, in haiti; the sanitation program of the city 
and bay of panama, and the investment program for the potable water 
and sanitation sector of the province of panama; the potable water and 
sewage improvement program in marginal waters of lima, and phase II 
of the Majes-Siguas project, in peru; and the Simon Bolivar Social Inclu-
sion through Music Complex, in Venezuela.

In addition, CAF allocated uSD 3,785 million to the productive sectors, 
both directly and through the financial systems of the countries of the re-
gion, equivalent to 36% of total approvals during the year. Resources were 
channeled through short- and medium-term credit lines while financing 
the development banks in the region with and without sovereign guarantee.

Resources granted aim at promoting competitiveness, strengthening pub-
lic and private companies in the region, and supporting SMe and micro-
financing entities that benefit entrepreneurial sectors with limited access 
to financial services.

34.9% economic infrastructure

10.5%  integration infrastructure

Structural reforms 1.5%

cooperation funds 0.4%

35.9% 
Productive sectors, services, 

and international trade

 

Social and environmental development 16.7%

infrastructure  
45.4%

Graph 2. ApprovAls by strAtegic AreA   
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In the area of structural reforms, CAF renewed the non-committed con-
tingent line of credit in favor of uruguay; approved an operation to sup-
port the institutional strengthening of the undersecretary’s office for 
territorial planning of public investment (SSptIp, in Spanish) attached 
to the Ministry of Federal planning, public Investment, and Services of 
the nation, in Argentina; as well as an operation to support the fiscal 
sustainability of the municipality of Contagem in Brazil. Approvals to 
this sector totaled uSD 153 million at year-end 2010, and represented 
1.5% of the total. 

approvals by term

long-term loans –those with maturities of five years or longer– concen-
trated 65% of the year’s approvals. thus, CAF supported financing seg-
ments not serviced by other sources and participated, through public and 
private initiatives, in high-impact projects for the sustainable development 
of the countries. 

At the same time, short-term operations concentrated 33% of approvals. 
Resources from this operational line were aimed at financing foreign trade 
and working capital operations through financial systems for the develop-
ment of the productive sector. 

Table 3. ApprovAls by terM

(in USD million)     
 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2006-2010

Long-term 4,360 3,618 3,186 5,394 6,831 23,390

Medium-term 952 46 38 269 268 1,573

Short-term 209 2,943 4,722 3,507 3,435 14,815

Total 5,521 6,607 7,946 9,171 10,533 39,778

approval by type of risk

During 2010, CAF’s approvals to the sovereign sector reached uSD 5,796 
million, that is, an increase of 4% with respect to the amount registered the 
previous year. 

likewise, approvals to the non-sovereign sector represented 45% of the 
total (uSD 4,737 million) and were mainly channeled towards the produc-
tive sectors which demanded short- and medium-term resources, through 
the financial sector. the Institution also provided direct financing to com-
panies for working capital, foreign trade, and investment operations mainly 
to increase the productive capacity of public and private enterprises.

Table 4. ApprovAls by type of risk

(in USD million)     
 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2006-2010

Sovereign 3,791 2,984 3,343 5,590 5,796 21,505

Non-sovereign 1,730 3,622 4,603 3,580 4,737 18,272

Total 5,521 6,607 7,946 9,171 10,533 39,778
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disburseMents

At year-end 2010, CAF’s disbursements reached uSD 7,694 million. Forty 
percent of the year’s disbursements were allocated to investment programs 
and projects in infrastructure, social and environmental development, 
among other priority sectors in CAF’s Agenda for Comprehensive De-
velopment. thus, the Institution seeks to improve competitiveness in the 
productive sectors, and support the least favored segments of the popula-
tion, particularly providing access to basic services. 

Table 5. disburseMents by product

(in USD million)   
   2010
Medium- and long-term loans 3,005
Sovereign 2,616
Investment programs and projects 1,456
Programatic and SWAPS 1,160
Non-sovereign 389
Credit lines (banks and enterprises) 4,590
Contingent credit lines 49
Equity investments 23
Cooperation funds 26
Total 7,694

Close to 53% of total disbursements (uSD 4,057 million) had short-term 
maturity, without a significant impact in the portfolio increase at the end 
of 2010. Brazil, Colombia, and peru concentrated almost 91% of disburse-
ments during the year. 

Table 6. disburseMents by country2     
(in USD million)    
 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2006-2010

Argentina 64 333 294 492 283 1,466

Bolivia 175 197 444 216 253 1,285

Brazil 132 879 951 1,022 1,226 4,209

Colombia 653 968 892 927 1,601 5,042

Costa Rica 19 8 86 24 0 137

Ecuador 504 1,416 444 290 721 3,375

Panama 23 38 16 6 23 106

Paraguay 1 8 8 4 51 71

Peru 483 1,730 1,531 650 2,494 6,889

dominican Republic  - - 55 20 45 120

Uruguay 11 62 170 377 95 715

Venezuela 845 127 260 412 685 2,328

Other countries 12 79 141 145 216 592

Total 2,923 5,844 5,292 4,584 7,694 26,336

2. Includes investment programs and projects, comprehensive program loans, credit lines to companies and banks, contingent credit lines, equity investments, 
and cooperation funds. 
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portfolio

At the end of 2010, CAF’s portfolio reached uSD 13,878 million, a 17.9% 
increase with respect to the amount registered in 2009. For the eighth 
consecutive year, the portfolio growth reached a new record for the Insti-
tution. 

portfolio by country

the portfolio increase in 2010 evidenced the economic dynamism expe-
rienced by latin American countries, and CAF’s response to the growing 
demand for resources by the economies of the region. 

portfolio by economic sector

the contribution to the construction of infrastructure and social develop-
ment in shareholder countries is one of CAF’s main strategic lines. to this 
respect, loans granted to the transportation, storage, and communications; 
and to the electricity, gas, and water sectors, reached uSD 8,460 million 
and represented 61% of the year’s portfolio. In addition, 11.5% of the social 
development portfolio was concentrated in the education, social services, 
and health sectors. 
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Table 7. portfolio by country

(in USD million)     
 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

Argentina 98 421 693 1,157 1,395

Bolivia 1,031 1,048 1,110 1,166 1,309

Brazil 323 807 825 1.034 1.116

Colombia 1,620 1,633 1,707 1,695 1,974

Costa Rica 25 22 107 126 121

Ecuador 1,371 2,150 2,018 2,052 2,437

Panama 38 63 72 76 90

Paraguay 41 39 37 28 66

Peru 1,806 1,809 1,774 1,869 2,186

dominican Republic - - 55 75 120

Uruguay 31 62 232 582 657

Venezuela 1,724 1,470 1,535 1,765 2,228

Other countries  84 98 94 148 181

Total 8,191 9,622 10,259 11,772 13,878

Table 8. portfolio by econoMic sector

(in USD million)    
 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

Agricultural infrastructure 142 113 88 78 40

Mining and quarries 60 70 70 43 66

Manufacturing industry 193 279 416 261 200

Electricity, gas, and water 985 1,079 2,004 2,968 4,095

Transportation, warehousing, and communications 3,190 3,103 3,201 3,660 4,365

Commercial banking 431 1,512 1,457 1,500 1,699

development institutions 312 249 210 225 345

Education, social and health services 1,671 1,945 1,740 1,698 1,599

Other activities 1,206 1,272 1.075 1,339 1,469

Total 8,191 9,622 10,259 11,772 13,878



47

In turn, the portfolio assigned to commercial banks and development 
financial institutions reached uSD 2,044 million, and represented 14.7% 
of the total. Increases in this portfolio reflect CAF’s interest in support-
ing the productive sector through the financial systems, as a fundamental 
mechanism for the development of the countries in the region. 

Additionally, 12.8% of the portfolio (uSD 1,774 million), was assigned to 
other activities aligned with CAF’s corporate strategy. It is worth mention-
ing the uSD 1,468 million aimed at implementing reforms and seeking 
macroeconomic stability in shareholder countries.

cAf’s support to the productive sectors of 
the region

During the year, CAF continued supporting the financial 
systems of shareholder countries as a means of strengthening 
their productive sectors. to this end, the Institution provided 
both the public and private sectors with significant resour-
ces to ensure foreign trade flows and mitigate the negative 
impact of scarce international funds, therefore increasing the 
flow of funds under favorable conditions to the productive 
sectors of the countries. CAF’s enabled foreign trade opera-
tions, granted medium- and short-term loans to finance pro-
jects in the productive sector, as well as subordinated loans to 
support increases in banking activity, and capital investments 
in funds specialized in financial institutions. 

In 2010, the Institution approved approximately nine 
structured transactions, some of them in Jamaica and Mexico, 
countries where these operations were placed for the first 
time. It is worth mentioning the number of operations 
directed to the energy sector: West Kingston power partners 
(WKpp) in Jamaica, euros SApI in Mexico, electron 
Investment S.A. (eISA) in panama, and the Chilca-Marcona-
Montalvo, and termochilca transmission line in peru; as well 
as the expansion and modernization program of the container 
terminal in the port of Santa Marta (SMItCo), the line of 
credit for regional multi-sector investments granted to the 
Spanish group Abengoa, and the Autonorte road concession, 
in Colombia. 

In addition, the agro-industrial sector, as well as the food, 
oil and gas, and energy sectors registered the largest activity 
during 2010. two syndicated A/B loans were granted to YpF 
in Argentina (uSD 250 million), and to eletrobrás in Brazil 
(uSD 500 million). 

innovAtive operAtions

 CAF enabled Instituto de la 
Función Registral of the State 
of Mexico the issue of a 20-
year local-currency commercial 
paper through a partial credit 
guarantee. With its first partial 
credit guarantee issued in 
Mexico, CAF strengthened its 
catalytic role and expanded 
investment alternatives in local 
markets, also promoting new 
sources of financing for the 
development of infrastructure.

During 2010, CAF also 
initiated activities with 
financial institutions in 
countries where it had no 
prior presence. thus, it opened 
new lines of credit for financial 
institutions in Argentina and 
paraguay for uSD 150 million, 
and participated in the middle 
banking segment in Brazil with 
the approval of new lines of 
credit for uSD 100 million. 
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portfolio by term

As in previous years, CAF allocated most of the loan portfolio to long-
term operations contributing to the creation of economic, integration, and 
social development infrastructure. At year-end 2010, the long-term loan 
portfolio reached uSD 11,883 million and represented 86% of the total. 
Adding the medium-term portfolio and capital investments, the portfolio 
amounts to uSD 12,678 million and represents 91.4% of the total. thus, 
the Institution contributes to the financing needs of the region which 
would not be easily satisfied through other financing sources.

In turn, the short-term portfolio reached uSD 1,199 million, and repre-
sented 8.6% of the total. 

Table 9. portfolio by terM

(in USD million)      
 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

Capital investments 93 74 75 85 95

Loans 8,097 9,548 10,184 11,687 13,783

 Long-term 7,456 7,868 8,472 10,101 11,882

 Medium-term 189 377 660 432 702

  Short-term 452 1,303 1,052 1,154 1,199

Total 8,191 9,622 10,259 11,772 13,878

portfolio by type of risk

one of CAF’s priorities is to satisfy the credit requirements of the sover-
eign sector as a way of supporting shareholder countries in financing pub-
lic investment projects. to this respect, the portfolio assigned to this sector 
reached uSD 10,518 million at year-end 2010, and represented 76% of the 
total. the amount reflects the cumulative efforts resulting from the Institu-
tion’s close relationship with shareholders and clients, which is periodically 
renewed through programming missions to identify the priorities of the 
countries’ development agendas. 

Table 10. portfolio by type of risk   
(in USD million)      
 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

Sovereign 7,072 7,249 7,543 8,782 10,518

Non-sovereign 1,118 2,373 2,716 2,990 3,360

Total 8,191 9,622 10,259 11,772 13,878

In turn, beneficiaries of non-sovereign risk loans concentrated 24% of the 
portfolio, reaffirming CAF’s commitment to supporting productive sector 
growth that translates into improvements in of the levels of competitiveness. 
It is worth mentioning the loans granted to public enterprises and 
sub-national governments, without sovereign guarantee, that reflect the 
increasing financial and managerial strength of some of these governments 
in an effort to enhance decentralization, and improve the quality of sub-
national public administration.
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cooperAtion funds

In addition to the financial support offered for credit operations, CAF 
continued supporting sustainable development and regional integration 
through technical assistance and strategic programs, financed mainly 
with non-reimbursable resources from both the Institution’s net earn-
ings and funds. 

the allocation of cooperation funds is an important tool that is used to 
support countries in order to: i) ensure the quality of investment projects; 
ii) create capacities and conditions for self-sustainability in the commu-
nities: iii) favour the competitiveness of productive chains; iv) contribute 
to the preservation of the environment; and v) raise the social capital and 
improve the managerial capacity of the MSMe’s.

Table 11. MAin cooperAtion funds MAnAged by cAf
(in USD million) 
     2010

Technical Assistance Fund (FAT) 13.8 

Human development Fund (Fondeshu) 11.8 

Fund for the Promotion of Sustainable Infrastructure Projects (Proinfra)  1.8

Bolivia Special Fund (FEB)* 1.8

Ecuador Special Fund (FEE)  2.8

Cross-Border Cooperation and Integration Fund (COPIF) 0.6

Other funds** 3.3

Total 45.9
* Includes funds assigned to the Highly Indebted Poor Countries Program (HIPC).

**Includes the Spanish Technical Cooperation Fund and the Andean Energy Conservation Fund (FACE). 

During 2010, through the technical Assistance Fund (FAt) and the hu-
man Development Fund (Fondeshu), CAF supported a number of stra-
tegic programs that complement its business operations. the programs 
address themes such as: competitiveness, integration infrastructure, social 
development, governance, environmental development, humanitarian sup-
port, and culture. 

CAF integrates common requirements through regional programs in the 
areas of competitiveness, research, macroeconomic analysis, microfinance, 
strengthening of financial markets, regional policies, ports and logistics, and 
international insertion. 

Sustainable development and regional integration are the pillars of the 
Institution’s mission. In this context, it is worth mentioning CAF’s par-
ticipation in the Initiative for the Integration of the South American 
Regional Infrastructure (IIRSA), and in the program for Infrastructure 
Development. 

Regarding governance, the governance and political Management pro-
gram, as well as the leadership for Change program, and the Regional 
updating and Improvement of local Management program (pRAMeg) 

Graph 5. 
sources of the MAin 
cooperAtion funds
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MAin cooperAtion funds

technicAl AssistAnce fund (fAt)
Concentrates most of the special sources of financing. Its mission is to support projects and programs in sha-
reholder countries. 
2010 approvals: uSD 13.8 million.

huMAn developMent fund (fondeshu)
provides financial support for the implementation of high impact, innovative, and productive community 
projects aimed at the most vulnerable social sectors. 
2010 approvals: uSD 11.8 million.

fund for the proMotion of sustAinAble infrAstructure projects (proinfrA)
Allocates resources for diagnostic studies of sector issues, appropriate technological options, and pre-investment 
studies for integration infrastructure projects, previously authorized by the countries. Resources are assigned 
to projects that promote regional integration infrastructure, including innovative financing mechanisms. 
2010 approvals: uSD 11.8 million

speciAl funds for boliviA (feb) And speciAl funds for ecuAdor (fee)
Finance the technical assistance and the economic priorities of these countries. Created in 1998, both funds 
are included in CAF’s establishment Agreement. 
2010 approvals: FeB uSD 1.8 million, Fee uSD 2.8 million

spAnish technicAl cooperAtion fund (fect), cAnAdiAn Agency fund (Acdi), And itAliAn generAl 
cooperAtion fund (fgci)

Represent financing sources for the region’s development through Canadian, Spanish, and Italian consulting 
firms. the Spanish Ministry of economics manages the operations of the Spanish contribution. the Canadian 
Agency for International Development (ACDI) operates from the Canadian embassies in each one of the 
petitioner countries, and the Ministry of Foreign Relations of the Republic of Italy is the entity responsible 
for granting the final no-objection of operations financed with FgCI resources. 
2010 approvals: uSD 3.1 million

AndeAn energy conservAtion fund (fAce)
provides resources for consulting and training in the area of energy source conservation in Andean countries. 
Resources from this fund were fully utilized in 2010.
2010 approval: uSD 90,000

gerMAn fund or kreditAnstAlt fur wiederAufbAu (kfw)
Allocates resources for consulting on integration projects in the least favored regions of CAF’s shareholder 
countries. Resources from this fund were fully utilized in 2010.
2010 approvals: uSD 10,000

cross-border cooperAtion And integrAtion fund (copif)
Supports the timely identification, preparation, and execution of high-impact projects that promote sustaina-
ble development in the border regions of shareholder countries. Contributes to strengthening cooperation, 
dialogue, mutual trust, and cross-border integration both at a bilateral and multilateral level.
2010 approvals: uSD 0,6 million
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are especially relevant to the public and private sectors, and to the civil so-
ciety since they generate knowledge and provide modern and useful tools. 

Regarding social and environmental development, CAF seeks to cover the 
needs of the least favored populations through programs and initiatives 
such as the Social Inclusion through Music, improving the quality of life in 
informal settlements, elementary education, educational excellence, biodi-
versity, information systems to monitor protected areas, and green school 
models, among others. 

During the year, the Institution allocated additional resources for hu-
manitarian help through FAt and Fondeshu, as well as to address and 
mitigate the impact of the natural disasters that affected Bolivia, Brazil, 
Chile, and haiti. 

Approvals of activities financed with third-party funds managed by CAF 
reached uSD 1.9 million. Resources were mainly aimed at financing con-
sultancies undertaken by companies of donor countries. 

speciAl funds

CAF supports projects and initiatives through other funds of a different 
nature than the cooperation funds, such as: the entrepreneurial Invest-
ment and Development Fund (FIDe), the Compensatory Financing Fund 
(FFC), and the latin American Carbon, Clean and Alternative energies 
program (plAC+e).

the FIDe supports the strengthening of the capital base of small- and 
medium-sized enterprises through capital, quasi-capital, and credit opera-
tions. Activities are implemented through alliances with venture capital 
funds, banks, large industries, and guarantee funds which, in turn, make 
capital investments in the Small and Medium-Sized enterprises (SMes) of 
the region. 

In 2010, CAF allocated uSD 6 million through FIDe, to facilitate access 
to financing, constitute guarantee funds, refinance credit portfolios, par-
ticipate in co-financing schemes, and establish innovative risk instruments 
with financial institutions in several countries. 

In addition, the Institution continues supporting industry development 
at a regional level promoting the development and strengthening of the 
venture capital industry through the latin American Venture Capital As-
sociation (lAVCA).

In turn, the FFC promotes the implementation of projects aimed at reduc-
ing regional asymmetries, helping excluded populations, and promoting 
the integration of the regional infrastructure. through this fund, CAF al-
located resources to reduce the financial costs of projects that meet certain 
eligibility criteria, without affecting the Institution’s profitability.

Graph 6. 
utilizAtion of the MAin 
cooperAtion funds
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During 2010, 16% of the total amount approved was eligible for the FFC 
subsidy. this is the case of projects such as the Road and Complemen-
tary Works program, the Southern Integration highways project, the 
Water and Irrigation program (pRoAR), and the transportation Sector 
program, in Bolivia; the Road Development program in the Valle de los 
Chillos-provincial Council of pichincha, and the environmental Sanita-
tion program for Community Development (promadec II, in Spanish), in 
ecuador; the Sanitation program of the City and Bay of panama, and the 
Investment program for the potable Water and Sanitation Sector, in pana-
ma; the program to implement the remaining works of tranches 2, 3, and 4 
of the Road Interconnection between peru and Brazil that are part of the 
Southern Inter-oceanic III axis of the IIRSA Initiative, and the project to 
Improve potable Water and Sewage, in peru; and the Simon Bolivar Social 
Inclusion through Music Complex, in Venezuela. At year-end, 25% of the 
portfolio had benefitted from this fund, which contributed uSD 15 mil-
lion in subsidies for interest payments. 

likewise, the plAC+e is a self-sustainable initiative that supports and strength-
ens national institutions and mechanisms to stimulate the use of different 
greenhouse gases (ghg) markets, by identifying, developing, and financing 
projects related to clean and alternative energies, as well as energy efficiency 
in latin America. 

During 2010, the plAC+e signed a purchase-sale contract for uSD 3.2 mil-
lion of emission reductions with the Colombian company pizano, S.A. to 
develop a reforestation project of 2,000 hectares in the Bajo Atrato in the 
northern area of the Chocó. At present, the plAC+e manages and develops 
32 ghg emission reduction operations in latin America in sectors such as 
sustainable transportation, renewable energies, energy efficiency and refores-
tation, and capture and use of biogas, among others. the project portfolio is 
equivalent to 6.8 million tons of ghg not issued into the atmosphere, and 
represents a business of more than uSD 88 million. this is done through the 
carbon funds managed by CAF, such as the CAF-netherlands CDM Facility 
(CnCF) with the government of holland and the Ibero-American Carbon 
Initiative (IIC) with the government of Spain, in addition to other purchase-
sale operations on the Institution’s own account. 

During 2010, CAF started the Special Financing program for Clean en-
ergy projects (pRopel). Some of the program’s achievements include: i) 
the prior approval of more than 10 potential projects for approximately 
uSD 50 million; ii) the signing of three letters of intent, and the initiation 
of the credit procedures for clean energy projects developed in ecuador, 
paraguay, and peru; iii) the development of a section in CAF’s extranet 
dedicated to the promotion of the program; and iv) the consolidation of 
commercial relations with a number of international credit institutions 
interested in the development of clean energy projects in latin America.
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In USD million  2010 2006-2010

Approvals  1,607   3,450 

   Sovereign risk  1,252   2,894 

   Non-sovereign risk  355   556 

Disbursements  283   1,466 

   Sovereign risk 195   1,330 

   Non-sovereign risk  88   136 

  

In USD million   2010

Loan portfolio   1,395 

   Sovereign risk   1,246 

   Non-sovereign risk   149 
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During 2010, CAF approved uSD 1,607 million to Argentina, of which 
77.9% (uSD 1,252 million) corresponded to sovereign risk operations, 
and 22.1% (uSD 355 million) to non-sovereign risk operations.

the total amount approved includes uSD 187.5 million of tranch B of 
the loan granted to YpF, S.A., and uSD 100 million assigned by means of 
credit lines through Banco BICe to Molinos Río de la plata and Vicentín.

Worth mentioning are operations that favor projects to address the needs 
of the electricity sector through the pico truncado-Rio turbio-Rio gal-
legos Interconnection project for power transmission (uSD 500 million), 
and the project to extend the useful life of embalse’s nuclear plant 
(uSD 240 million).

likewise, a significant portion of the resources was allocated to the imple-
mentation of economic and integration infrastructure projects, specifically in the 
transportation sector. CAF provided financial support for the rehabilita-
tion and improvement of the Belgrano Cargas railway corridor (uSD 326 
million), and for the regional roadway program (uSD 140 million). In ad-
dition, the Institution supported the Argentinean government in the new 
design of the satellite policy, granting uSD 36 million in favor of empresa 
Argentina de Inversiones Satelitales (ARSAt) to start phase II of the de-
tailed engineering project of the geostationary Argentinean telecommu-
nications satellite.

CAF also continued supporting the productive sector providing short-, medi-
um-, and long-term credit lines to Banco de Inversión y Comercio exteri-
or (BICe). Resources will be allocated to the expansion of plants, purchase 
of fixed assets, working capital, and foreign trade operations conducted by 
corporate enterprises and SMes.

In the corporate private sector, CAF approved an A/B loan for uSD 250 
million in favor of  YpF S.A., Argentina’s main oil and gas company and 
second largest exporter. Resources will partially finance the company’s 
investment program that comprises oil and natural gas drilling and produc-
tion, refining, marketing, petrochemical products, and biofuels. ApprovAls by strAtegic 

AreA 2010

integration 
infrastructure 35.2%

macroeconomic stability 
and structural reforms 0.5%

Governance 
and social capital 0.1%

Productive sectors, 
services, and international 

trade 6.5%

economic 
infrastructure 57.7%

ApprovAls And disburseMents by product 2010
(in USD million)
 Approvals Disbursements
Medium- and short-term loans 1,500 232
Sovereign  1,250 194
Investment programs and projects 1,250 194
Non-sovereign  250 38
Lines of credit (enterprises and banks) 105 50
Cooperation funds 1.8 1.1
Total 1,606.8 283.1
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Client/Executing agency 
Republic of Argentina, through the Ministry 
of Federal Planning, Public Investment and 
Services, through Empresa Nucleoeléctrica 
Argentina (NA-SA)

Republic of Argentina, through the Ministry 
of Federal Planning, Public Investment 
and Services, and Empresa Argentina de 
Inversiones Satelitales, S.A.

Republic of Argentina, through the Ministry 
of Federal Planning, Public Investment 
and Services, and the Coordination Unit 
for Programs and Projects, with External 
Financing.

Republic of Argentina, through the Energy 
Secretariat (SE), through the Management 
Committee of the Trustee Fund for Federal 
Electric Transportation (CAFFTEF)

Republic of Argentina, through the 
Railroad Infrastructure Management State 
Company (AdIF) 

yPF, S.A.

Republic of Argentina, through the 
Undersecretary’s Office for Public 
Investment Territorial Planning (SSPTIP), 
Ministry of Federal Planning, Public 
Investment and Services of the Nation.
Molinos Río de la Plata, Vicentín S.A.I.C.

Banco BICE

CGM Leasing Argentina

Various beneficiaries

Total

Operation
Program to extend the useful life of 
Embalse’s Nuclear Plant 

Phase II of the detailed engineering 
project for the geostationary 
argentinean satellite 

Regional roadway development 
program 

Pico Truncado-Río Turbio-Río 
Gallegos-Calafate, extra high tension 
line of 500 Kv

Program to rehabilitate the railway 
tracks of the General Belgrano Cargas 
railroad 

Partial financing of the 2010-2011 
investment plan

Program for the institutional 
strengthening of the Undersecretary’s 
Office for territorial planning of public 
investment 

Short-term co-financing program 
for corporate clients of the agro-
industrial sector
Financing for trade, working capital, 
and investment projects
Acquisition of fiduciary debt of 
financial trust fund 
Other operations with cooperation 
resources

Objective
Replace components and equipment at Embalse’s 
Nuclear Plant to extend its operation by 25 years, 
guaranteeing the continuity of the plant’s electricity 
supply to the Argentinean interconnection system, as 
done since the plant started operating in 1984.

Support the construction and placement in orbit 
of the ARSAT I geostationary telecommunications 
satellite and two other satellites (ARSAT II and 
ARSAT III), and achieve the permanence of the two 
Argentinean orbital positions, taking the necessary 
steps to obtain new orbital positions and the 
associated frequency bands.
Finance the increase and optimization of traffic in the 
provincial road networks to generate the productive 
integration of the different regions, thus contributing 
to a sustainable economic recovery in the country’s 
Northern provinces.

Address the increasing needs for electric 
transmission foreseen in the Transportation Plan in 
500/220/132 kV to provide continuity, security, and 
reliability to the system, and enable the connection 
between the Patagonian Interconnected System (SIP) 
and the Argentinean Interconnection System (SAdI).
Finance the rehabilitation of Argentina’s most 
extensive railway network, to improve the connectivity 
of the Embarcacion-Avia Terai-Barranqueras-Rosario 
corridor.
Partially finance the investment program of yPF, the 
Argentinean oil and gas company, to support the 
diversification of its sources of revenue and increase 
the levels of reserves.

Establish a State policy where decision-making 
processes associated to investments in infrastructure 
and territorial management are based on regional 
planning and organization.

Finance pre-exports.

Finance investment and foreign trade operation 
projects and working capital.
Finance leasing operations for Argentinean SMEs.

Various

   
 Amount  Term (years)

 240 18

 36 12

 140 15

 500 15

 326 15

  
 250  Tranch A:

5.5 
Tranch B:

   4

 8 12

 50 Various

 50 Various

 5 3

 1.8 Various

  1,606.8  

ApprovAls to ArgentinA 2010 (in millions of USd)
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infrAstructure

 project to strengthen the 
institutional port sector of 
the Buenos Aires province, 
involving human resources 
and information systems, 
and generate capacities to 
improve the performance 
of the under Secretariat 
for port activities in the 
coordination and control 
of the ports in the system. 
the project includes a 
training program, drafting 
a document on provincial 
port policy, and the 
development of planning 
tools and master plans for 
the ports of la plata and 
San nicolás.
 First phase of a Mobility 

and transportation plan 
to establish a permanent 
planning process. 
the consultancy will 
determine the main 
components of a Mobility 
and transportation plan 
for Comodoro Rivadavia.
 Master plan for the 

integration of the 
Argentina-uruguay border 
region, leading to the 
development of a strategic 
consensus and proposals 
for public policies.

sociAl developMent

 Sponsored the II latin 
American Sanitation 
Symposium in Buenos 
Aires, whereby progress 
was made to create the 
latin American Water and 
Sanitation Association 
(AlAS). the object of the 
association is to become 
a forum for dialogue and 
debate and a development 
instrument where the 
operating entities dealing 
with potable water, sewage, 
and sanitation would 
converge.

During 2010, CAF 
approved close to 1.8 

uSD 1.8 million
 to Argentina in 

cooperation funds. 
Resources were 

channeled directly to 
beneficiaries or through 

the various special 
programs developed by 

the Institution.

other contributions to the sustAinAble 
developMent of ArgentinA
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coMpetitiveness

 Assisted the Córdoba 
Stock exchange 
to disseminate the 
Competitiveness Index of 
the Argentinean provinces, 
to provide information 
for the formulation of 
strategic plans at different 
government levels.
 provided resources to the 

civil association Vinos de 
Argentina to strengthen 
the international 
competitiveness of the 
country›s wine industry 
and promote associations 
between small- and 
medium-sized producers. 
the project seeks to help 
medium- and small-
sized wineries acquire 
knowledge of markets 
and the use of technology 
to increase their export 
capacity through 
associations or clusters.
 granted resources 

to the Metropolitan 
Design Center of the 
City of Buenos Aires to 
incorporate design and 
innovation as a part of the 
tools to improve SMes 
competitiveness. the 
initiative seeks to establish 
the size of the design 
market and its professional, 
industrial, commercial, and 
institutional profile.

privAte equity And 
venture cApitAl

 Supported the 
organization of the I 
Annual Conference on 
private equity and Venture 
Capital of Argentina, 
whose goal was to improve 
the business climate of 
the private equity and 
venture capital industry by 
promoting different areas 
for long-term investment 
in the country, and the 
search of a strategic 
integration of this industry 
with the capital markets.

internAtionAl 
cooperAtion

 Subscription of the 
Cooperation Framework 
Agreement between the 
International union of 
lawyers (uIA) and CAF, 
to strengthen the judicial 
systems of Ibero-American 
countries. 
 Signature of the 

Cooperation and 
Development Framework 
Agreement between the 
uIA, the Foundation for 
Research and prevention 
of Asset laundering, 
and the Solventia 
Foundation to promote 
the dissemination of 
knowledge through events, 
seminars, and international 
congresses.

sociAl 
sustAinAbility

 Supported to the 
Valdocco Foundation in 
the implementation of the 
project for the Children 
and Youth in haiti.
 Signed an agreement 

for the implementation of 
the Rural Connectivity 
project in the province of 
Salta to promote and use 
innovative school teaching 
instruments in 14 rural 
school of the province, 
through the dissemination 
and implementation of 
information technologies 
and Internet access. the 
governor’s office in Salta, 
one of the most important 
provinces of northern 
Argentina, manages the 
project that is part of an 
ambitious connectivity 
policy.
 Sponsored the national 

Youth Seminar of the 
Argentinean Children 
and Youth orchestra 
System (Soijar). the 
seminar brought together 
young musicians and 
students from children 
and youth orchestras 
of various Argentinean 
provinces, leading to a 
concert by the Youth 
Symphony orchestra of 
the Argentinean System. 
the orchestra is made up 
of Soijar students from 
different regions of the 
country.

governAnce

 the governance and 
policy Management 
program was delivered 
for third consecutive 
year at the university 
of San Andres and the 
national university of 
Rosario. the objective 
is to contribute to the 
development of capacities, 
and the design of reform 
processes with satisfactory 
levels of governance, with 
the participation of local 
authorities, technical teams 
from the national and 
sub-national levels, and 
individuals from the civil 
society.
 



Carrera La Paz 3,600, year 2010. 
Second edition Project Southern Integration Corridor

Tihuanaco’s Archaelogical Ruins
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IAIn USD million 2010 2006-2010

Approvals  426   2,169 

   Sovereign risk  367   1,612 

   Non-sovereign risk  59   557 

Disbursements  253   1,285 

   Sovereign risk  232   1,034 

   Non-sovereign risk  21   251 

  

In USD million   2010

Loan portfolio   1,309 

   Sovereign risk   1,169 

   Non-sovereign risk   140 
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During 2010, CAF approved uSD 426 million to Bolivia, of which 86% 
(uSD 367 million) corresponded to sovereign risk operations, and 14% 
(uSD 59 million) to non-sovereign risk operations.

especially noteworthy are the uSD 240.7 million approved for economic 
and integration infrastructure operations, which represented 57% of the to-
tal. CAF approved the financing of the Sector transportation program for 
uSD 150 million, to support the execution of important road projects for 
the country, that incorporate environmental mitigation measures, rehabili-
tation, and road stabilization.

the Institution also approved uSD 70 million for the Road and Comple-
mentary Works program, to execute and implement an important bridge 
program that will improve the connectivity of the country’s road network. 
CAF also approved uSD 20.7 million to complete the Southern Inte-
gration highways program that promotes the integration of Bolivia and 
Argentina. Resources will be directed at the construction and acquisition 
of asphaltic cement for the Santa Barbara-Cuchu Ingenio highway and the 
Bella Vista-Cotagaita tranche, located in the departments of Chuquisaca, 
potosi, and tarija.

In addition, 29.6% of total approvals were destined to the social and envi-
ronmental area. Worth mentioning is the approval of uSD 126 million to 
promote investments in water irrigation and sewage service projects. the 
projects will improve the productive capacity of more than 15,000 families 
in rural areas and will benefit close to one million inhabitants.

likewise, 12.5% of total approvals were directed to the productive and finan-
cial sectors, of which uSD 22 million were allocated through the micro-
financing sector by renewing lines of credit to finance trade operations, 
working capital, and investment projects; and uSD 31 million to the cor-
porate sector to support capital investments and foreign trade operations. 

ApprovAls And disburseMents by product 2010
(in USD million)
 Approvals Disbursements
Medium- and short-term loans 367 181
Sovereign  367 181
Investment programs and projects 367 181
Lines of credit (enterprises and banks) 53 21
Contingent credit lines - 49
Cooperation funds   6.3 2.4
Total   426.3 253.4
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Client/Executing agency 
Plurinational State of Bolivia, through the 
Bolivian Road Administrator (ABC)

Plurinational State of Bolivia, through the 
Bolivian Road Administrator (ABC))

Plurinational State of Bolivia, through the 
Ministry of development Planning, through 
the Bolivian Road Administrator (ABC)

Plurinational State of Bolivia, through the 
Ministry of development Planning, through 
the Ministry of the Environment and Water

Citibank, Banco Nacional de Bolivia, Banco 
Unión

Banco Solidario, Banco Los Andes, 
Procredit, Banco Fie S.A., and Ecofuturo 
Various beneficiaries

Total

Operation
Road and complementary works 
program, southern integration 
highways project 

Southern Integration corridor project

Sector transportation program

Water and irrigation program (PROAR)

Revolving uncommitted credit lines 
for loans; issuance, confirmation, 
and acceptance of letters of credit, 
vouchers, and guarantees
Revolving uncommitted credit lines

Other operations with cooperation 
resources

Objective
Support the completion of road projects and the 
execution of complementary works, and initiate 
a comprehensive bridge construction program 
to improve the connectivity of the country’s road 
network, particularly in the La Paz department.
Reactivate the construction of the Potosi-Tarija 
highway, which is a part of the Southern Integration 
Highways Project, whose objective is to improve the 
political, economic, and administrative integration 
between the highland areas, the valleys, and the 
eastern plains, and to facilitate trade with the 
Republic of Argentina 
develop a set of priority road projects to address the 
needs of the transportation sector, and facilitate the 
connectivity between the country’s productive areas 
and neighboring countries.
Guarantee the country’s food self-sufficiency through 
the execution of a number of priority irrigation 
projects and the execution of potable water programs 
to benefit 624,000 inhabitants  
Finance foreign trade operations, working capital, and 
investments in capital goods.

Finance working capital operations and investment 
projects in MSMEs.  
Various 

 Amount  Term (years)

 70 18

 20 12

 150 18

 126 18

 31 Various

 

 22 Various

 6.3 Various
 
 426.3

ApprovAls by strAtegic 
AreA 2010 

 
29.6% Social and environmental
development 

12.4% Productive sectors, 
services, and international trade
 

1.5% Governance 
and social capital 
56,5% integration 
infrastructure 

ApprovAls to boliviA 2010 (in millions of USd)
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infrAstructure

 hired consultancy 
services to undertake 
studies for the 
construction of the 
Invahuasi tunnel, located 
in the border region 
between Chuquisaca and 
Santa Cruz to integrate 
these two departments 
and the populations of 
Muyupampa and Ipati.
 Studies for the periodic 

maintenance works of 
the epizana-Comarapa 
highway.
 technical socio-

environmental studies of 
the guayaramerin-puente 
Rio Mamore highway and 
of the huanuni beltway 
in oruro, presenting 
investment alternatives 
to optimize construction 
conditions.

sociAl developMent

 humanitarian aid for the 
construction of temporary 
housing for the flood 
victims in the departments 
of el Beni and la paz.

sociAl 
sustAinAbility

 Supported workshop 
schools in Sucre and 
Chiquitania, whose 
purpose is to train youth 
in the trades necessary 
to restore the country’s 
cultural heritage.
 

Financed the project 
for the consolidation 
of productive chains 
between micro and small 
artisans and the market, 
through emprendimiento 
Walisuma.
 Approved financing 

for the preparation of 
the Comprehensive 
Improvement plan 
of the Burgos Marka 
Foundation, which will 
provide training in pastry 
preparation to the children 
who live in the center.
 organized the second 

Carrera la paz 3,600 
with the participation of 
more than 7,500 runners, 
promoting the city as a 
place where high-altitude 
sports may be practiced.

other contributions to the sustAinAble developMent of boliviA 

During 2010, CAF 
approved uSD 6.3 

million to Bolivia in 
cooperation funds. 

Resources were 
channeled directly to 

the beneficiaries or 
through the various 

special programs 
developed by the 

Institution.
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environMentAl 
developMent

 Approved financing for 
a project to increase the 
value of llama and Alpaca 
wool for the producers 
of the Municipality of 
Curahuara de Carangas 
as a continuation of a 
project for the recovery of 
marshlands.
 Supported the 

project to promote and 
Disseminate the Bolivian 
norm nB-ISo 14064, 
for clean development, 
and energy and 
environmental efficiency 
in the business sector. 
the initiative contributes 
to mitigate climate 
change by evaluating 
the carbon footprint and 
its neutralization, in an 
internal system of emission 
reductions.
 participated in the 

initiative Connecting our 
biodiversity, contributing 
to the sustainability of the 
Chaqueña ecoregion of 
the Bolivian Southeast, 
through the development 
of a risk management plan 
in a municipality.

governAnce

 trained 575 natural 
leaders in country vision 
and civic-democratic 
values, in the sixth 
version of the leadership 
for Change program. 
 the tenth version of 

the governance and 
policy Management 
program provided 
training to more than 
250 professionals related 
to local development, 
who prioritize a balance 
between the managerial 
dimension of politics, 
technical-financial, and 
social issues to promote 
viable changes and greater 
levels of democratic 
governance.
 Supported the II 

International tax 
Congress-Bolivia 2010, 
which strengthened 
knowledge in taxation by 
presenting international 
experiences and 
comparative legislation in 
an academic environment. 
the event included 
professionals from both the 
public and private sectors.

coMpetitiveness

 held business and 
export promotion 
events to strengthen 
business development, 
including: III International 
Business Roundtable of 
la paz; Cochabamba’s 
expoindustria 2010; III 
Bolivia Congress, gas & 
energy 2010; IV Contest 
of Innovative Ideas and 
technological Base 
InnoVA San Andres; and 
IV encounter of Sister 
Countries Bolivia-ecuador.
 Supported the project 

to strengthen community 
based rural tourism: 
mysteries of the titikaka 
circuit, whose main 
purpose is to generate 
complementary income 
and sustainable jobs by 
providing services in 
a self-managed tourist 
destination.
 Supported the third 

phase of the certification 
process ISo 2000, 
2005, and ISo 9001 
to consolidate a system 
of continuous quality 
improvement and to 
provide management tools 
to enterprises.
 prepared and 

disseminated the global 
entrepreneurship Monitor 
2010-2011, a platform for 
analysis of the situation of 
national entrepreneurial 
activity.

sMes 
And MicrofinAnce

 Incorporated corporate 
social responsibility and 
corporate governance 
into the management of 
the SMes. the project 
promotes a socially 
responsible culture as 
well as the strengthening 
of good corporate 
practices in 28 SMes of 
Cochabamba, la paz, and 
Santa Cruz through the 
induction, implementation, 
dissemination, and 
systematization of the 
methodology. 



A/B loan Centrais Eletricas Brasileiras 
(Eletrobrás) Viaduto do Coroado. Manaus

Amazon forest
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ILIn USD million 2010 2006-2010

Approvals  1,980   6,782 

   Sovereign risk  180   769 

   Non-sovereign risk  1,800   6,013 

Disbursements  1,226   4,209 

   Sovereign risk  71   300 

   Non-sovereign risk  1,155   3,909 

  

In USD million   2010

Loan portfolio   1,116 

   Sovereign risk   185 

   Non-sovereign risk   931
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During 2010, CAF approved uSD 1,980 million to Brazil, of which 90.9% 
(uSD 1,800 million) corresponded to non-sovereign risk operations, and 
9.1% (uSD 180 million) to sovereign risk operations.

It is worth mentioning that from total approvals, 34% (uSD 677 million) 
were channeled through medium- and long-term loans to finance inves-
tment programs and projects, and 66% through revolving credit lines gran-
ted to banks and enterprises.

the Institution allocated uSD 700 million directly to the corporate sector 
through an A/B loan for uSD 500 million to Centrais eletricas Brasileiras 
(eletrobrás, S.A.) to support the corporate investment program in the areas 
of generation, transmission, and distribution of energy to stimulate growth 
of the domestic market. Additionally, the Institution allocated uSD 200 
million through a line of credit to odebrecht, S.A. to issue partial credit 
guarantees and finance short-term working capital operations. With this 
facility, CAF plays a key role in meeting the need for new guarantors to 
continue the execution of relevant projects in the region, particularly in 
the infrastructure sector. 

In addition, the Institution provided revolving lines of credit for uSD 
1,100 million through the financial sector to finance investment projects, 
foreign trade operations, and working capital needs of the productive sector, 
providing a timely response to the country’s favorable economic growth.

likewise, CAF approved five operations to the sovereign sector, including: uSD 
50 million to the Municipal prefecture of Fortaleza for the development of a 
sustainable tourism program; uSD 45.1 million to partially finance the For-
taleza urban Drainage Municipal program; uSD 35 million to the Munici-
pality of Aparecida de goaiana for an urban Restructuring program in the 
Riberaio Santo Antonio de Aparecida Basin; and uSD 22.1 million to the 
Municipality of hortolandia for the development of an urban Infrastructure 
program and the protection of natural Areas of hortolandia. ApprovAls by strAtegic 

AreA 2010 
 

macroeconomic 
stability 1.3%

Governance and social 
capital 0.1%

economic 
infrastructure 32.9%

Productive sectors, 
services, and international 

trade 65.7%
 

ApprovAls And disburseMents by product 2010 
(in USD million)
 Approvals Disbursements
Medium- and short-term loans 677 195.3
Sovereign  177 70.2
Investment programs and projects 152 70.2
Programatic and SWAPS 25 -
Non-sovereign  500  125.1
Lines of credit (enterprises and banks) 1,300  1,030.1
Cooperation funds  2.8 0.3
Total 1,979.8 1,225.7
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Client/Executing Agency 
Municipality of Hortolandia, with the 
guarantee of the Federal Republic 
of Brazil- Municipal Prefecture of 
Hortolandia, through the Preparation Unit 
of the Infra-Urbe Program, responsible for 
coordinating and managing the execution 
of the Program
Municipality of Fortaleza, with the 
guarantee of the Federal Republic of 
Brazil, through the Municipal Secretariat 
of Urban development and Infrastructure 
of Fortaleza (SEINF)
Municipal Prefecture of Fortaleza-Fortaleza 
Secretariat of Tourism

Municipality of Aparecida de Goiania-
Municipal Secretariat of the Treasury

Federal Republic of Brazil, Municipality 
of Contagem, State of Minas Gerais-
Municipal Prefecture of Contagem, through 
the Municipal Secretariat of the Treasury

Centrais Eletricas Brasileiras (Eletrobrás)

Constructora Norberto Odebrecht, S.A.

Banco Bradesco, Banco do Brasil, Banco 
Votorantim, Banco Industrial e Comercial 
BIC, Banco Itau and Banco Itau BBA, Banco 
Santander, Banco HSBC
Various beneficiaries

 Total 

Operation
Urban infrastructure program and 
the protection of natural areas of 
Hortolandia

Fortaleza urban drainage municipal 
program

Tourism development program 
(Prodetur)

Urban restructuring program in the 
basin of the Ribeirao Santo Antonio de 
Aparecida

Fiscal sustainability program of the 
municipality of Contagem

A/B loan

Uncommitted revolving line of credit

Uncommitted revolving lines of credit

Other operations with cooperation 
resources

Objective
Solve the problems arising from the lack or 
non-existence of urban infrastructure and the 
environmental problems of the municipality, reducing 
the levels of vehicle congestion and the risk of 
flooding in the area surrounding the Jacuba river.

Address the lack of urban infrastructure and drainage 
problems in the municipality, reducing the levels of 
vehicle congestion and reducing the risks of flooding 
in at-risk areas in the city of Fortaleza.

develop sustainable tourism through municipal 
management guided by plans, projects, and actions 
that guarantee the efficiency and effectiveness of 
tourism in Fortaleza, promoting social inclusion 
through job creation and better income distribution.

Improve the quality of life of the population 
by adjusting the urban structure of the city to 
accommodate the changes derived from development 
during the last decade. The program includes 
improvements in transit, overcoming the deficit in 
water supply and sanitary sewage, and promoting the 
creation, installation, and development of knowledge-
intensive companies.
Support the Municipality of Contagem to achieve 
a more stable and sustainable fiscal position, 
by improving its debt profile and increasing the 
efficiency of the municipal public sector.

Partially finance the corporate investment plan of 
Eletrobrás.
Finance working capital to sustain the operational 
cycle, and issue partial credit guarantees on 
guarantees issued by the AIG insurance company.
Finance foreign trade operations, working capital, and 
investment in capital goods.

Various 

  
 Amount  Term (years)

 22.1 15

 45 16

 
 50 16

 35 16

 25 12

 500 17

 200 1

 1,100 Various 

 2.8 Various 

 1,979.8 

ApprovAls to brAzil 2010 (in millions of USd)
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infrAstructure

 Supported the 
Improvement program of 
the tourism infrastructure of 
the West Coast of the State 
of Ceara in the preparation 
of the technical, economic, 
and environmental 
feasibility studies and the 
basic and executive projects 
for the establishment, 
duplication, adjustment, 
and improvement of the 
highways in the tourism 
hub of the West Coast, State 
of Ceara, with resources 
from the proInfra Fund.
 Supported the 

government of the State of 
Sao paulo in establishing 
the generation potential 
of small and mini 
hydroelectric plants in the 
State of Sao paulo, as well 
as to identify projects in the 
private sector.

sociAl developMent

 Supported the 
Municipality of Fortaleza 
in the development of a 
social management plan 
to minimize the impact 
derived from the execution 
of the improvement of 
Avenida Beira Mar, and 
coordinate training and 
integration activities.
 provided resources to 

Instituto de pesquisa 
economica Aplicada to 
contribute to projects 
that provide technical and 
institutional support to 
government activities for 
the formulation of public 
policies and development 
programs.
 provided resources to 

the prefecture of the 
Municipality of osasco 
to promote and articulate 
public activities aimed at 
generating employment and 
income, local development, 
and the consolidation, 
sustainability, and growth 
of projects, networks, and 
other forms of integration. 
Resources also promoted 
and strengthened culture, 
and the strategies of the 
local and regional economy 
in terms of human, social, 
cultural, political, and 
economic development.

During 2010, 
CAF provided 

uSD 2.8 million 
to Brazil in cooperation 

funds. those resources 
were channeled directly 

to the beneficiaries 
or through the various 

special programs developed
 by the Institution.

other contributions to the sustAinAble 
developMent of brAzil
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sociAl 
sustAinAbility

 humanitarian aid for the 
prefecture of Sao luiz de 
paraitinga for the purchase 
of medicines.
 Conducted workshops 

of the Andean Itinerant 
Conservatory in Rio 
de Janeiro and Campos 
do goytacazes, as well 
as musical training 
workshops.

environMentAl 
developMent

 provided resources to the 
getulio Vargas Foundation 
(FgV) to support 
the model project of 
mediation for agribusiness, 
whose purpose is to 
research and prepare a 
mediation model for 
agribusiness as a first step 
toward the construction 
of proposals to promote 
understanding and balance 
among the various actors 
in the productive chains of 
the sector.
 held the international 

seminar on policies, 
strategies, and action for 
the control of deforestation 
in latin America to 
present progress in policies, 
plans, and programs for the 
control of deforestation, 
with emphasis on the 
experience of Brazil in the 
Amazon region.

regionAl 
integrAtion

 Supported the Brazilian 
Center for International 
Relations to coordinate 
activities in projects related 
to the generation of 
knowledge, and stimulate 
intellectual exchanges 
between the academic 
community and public 
policy makers.
 Supported the 

Ministry of Culture 
of Brazil in the First 
International Symposium 
on Architecture and 
Museums-new trends-
Brazilia 50 years, to 
establish a channel for 
debating on the economic 
impact generated by 
investment in culture 
and its importance for 
social inclusion and the 
strengthening of citizenship.
 Supported the Federal 

university of Mato 
grosso do Sul in the III 
International Seminar-
latin America- identity, 
diversity, and languages of 
the platinum territory.
 Supported the Jose 

Bonifacio university 
Foundation of the Federal 
university of Rio de 
Janeiro in the Seminar 
on the Colombia-Brazil 
energy Integration, to 
analyze the models of the 
electricity sector.

AgreeMents 
 Signed a framework 

agreement with the 
Brazilian Cooperation 
Agency to undertake 
technical cooperation 
projects in areas of 
mutual interest for CAF 
shareholder countries. the 
parties will explore the 
possibility of disseminating 
the Amazonia Sem Fogo 
project.

other contributions to the sustAinAble 
developMent of brAzil



Potable Water Program. Magdalena Department Phase III of Transmilenio Mass Transport Program

Cartagena de Indias
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In USD million 2010 2006-2010

Approvals  992   6,739 

   Sovereign risk  106   2,929 

   Non-sovereign risk  886   3,810 

Disbursements  1,602   5,042 

   Sovereign risk  202   744 

   Non-sovereign risk  1,400   4,298 

  
In USD million   2010

Loan portfolio   1,974 

  Sovereign risk   1,083 

  Non-sovereign risk   891
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During 2010, CAF approved uSD 992 million to Colombia, of which 
89.3% (uSD 886 million) corresponded to non-sovereign risk operations, 
and 10.7% (uSD 106 million) to sovereign risk operations.

the Institution allocated uSD 815 million (82.1% of the year’s approvals) 
to support the productive sector through lines of credit granted to public 
and private banks to finance foreign trade operations, working capital, and 
investments in capital goods.

In addition, CAF allocated uSD 102 million to the economic infrastructure 
area to finance phase III of the Mass transport program of Bogota, better 
known as transmilenio. Resources were approved in favor of the Republic, 
through the Ministry of transportation with the assistance of transmilenio 
and the urban Development Institute.

CAF also provided uSD 16.8 million to finance the expansion and mo-
dernization of the container cargo terminal in the port of Santa Marta. 
In addition, it approved a revolving line of credit for uSD 50 million to 
Cementos Argos, to support the operations and commercial areas of the 
company. In addition, allocated uSD 4 million to finance investment pro-
jects and working capital for the development of the micro-, small-, and 
medium-sized enterprises in the country.

ApprovAls And disburseMents by product 2010 
(in USD million)
 Approvals Disbursements
Medium- and short-term loans 119 214
Sovereign  102 200
Investment programs and projects 102 40
Programatic and SWAPS - 160
Non-sovereign  16.8 15
Lines of credit (enterprises and banks) 869 1,383
Equity investments - 3
Cooperation funds 4.4 2
Total 992.2 1,602
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ApprovAls by strAtegic AreA 2010 

Governance and social capital  0,4%

economic infrastructure 12%

Productive sectors, services, and international trade 87,6%

Client/Executing Agency
Republic of Colombia through the Ministry 
of Transportation with assistance from 
Transmilenio and the Urban development 
Institute
Santa Marta International Terminal 
Company (SMITCO)

Cementos Argos

Bancodelx, Bancolombia, Bancolombia 
Panamá, Banco de Bogotá, Banco de 
Bogotá Panamá, Banco Santander, 
Findeter, Banco da Vivienda, Banco de 
Occidente, Citibank Colombia, BBVA 
Colombia, Banco Popular
Fundación Mundial de la Mujer-Popayán 
(Women’s World Foundation) and Fundación 
Mundial de la Mujer-Bucaramanga
Various beneficiaries

Total

Operations
Transmilenio Mass Transpor
Program (third loan) 

Expansion and modernization of the 
container cargo terminal of the port of 
Santa Marta

Uncommitted revolving line of credit 
for corporate purposes

Lines of credit, subordinated loans, 
equity investments, and guarantees

Lines of credit, subordinated loans, 
equity investments, and guarantees

Other operations with cooperation 
resources

Objective
Finance the works of the Mass Transpor Program of 
Bogotá’s Transmilenio, specifically in the Suba Avenue 
(Phase II Trunk Line), Phase III (Calle 26 Trunk Line 
and Carrera 10 Trunk Line).
Expand and rebuild the area allocated to a new 
general cargo container terminal in the Port of Santa 
Marta. 

Support the operations and commercial areas 
of Cementos Argos, which are part of the Grupo 
Empresarial Antioqueño.
Finance foreign trade operations, investment projects, 
letters of credit, working capital, and investments in 
capital goods.

Finance investment projects and working capital for 
the development of MSMEs.

Various

 Amount  Term (years)

 102 18

 16.8 12

 50 180 days

 815 Various

 4 Various

 4.4 Various

 992.2 

ApprovAls to coloMbiA 2010 (in millions of USd)
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infrAstructure

 Financed preliminary 
studies to establish the 
potential and possible 
locations for logistic 
platforms that promote the 
agglomeration of services 
in the region of the eje 
Cafetero.
 Supported technical 

studies for the construction 
of a new bridge in the 
binational border pass 
of Rumichaca between 
Colombia and ecuador.
 Financed technical, legal, 

and commercial studies 
needed to involve private 
capital in the modernization 
and management of public 
fixed assets, in accordance 
with national policies.
 Signed an agreement 

with Bogotá’s Chamber of 
Commerce, the District 
Mayor›s office, and the 
governor›s office of 
Cundinamarca to develop 
the regional logistics plan.
 Financed social and 

environmental studies for 
the environmental and 
social action plan of túnel 
la línea.
 Financed studies of the 

border passes of Cucuta-San 
Antonio-ureña, la Fria-
guarumito-Agua Clara and 
paraguachon.

sociAl developMent 
 Financed the preparation 

of the Drainage Master 
plan for the Western Area 
of Baranquillas. the studies 
include the diagnosis of 
existing conditions, the 
evaluation of risks, the 
analysis of alternatives and 
feasibility of the works 
associated with the rain 
water sewage system, as 
well as the construction 
and rehabilitation of main 
and secondary channels, 
the protection of river 
beds and basins, and the 
formulation of regulatory 
guidelines for the control 
of informal settlements, 
urban development, and 
environmental regulation.
 Supported the Ministry of 

environment, housing, and 
territorial Development 
in the institutional 
reorganization to respond 
to the priorities of the new 
government administration.
 Completed technical 

studies of the housing 
macro project of 
Bucaramanga, through 
which 10,000 housing 
units will be provided to 
low-income populations 
within the framework 
of a comprehensive and 
sustainable development.

other contributions the sustAinAble developMent of coloMbiA

During 2010 
CAF allocated 
uSD 4.4 
million to 
Colombia in 
cooperation 
funds. 
Resources 
were channeled 
directly to the 
beneficiaries 
or through the 
various special 
programs 
developed by 
the Institution.
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environMentAl 
developMent

 Supported the 
Autonomous Regional 
Corporation of la guajira 
and the governor’s office 
of the State of Zulia in 
the zoning of natural and 
manmade threats, and risk 
analysis.
 Supported the 

dissemination of documents 
that summarize the 
contributions to the cultures 
of America and the world.
 Supported the organic 

production of food and its 
trade to improve the living 
conditions of farming 
families in vulnerable 
condition.
 Recovered critical and 

environmentally important 
areas of high-priority for 
the sustainability of water 
supply in the hydrographic 
basins, starting from the 
design of strategies to 
reduce the negative effects 
on water supply.
 Completed the 

support program to the 
Sectorial Ministry for the 
establishment of a program 
to strengthen forestry 
management.
 Signature of a contract 

to buy and sell emissions 
reductions with the 
Colombian company 
pisano, S.A. to develop a 
reforestation project in 
the northern area of the 
Chocó.

sociAl 
sustAinAbility

 Supported the 
improvement in the 
quality of life of at-risk 
communities, ―together 
with Artesanías de 
Colombia―by developing 
the wool crafts chain. More 
than 400 artisan women 
and their families will 
benefit from this project 
that promotes training 
and the development of 
teachers, so that knowledge 
may be replicated and 
promoted in the area as 
an income generating 
opportunity.
 promoted a cooperative 

dedicated to the semi-
automatic manufacture 
of low-cost masonry 
blocks, together with the 
Mario Santo Domingo 
Foundation. the initiative 
will benefit close to 
30,000 families that will 
establish the Ciudad 
del Bicentenario in 
Cartagena. the project will 
contribute to satisfy the 
demand for 1.75 million 
blocks per year that 
Ciudad del Bicentenario 
requires, and provide 
the community with an 
income-generating activity 
that will provide a base 
for the creation of new 
enterprises, crafts, and 
productive activities.

coMpetitiveness

 Signed an agreement 
with the national 
Association of Foreign 
trade to develop 
agribusiness.
 Subscribed an agreement 

with the Management 
of the Mesoamerican 
Integration and 
Development project to 
support the Business and 
Investment Roundtable 
for exporting SMes of the 
Mesoamerican region.
 Supported the stock 

exchange through the 
promotion of the first 
phase of the integration of 
the Chilean, Colombian, 
and peruvian stock 
exchanges.
 Strengthened the 

capacity of Incubar del 
Caribe as a national 
pilot project through 
technological transfer from 
octantis (Chile).
 Implemented a project 

with the Colombian stock 
exchange to support the 
establishment of good 
governance codes in 20 
companies.
 Supported the Finance 

Secretariat of Bogotá in 
the implementation of 
transparency and good 
governance best practices.

governAnce

 In support of the region’s 
institutions, granted 
resources to strengthen 
democratic governance 
through the governance 
and policy Management 
program.
 Strengthened 

community and cultural 
development through the 
leadership for Change 
program in its Sixth 
phase, the Josué program 
for local promotion 
and Development 
Centered on Youth in the 
Department of el Chocó, 
and the Strengthening of 
productive units in padilla 
(Cauca).

sMes 
And MicrofinAnce

 Supported the Financial 
Superintendency of 
Colombia to improve 
microcredit regulations 
and strengthen its 
supervision.
 Strategic review 

of Bancoldex as a 
development bank, to 
establish its role in the 
country’s economic 
development, in particular, 
regarding its contribution 
to enhancing of access to 
financial services and as 
promoter of non-financial 
services for the real sector.



Road development program in Valle de Los Chillos Community development environmental Program

Colón Archipelago, Galapagos Island
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In USD million 2010 2006-2010

Approvals  901   4,490 

   Sovereign risk  703   3,339 

   Non-sovereign risk  198   1,151 

Disbursements  721   3,375 

   Sovereign risk  616   2,362 

   Non-sovereign risk  105   1,013 

  

In USD million  2010

Loan portfolio   2.437 

   Sovereign risk   2,285 

   Non-sovereign risk   152
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During 2010 CAF approved uSD 901 million to ecuador, of which 78% 
(uSD 703 million) corresponded to sovereign risk operations and 22% 
(uSD 198 million) to non-sovereign risk operations.

especially noteworthy are the operations for uSD 598 million in the areas 
of infrastructure and social and environmental development, which represented 
66.4% of the total. Resources will be directed at financing the environ-
mental Sanitation program for Community Development (uSD 300 mi-
llion) to build and rehabilitate potable water systems, sanitary and rain 
sewage, treatment of  waters, and management of solid wastes; the pro-
gram to Support public Investment in the social sector (uSD 250 million), 
which is part of the 2010-2011 Annual Investment plan; and the highway 
Development program in the Valle de los Chillos (uSD 48.2 million) to 
improve and expand the road infrastructure linked to the general Rumi-
ñahui highway which connects the valley with the city of Quito.  

In addition, CAF approved uSD 267 million to support the productive sector 
through public and private banks, mainly aimed at stimulating econo-
mic growth. of the total approved during the year, uSD 155 million 
were allocated to the banking system through lines of credit to finan-
ce foreign trade operations, working capital, and investments in capi-
tal goods; uSD 100 million to finance credit operations for small and 
medium entrepreneurs through Corporación Financiera nacional; and 
uSD 12 million to support the development of MSMes in the country.

likewise, the Institution granted resources directly to the corporate sector to 
support export companies which have demonstrated a greater competiti-
veness, as well as to leading companies in the local market which partici-
pate in sectors of strategic importance for the country’s economy. Worth 
mentioning are the uSD 20 million in favor of Corporación la Favorita, 
uSD 6 million in favor of IpAC, and uSD 5 million in favor of novopan. 
Resources were granted to finance investment projects, foreign trade ope-
rations, and working capital.

ApprovAls And disburseMents by product 2010 
(in USD million)
 Approvals Disbursements
Medium- and short-term loans 604 517.8
Sovereign 598.2 514
Investment programs and projects 348.2 114
Programatic and SWAPS 250 400
Non-sovereign 6 3.8
Lines of credit (enterprises and banks) 292 201
Cooperation funds 4.4 2.6
Total 900.6 721.4
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Client/Executing agency
Provincial Government of Pichincha (with a 
guarantee from the Republic of Ecuador)

Republic of Ecuador, Banco del Estado 

Republic of Ecuador, Secretariat of Finance

Corporación La Favorita

IPAC

Novopan

Corporación Financiera Nacional (sovereign 
guarantee)
Banco Bolivariano, Banco Guayaquil, Banco 
Pichincha, Banco Internacional, Banco de 
la Producción
Banco Procredit

Various beneficiaries

Total 

Operation
Highway development program in the 
Valle de Los Chillos

Environmental sanitation program for 
community development (Promadec II)

Program to support public investment 
in the social sector of Ecuador 
(PAISSE)

Revolving uncommitted line of credit 

Financing trade, working capital, and 
investment projects
Financing trade, working capital, and 
investment projects
Line of credit with sovereign guarantee

Financing trade and working capital

Revolving uncommitted line of credit 
and partial credit guarantee 

Other operations with cooperation 
resources

Objective
Improve and expand the road infrastructure 
(intersections and connections) from and to the 
General Rumiñahui Highway, which connects the 
valley with the city of quito.
Finance the construction, improvement, and 
rehabilitation of potable water systems, sanitary and 
rain sewage, treatment for waste waters, construction 
of projects to manage solid residues, complementary 
works, supervision, and execution of the plan for 
environmental management. 
Contribute to the development of the Annual 
Investment Plan (2010-2011), within the framework 
of the National development Plan 2009-2013 and the 
2009-2011 Social Agenda, through the execution of an 
investment program in the social area.

Finance working capital for Corporación La Favorita.

Finance investment projects, foreign trade operations, 
and working capital.
Finance investment projects, foreign trade operations, 
and working capital.
Finance foreign trade operations, working capital, and 
investments in capital goods.
Finance foreign trade operations, working capital, and 
investments in capital goods.

Finance MSMEs.

Various

  
 Amount  Term (years) 
 48.2 15

 300 18

 250 12

 20 Up to a year

 6 5

 5 Up to a year

 100 1

  155 Various

 12 Various

 
 4.4 Various
 
 900.6 

economic infrastructure 5.3%

Governance and social capital 0.5% 

Productive sectors, services, and international trade 33.1%

Social and environmental development 61.1%

ApprovAls by strAtegic AreA 2010 

ApprovAls to ecuAdor 2010 (in millions of USd)



84

infrAstructure

 Channeled resources 
through operations with 
sectional governments to 
undertake infrastructure 
studies in the areas of 
potable water, sewage, solid 
wastes: study and final 
design of bridges in the 
secondary road network of 
the province of esmeraldas.
 Studies to improve 

integration roads in the 
rural areas of the province 
of Manabi.
 Road solution in the 

Southern sector of the city 
of esmeraldas.
 Supported the 

Municipalities of Manta and 
Riobamba to strengthen 
Municipal management, 
collect property registry 
and territorial information 
of the cantons, and 
conduct studies on urban 
development and the 
construction of rural roads.

sociAl developMent

 Approved studies for 
developing the potable 
water and sewage Master 
plan for the Municipality 
of Mejía, as well as the 
pollution prevention and 
control plan of water 
bodies, and technical 
assistance for the creation of 
the potable water, sewage, 
and garbage collection 
cantonal company.
 Approved a technical 

cooperation to the 
Metropolitan District of 
Quito to conduct studies 
and provide the social 
support necessary to 
relocate families living on 
the banks and beds of high 
ravines.
 Supported the pontificia 

universidad Católica del 
ecuador to transform the 
current academic structure, 
educational model, and 
physical plant of the 
university into a new 
concept which will boost 
research as the main source 
of financing. 

other contributions to the sustAinAble 
developMent of ecuAdor

During 2010, CAF 
granted uSD 4.4 million 

to ecuador in cooperation 
funds. Resources were 

channeled directly to the 
beneficiaries or through 

the various special 
programs developed by 

the Institution.
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sociAl 
sustAinAbility

 Approved a technical 
assistance for the 
educational unit San Daniel 
Comboni aimed at training 
teachers, educating in family 
values, and improving 
the academic education 
of students through the 
practice of soccer. the 
school has become a 
reference on teaching 
methodology.
 Implemented the 

Social Inclusion through 
Music program, while 
strengthening its orchestral 
and choral aspects.
 Consolidated training in 

crafts and heritage rescue 
in three workshop schools 
(Cuenca, Quito, and San 
Andres) in alliance with 
the Spanish Agency for 
International Cooperation 
and Development, and 
other institutions.

sMes 
And MicrofinAnce

 Supported the 
organization of the xx 
Forum of Microfinance 
organized by the Rural 
Financial network, 
held in Quito. the 
forum generated a 
space for discussion 
regarding the promotion 
and development of 
microfinance in the region.

environMentAl 
developMent

 Conducted a feasibility 
study for implementing 
solid waste infrastructure 
and adaptation and 
mitigation of climate 
change in the province of 
guayas.
 Designed and 

implemented a system 
for managing hospital 
waste in the four main 
hospitals of the Junta de 
Beneficencia de guayaquil, 
whose executing agency is 
the honorable provident 
Society of guayaquil.
 Developed an 

information system to 
monitor protected natural 
areas in the Andean-
Amazon Region (ecuador-
peru) with universidad de 
Cooperación Internacional.
 Supported the 

development of public 
policies from the civil 
society on the subject 
of land tenure security 
and incentives for forest 
conservation, whose 
executing agency is 
Corporación de estudios 
Ambientales.
 Supported the 

organization of the 
Workshop on the 
Management of Marine 
Coastal protected Areas 
of ecuador and peru, in 
partnership with ecobiotec, 
the State Department of 
the united States, and the 
World Conservation Fund.

coMpetitiveness

 Signed an agreement 
with Corporación para el 
Desarrollo económico y 
territorial esmeraldas, to 
develop entrepreneurial 
capacities.
 Signed an agreement 

with Fundación Mujer y 
Familia Andina, to develop 
a sustainable model of 
production, transformation, 
and marketing.
 Signed an agreement 

with Fundación Forestal 
Juan Manuel Durini to 
strengthen the cocoa and 
lumber value chains in the 
province of esmeraldas.
 Supported the ecuadorean 

Committee of economic 
and territorial Development 
in the II latin American 
Forum of local economic 
Development Agencies.
 Continued the project to 

create the Academic unit 
of Corporate governance, 
which gathers an 
important group of higher 
education institutions.
 Signed an agreement 

with Banco Bolivariano 
to establish principles 
and guidelines that will 
enable the adoption 
and implementation of 
corporate governance best 
practices.

governAnce

 Signed agreements with 
the pontificia universidad 
Católica del ecuador and 
the universidad Católica 
Santiago de guayaquil 
for the ninth consecutive 
year of the  governance 
and policy Management 
program. two hundred 
participants in twelve 
provinces were trained.
 Supported the prefecture 

of pichincha for its ISo 
9001 certification in process 
improvement and internal 
training.
 Continued the leadership 

for Change program in 
alliance with the escuela 
Superior politécnica 
del litoral in its fourth 
graduating class. Seventy-
four cantons participated 
in the cities of Azogues, 
galapagos, guayaquil, Manta, 
and Quito.
 Implemented the second 

stage of the Regional 
program for updating 
and Improving local 
Management in the 
Municipalities of Manta 
and Riobamba.
 Developed a systematic 

financial and budgeting 
model and a geo-
referenced map for 
managing cadastral 
information.
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Sanitation project for the city and bay of Panama Program for the expansion of the Panama Canal

Panama City
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Approvals  312   1,232 

   Sovereign risk  222   719 

   Non-sovereign risk  90   513 

Disbursements  23   106 

   Sovereign risk  3   85 

   Non-sovereign risk  20   21 

  

In USD million   2010

Loan portfolio   90 

   Sovereign risk   70 

   Non-sovereign risk   20
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During 2010, CAF approved uSD 312 million to panama, of which 71% 
(uSD 222 million) corresponded to sovereign risk operations and 29% to 
non-sovereign risk operations. 

the Institution allocated uSD 220 million to the social and environmental 
sectors. of this amount, it granted uSD 120 million to the Sanitation 
project of the City and Bay of panama to finance the construction of civil 
works, the supply of building materials and equipment for the construc-
tion of an Interceptor tunnel, and a plant for the treatment of waste.  In 
addition, it allocated uSD 100 million to the Investment program in the 
potable water and sanitation sector of the province of panama to improve 
the living conditions of the population by means of the expansion and 
sustainable improvement of the coverage, quality, efficiency, and reliability 
of the potable water and sanitary sewage services. 

likewise, CAF approved uSD 50 million through revolving lines of credit 
to a number of banks to contribute to initiatives with high social, envi-
ronmental, and productive impact by financing foreign trade operations, 
working capital, and capital investments.

CAF also provided uSD 40 million to electron Investment, S.A., to sup-
port the construction of the hydroelectric generators pando and Monte 
lirio that will be operated in sequence using the flow of the high and 
middle sections of the Chiriqui Viejo River, located in the Western part of 
the country.

ApprovAls And disburseMents by product 2010
(in USD million)
 Approvals Disbursements
Medium- and short-term loans 260 2.5
Sovereign 220 2.5
Investment programs and projects 220 2.5
Non-sovereign 40 -
Lines of credit (enterprises and banks) 50 20
Cooperation funds 2.4 0.9
Total 312.4 23.4
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Client/Executing agency 
Republic of Panama, through the Ministry 
of Economy and Finance, and Ministry of 
Health

Republic of Panama, through the Ministry 
of Economy and Finance, and the 
Instituto de Acueductos y Alcantarillados 
Nacionales (IddAN)

Electron Investment, S.A. (EISA)

BBVA Panama, La Hipotecaria, Global Bank 
Corporation
Various beneficiaries

Total 

Operation
Sanitation project of the city and bay 
of Panama

Investment program in the potable 
water and sanitation sector of the 
province of Panama

Senior and subordinated long-term 
loans 

Uncommitted revolving line of credit 

Other operations with cooperation 
resources

Objective
Finance the construction of civil works, materials and 
equipment for the interceptor tunnel and of the waste 
water treatment plant of the city and bay of Panama

Improve the living conditions of the population of 
the province of Panama through the sustainable 
expansion and improvement of coverage, quality, 
efficiency, and reliability of potable water and 
sanitary sewage services
design, build, and equip the run-of-river hydroelectric 
generators Pando and Monte Lirio that will operate 
in sequence and will use the waters of the high and 
middle parts of the Chiriquí Viejo river located in 
Western Panama
Finance foreign trade operations and working capital

Various

   
 Amount  Term (years)

 120 18

 100 18

 40 13

 50 Various

 2.4 Various 

 312.4 

Governance and social capital 0,8% 

Productive sectors, services, 
and international trade 28,8%

Social and environmental 
development 70,4%

ApprovAls by strAtegic AreA 2010

ApprovAls to pAnAMA 2010 (in millions of USd)



90

During 2010, CAF 
approved uSD 2.4 

million to panama in 
cooperation funds. 

Resources were 
channeled directly to 

the beneficiaries or 
through the various 

special programs 
developed by the 

Institution.

infrAstructure

 Financed studies to 
establish the hydrocarbon 
potential of panama, with 
the objective of attracting 
exploratory risk capital and 
confirm the existence of 
commercial hydrocarbons, 
such as natural gas and oil 
derivatives, for domestic 
consumption.
 Conducted initial location 

and investment studies 
for the construction of a 
new international airport 
in the central provinces 
of the country. Currently, 
the studies are in the stage 
of technical and financial 
feasibility.

sociAl developMent

 Structured a strategy, with 
the national government 
and the national Institute 
of Aqueducts and Sewage 
(IDAAn), aimed at 
improving the infrastructure 
of the potable water and 
sanitary sewage services 
as well as the quality of 
public management and 
its sustainability. With 
joint efforts from CAF, the 
IDB, and the World Bank, 
support has been provided 
to IDAAn and the 
government’s sector entities 
to design a set of reforms 
that guarantee more and 
better services for the 
population, complementing 
the credit operations 
approved for the sector 
during 2010. 
 Supported the early 

Childhood Development 
program conducted by the 
office of the First lady of 
the Republic of panama, 
through the Coordination 
office for Community 
and Social Matters of the 
Ministry of the presidency 
of the Republic, which 
includes actions aimed at 
strengthening rural families 
and, in particular, childhood, 
on aspects regarding 
education, health, nutrition, 
and early stimulation, 
among others.
 held workshops of 

the Itinerant latin 
Conservatory as part of 
CAF’s Social Inclusion 
through Music program.

other contributions to the 
sustAinAble developMent of pAnAMA
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coMpetitiveness

 Supported the 
V Competitiveness 
Forum which is held 
annually by the national 
Competitiveness Center. 
the forum constitutes a 
space of discussion, analysis 
and meeting place for the 
public and private sectors 
to identify the obstacles 
that limit competitiveness 
in the country and propose 
actions to overcome them.
 Signed a cooperation 

agreement with the 
Federated Association of 
Chambers of Commerce 
of the Central American 
Isthmus for the project to 
Support entrepreneurship 
and local Development 
in Central America . the 
initiative seeks to facilitate 
inter-institutional dialogue 
aimed at seeking feasible 
solutions for deficiencies 
in subjects related to 
entrepreneurial culture 
and competitive local 
development in countries 
of Central America and 
the Caribbean.
 Supported the First 

tuesday panama 
workshops organized 
by the Foundation 
for the economic and 
Social Development of 
panama to exchange 
experiences between 
entrepreneurs, investors, 
and businesspeople.

governAnce

 Supported the 
governance and policy 
Management program 
in alliance with the 
university of panama and 
the george Washington 
university.
 Started the leadership 

for Change program to 
develop and train natural 
leaders with a national 
vision and democratic 
values so they can 
exercise leadership with 
responsibility and true 
knowledge.



Road integration works between 
Argentina and Paraguay

Program to support social and 
infrastructure investments

Jesus and Trinidad ruins
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In USD million 2010 2006-2010

Approvals  36  151

   Sovereign risk  1  86

   Non-sovereign risk  35  65

Disbursements  51  71

   Sovereign risk  51  63

   Non-sovereign risk 0 8

  

In USD million   2010

Loan portfolio   66 

   Sovereign risk   64 

   Non-sovereign risk   2
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During 2010, CAF approved uSD 36 million to paraguay, of which 98.4% 
(uSD 35 million) corresponded to non-sovereign risk operations and 
1.6% (uSD 1 million) to sovereign risk operations.

the Institution supported the country’s productive sector by allocating 
uSD 35 million to finance investment projects and foreign trade and 
working capital operations through lines of credit granted to several 
banks. Resources were aimed at stimulating economic growth and 
enabling a prompt response to the financial crisis.

During the year, especially noteworthy are the disbursements to the pro-
gram in Support of Social and Infrastructure Investments to promote 
economic reactivation by implementing investment programs with high 
economic and social impact in the agricultural, housing, education, and 
infrastructure sectors. 

Client/Executing Agency
Banco Regional

Banco BBVA Paraguay

Banco Continental S.A.E.C.A.

Various beneficiaries

Total 

Operation
Financing trade, working capital, and 
investment projects

Financing trade, working capital, and 
investment projects

Financing trade, working capital, and 
investment projects

Other operations with cooperation 
resources

Objective
Financing trade, working capital, and investment 
projects

Financing trade, working capital, and investment 
projects

Financing trade, working capital, and investment 
projects

Other operations with cooperation resources

  
 Amount  Term (years)

 5 1

 15 1

 15 1

 0.6 Various 

 35.6 

ApprovAls to pArAguAy 2010 (in millions of USd)

ApprovAls And disburseMents by product 2010 
(in USD million)
 Approvals Disbursements
Medium- and short-term loans 0 51
Sovereign - 51
Investment programs and projects - 51
Lines of credit (enterprises and banks) 35 -
Cooperation funds 0.6 0.1
Total 35.6 51.1
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 the Institution allocated 

uSD 350,000 to the 
urupabol gas pipeline 
to conduct studies for the 
gas interconnection from 
Bolivia to paraguay and 
uruguay. to conduct this 
initiative with resources 
from the proInfra Fund, 
the Institution called 
for international bids to 
develop a feasibility study 
on the interconnection 
alternatives and to make 
recommendations for the 
energy integration of these 
three countries. 
 likewise, CAF provided 

support for the Women’s 
Secretariat by allocating 
uSD 200,000 to the 
project to consolidate the 
institutional mechanisms 
for providing services, 
preventing and protecting, 
victims of slavery. the 
project seeks to improve 
the actions of the public 
sector against slavery, 
enabling the coordination 
of comprehensive actions; 
the preparation of a manual 
to provide support to the 
victims, and standardized 
information for servicing, 
preventing, protecting, 
and reintegrating women 
and girls who have been 
victimized; the design and 
implementation of a model 
of social and economic 
reintegration of victims; 
and the institutional 
strengthening of the 
Women’s Secretariat.
 

 In addition, the 
Institution approved 
a non-reimbursable 
technical cooperation 
of uSD 300,000 to 
finance a program to 
improve the conditions 
to conduct educational 
activities in the public and 
private institutions that 
comprise the Agricultural 
educational System of 
paraguay. the executing 
agency is the Ministry of 
Agriculture and livestock.

During 2010, 
CAF granted 

uSD 600,000 
to paraguay in 

cooperation funds. 
Resources were 

channeled directly 
to beneficiaries 
or through the 
various special 

programs 
developed by the 

Institution.

other contributions to the sustAinAble 
developMent of pArAguAy



Modernization and environmental adaptation 
of La Pampilla Refinery Peru-Brazil Inter Oceanic Road Corridor

Machu Picchu
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In USD million 2010 2006-2010

Approvals  1,693   7,560 

   Sovereign risk  731   3,306 

   Non-sovereign risk  962   4,254 

Disbursements  2,494   6,889 

   Sovereign risk  612   1,592 

   Non-sovereign risk  1,882   5,297 

  

In USD million   2010

Loan portfolio   2,186 

   Sovereign risk   1,440 

   Non-sovereign risk   746 
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ApprovAls by strAtegic 
AreA 2010 

Social and environmental 
development 13,4%

economic 
infrastructure 17,7%

integration 
infrastructure 11,8%

Governance 
and social capital 0,3%

Productive sectors, 
services, and international 

trade 56,8%

ApprovAls And disburseMents by product 2010 
(in USD million)
 Approvals Disbursements
Medium-and short-term loans 827 768
Sovereign 727 609
Investment programs and projects 427 309
Programatic and SWAPS 300 300
Non-sovereign 100 160
Lines of credit (enterprises and banks) 697 1,722
Partial credit guarantees 115 -
Equity investments 50 -
Cooperation funds 4.2 4
Total 1,693.2 2,494

During 2010, CAF approved uSD 1,693 million to peru, of which 43% 
(uSD 731 million) corresponded to sovereign risk operations and uSD 56.8% 
(uSD 962 million) to non- sovereign risk operations.

total approvals included uSD 597 million for renewals of lines of credit to 
banks and microfinance institutions to support the productive sector, uSD 115 
million for partial credit guarantees, and uSD 100 million for revolving lines 
of credit granted directly to companies.

In the area of economic infrastructure, the Institution allocated resources mainly 
to the transportation sector. In this regard, it provided uSD 200 million for 
the completion of the remaining works of tranches 2, 3, and 4 of the peru-
Brazil Interoceanic Road Corridor project (IIRSA Sur)-Final phase.

In addition, CAF allocated uSD 300 million to the program for the reha-
bilitation and improvement of road infrastructure. the program consolidates 
the strategy to guarantee the adequate maintenance and structural improve-
ments of the national road network. 

likewise, CAF approved uSD 227 million in favor of the areas of social and 
environmental development. of this amount, uSD 77 million were granted to 
Sedapal for the construction of the basic infrastructure that will enable the 
provision of potable water serviced for close to 2,400,000 inhabitants (approxi-
mately 500,000 households) located in the marginal areas of the northern and 
eastern Cones of Metropolitan lima. In addition, it approved uSD 150 mil-
lion to support the execution of the Comprehensive Majes Siguas II project, 
located in the Department of Arequipa in the South of peru.

In the productive sector, two co-financing operations are worth noting: one 
for uSD 50 million in favor of gas natural de lima y Callao, S.A., for in-
vestments in the distribution network and expansion of the capacity of the 
distribution system in Callao and lima; and another for uSD 50 million for 
medium-term financing granted to Refinería la pampilla, S.A. for invest-
ments in maintenance, environmental improvements, and initial studies for 
the modernization and environmental adaptation.

In favor of the SME and microfinance sector, the Institution approved lines of 
credit for uSD 47 million for several institutions specialized in microfinance, 
expanding access to financial services to the micro entrepreneurial sector as 
well as to the least favored segments of the population. 



99

Client/Executing agency
Republic of Peru, through the Regional 
Government of Arequipa, by means of 
the Special Majes Siguas Project, also 
called Autonomous Authority of Majes 
(Autodema)
Republic of Peru, Ministry of Economy and 
Finance, through dirección Nacional de 
Endeudamiento Público 

Republic of Peru, through the Ministry of 
Economy and Finance, Potable Water and 
Sewage Services in marginal areas of Lima 
(Sedapal)

Republic of Peru, Ministry of 
Transportation and Communications, 
through the National Transportation 
Infrastructure Special Project (Provias 
Nacional)
Refinería La Pampilla, S.A.

Gas Natural de Lima y Callao, S.A. 
(Calidda)

Brookfield Infrastructure Fund

Enersur

Cemento Andino

Graña y Montero, S.A.

Enfoca discovey Fund

Abengoa Transmisión Sur

Banco de Crédito de Peru, BBVA Banco 
Continental, Scotiabank Peru 
Mibanco, Leasing Peru, Edpyme Crear 
Arequipa, Edpyme Nueva Emision, Caja 
Municipal de Ahorro y Crédito Arequipa, 
Caja Rural de Ahorro y Crédito Nuestra 
Gente, Financiera Confianza
Various beneficiaries

Total 

Operation
Majes Siguas project phase II

Investment program to improve and 
rehabilitate the road infrastructure

Potable water and sewage 
improvement project in marginal areas 
of Lima

Interoceanic road corridor 
Peru-Brazil (IIRSA Sur), Tranches 2, 3, 
and 4-Final phase

Non-sovereign long-term loan

Non-sovereign long-term loan

Capital investment

Partial credit guarantee

Partial credit guarantee

Revolving credit line to issue letters 
of guarantee
Capital investment

Uncommitted revolving line of credit 
with guarantee
Financing foreign trade, working 
capital, and investment projects
Financing foreign trade, working 
capital, and investment projects of 
MSMEs

Other operations with cooperation 
resources

Objective
Use the surplus waters of the Apurimac River by 
building branching, regulation, collection, and 
conduction works to promote agricultural and social 
development in the Siguas Region, in the department 
of Arequipa.
Recognize investments made and committed in 
2010 for the implementation of the Program for 
investing in improvement on rehabilitation of the 
road infrastructure, to preserve and update the road 
infrastructure by implementing improvement and 
rehabilitation road projects with a significant impact 
in the various regions of the country.
develop the basic infrastructure to supply potable 
water to 2,400,000 inhabitants (approximately 500,000 
households), predominantly low-income, located in 
marginal areas of the Northern and Eastern cones of 
Lima.
Complete the remaining works of tranches 2, 3, and 
4 of the Peru-Brazil Interoceanic road corridor (IIRSA 
Sur), to consolidate it as the structural element of 
development of the Southern region of Peru and its 
integration with the rest of the country and Bolivia.
Finance investments in maintenance, environmental 
improvements, and preliminary studies for the 
modernization and environmental adaptation of the La 
Pampilla Refinery.
Finance the program to expand the distribution 
network and the extension of the distribution system 
in Callao and Lima.
Capitalize the fund to invest in infrastructure projects 
in Peru.
Finance a combined cycle project (closing the cycle 
of the three gas turbines) through the installation of a 
vapor turbine with an installed capacity of 275 MW.

Purchase and install the machinery and mechanical 
equipment for expanding the production capacity of 
the factory.
Guarantee the obligations and responsibilities of GyM 
to other institutions.
Support investments in sectors with high-growth 
potential and limited access to the country’s capital 
markets.
Finance infrastructure projects in the region.

Finance investment projects, foreign trade operations, 
and working capital.
Support leasing operations and finance MSMEs

Various

  

 Amount Term (years)

 150 18

 300 6

 77 18

 200 15

 50 5

 50 10

 40 12

 50 13

 65 8

 50 2

 10 10

 50 Up to 36
   months
 550 Various

 47 Various

 
 4.2 Various
 
 1,693.2

ApprovAls to peru (in millions of USd)
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During 2010, 
CAF granted 

uSD 4.2 million to 
peru in cooperation 

funds. Resources 
were channeled 

directly to the 
beneficiaries or 

through the various 
special programs 
developed by the 

Institution.

other contributions to the sustAinAble 
developMent of peru

infrAstructure

 Supported proinversion 
in the evaluation of the 
feasibility study for the 
private initiative of the 
Multimodal transportation 
System for huincho, for 
the construction of the 
Andahuaylas-Marcona 
railway line.
 Supported the Ministry 

of transportation and 
Communications to 
increase its capacity to 
identify, analyze, and 
evaluate railway projects, 
through the Methodology 
and evaluation of Railway 
project.
 In cooperation with 

the national port 
Authority, established 
strategies to develop the 
national port System, 
with the contribution of 
Valenciaport.

sociAl developMent

 Approved cooperation 
resources for the Ministry 
of education for the 
project on evaluation for 
the generalization of the 
Basic Curricular Design 
for Superior technological 
Institutes, in line with 
the need to strengthen 
specialized institutes in 
peru.
 organized a workshop 

for the Ministry of health 
to disseminate concept 
and experiences on public 
private alliances and their 
potential to develop projects 
in the health sector.
 Supported the provincial 

Municipality of trujillo 
in the second stage of the 
program to strengthen 
municipal management 
to promote the project 
Improvement of the 
territorial Information 
System of the District of 
trujillo. the project will 
enable the optimization of 
municipal revenues.
 Cooperated with the 

Ministry of economy 
and Finance for the 
development of the 
Assistance program for 
the Modernization of the 
Management and Fiscal 
policy of Decentralization.
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sociAl 
sustAinAbility

 Supported the 
consolidation of 180 credit 
and loan units, as well as 
the creation of a regional 
network to strengthen 
their functioning and 
bring them closer to the 
formal financial system. 
to date, support has been 
provided for the creation 
of 350 units, benefitting 
5,100 families living in 
extreme poverty in the 
region and enabling 
the development of 12 
productive chains. 
 Supported the 

consolidation of the 
workshop schools in 
Arequipa, Colca, Cusco, 
and lima.
 held orchestral and 

choral training workshops.

environMentAl 
developMent

 Supported the national 
Water Authority to comply 
with a commitment with 
the regions of Cajamarca, 
lambayeque, and piura in 
determining the availability 
of water in the hydraulic 
system of the huancabamba 
River Basin.
 hired consultants to 

formulate the social and 
environmental investment 
program to mitigate the 
indirect impacts of the 
Southern Interoceanic 
Corridor.
 Supported workshops to 

execute the environmental 
and social management 
program of the Southern 
Interoceanic Corridor.
 Supported pReVen 

in the development of 
strategic plans manuals, 
and the preparation of a 
project portfolio for the 
prevention of disasters.
 Supported the Ministry 

of the environment in 
the preparation of the 
national environmental 
Action plan.
 Supported the 

Municipality of Maynas in 
promoting the sustainable 
management of solid 
refuses, energy eco-
efficiency, and territorial 
planning.
 Developed an 

information system to 
monitor the natural 
protected areas of the 
Andean-Amazonian 
region (ecuador-peru).

coMpetitiveness

 Implemented a project 
with the regional 
government of la libertad 
for Sustainable tourism 
and territorial economic 
Development in the 
Archeological Route of 
los Moche.
 Developed a pilot 

project for the Fain trade 
System in the textile 
manufacturing cluster.
 Implemented a 

program to support 
entrepreneurship through 
the Business plans Contest 
Challenge peru 2010.
 Conducted the pilot 

project trade Information 
Systems to promote non-
traditional exports.
 Supported the program 

peru 2011 elections: 
Centering the electoral 
Debate by means of 
specialized workshops 
initiative and documents.  
 Conducted the seminar 

that launched the 
Integration of the Stock 
exchanges in Chile, 
Colombia, and peru.
 Supported the Corporate 

governance program 
offered through the lima 
Stock exchange for 20 
peruvian enterprises. 
 Implemented the 

territorial Information 
System of the District of 
lince.

finAnciAl sector

 Supported institutions of 
the financial system and 
the local capital market, 
such as procapitales, 
lima Stock exchange, 
and Superintendency 
of Banking, Insurance, 
and pension Fund 
Administrators to 
strengthen and consolidate 
the sector.



Palacio Salvo’s garden Palacio Salvo, Montevideo

View of Uruguayan camp
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In USD million 2010 2006-2010

Approvals  120   1,447 

   Sovereign risk  120   1,358 

   Non-sovereign risk  -     89 

Disbursements  95   714 

   Sovereign risk  95   714 

   Non-sovereign risk  -     -   

  

In USD million   2010

Loan portfolio   657 

   Sovereign risk   657 

   Non-sovereign risk   -  
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During 2010, CAF approved uSD 120 million to uruguay, all of which 
were sovereign risk operations.

In view of uruguay’s new condition as a full member of the Institution, in 
December 2010 CAF inaugurated its new country office in Montevideo 
which, according to the decentralization process, houses the infrastructure 
and corporate and financial projects divisions for the Southern region.

In the first year of the establishment of its office in the country, CAF con-
tinued supporting the uruguayan government’s public debt management 
strategy through the renewal of a contingent line of credit for uSD 120 
million.

In addition, and in line with CAF’s Agenda for Development, the Institu-
tion continued to support the ongoing programs and projects in the areas 
of electricity, water and sanitation, and road infrastructure. 

Client/Executing Agency
Oriental Republic of Uruguay-Ministry of 
Economy and Finance

Various beneficiaries

Total 

Operation
Non-committed contingent line of 
credit

Other operations with cooperation 
resources

Objective
Support the efforts of the National Government 
in the execution of its public debt management 
strategy through a preventive financing instrument 
which would provide financial resources in the event 
that access to international capital markets is not 
available under conditions consistent with that 
strategy.

Various

 Amount Term (years)

 120 18

 0.3 Various

 120.3 

ApprovAls to uruguAy 2010 (in USD million)

ApprovAls And disburseMents by product 2010 
(in USD million)
 Approvals Disbursements
Medium- and short-term loans 0 95.2
Sovereign - 95.2
Investment programs and projects - 95.2
Contingent credit lines 120 -
Cooperation funds 0.3 0.1
Total 120.3 95.3
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 From a technical assistance 

perspective, during 2010 
CAF provided support in 
various subjects of strategic 
interest for the country, 
among which it is worth 
mentioning the approval of 
a technical cooperation with 
proinfra funds for 
uSD 150,000 in favor of 
the national Corporation 
for Development (CnD), 
to conduct a workshop on 
structuring and evaluating 
public-private association 
projects regarding the 
construction and operation 
of prisons. the project 
constitutes one of the pillars 
of the prison emergency 
law introduced by the 
current government. In 
addition, the same technical 
cooperation conducted a 
training workshop on trust 
funds and fiduciary funds.
 likewise, to strengthen 

the Road Corporation 
of uruguay (CVu), CAF 
granted a non-reimbursable 
technical cooperation with 
proinfra funds for 
uSD 35,000 for the 
preparation of a manual 
on procedures to supervise 
CVu’s road contracts and 
provide training to project 
directors. 

 

 Regarding productive 
development, CAF granted 
a technical cooperation 
for uSD 124,000 to the 
Asociación empretec 
to strengthen and 
internationalize the farm 
sector productive chains, 
and the fruit, citric, and 
apiculture productive 
chains.
 In the area of social 

development, with the 
purpose of strengthening 
social inclusion and 
community integration, 
the Institution approved 
a technical cooperation 
for uSD 6,000 for the 
national System of Youth 
and Children’s orchestras 
of uruguay to support 
the strengthening of the 
musical movement through 
the first large itinerant 
workshop on orchestral 
training that will bring 
together 120 youth from 
around the country. the 
project is conducted within 
the framework of the Social 
Inclusion through Music 
program.

During 2010, 
CAF granted 
uSD 300,000 
to uruguay in 
cooperation funds. 
Resources were 
channeled directly 
to the beneficiaries 
or through the 
various special 
programs 
developed by the 
Institution.

other contributions to the sustAinAble 
developMent of uruguAy

Inauguration of CAF’s Southern regional office in Montevideo. Danilo Astori, Vice president of the 
oriental Republic of uruguay, and enrique garcia, executive president of CAF. December 2010.



Program to support the National Mass Transport System  Tocoma’s Hydroelectric Plant

Tepui, Amazonas state
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In USD million 2010 2006-2010

Approvals  1,638   3,994 

   Sovereign risk  1,638   3,803 

   Non-sovereign risk  -     191 

Disbursements  685   2,328 

   Sovereign risk  685   2,328 

   Non-sovereign risk  -     -   

  

In USD million   2010

Loan portfolio   2,228 

   Sovereign risk   2,228 

   Non-sovereign risk   -  
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Governance and social 
capital 0.2% 

Social and environmental 
development 8.5%

economic 
infrastructure 91.3%

ApprovAls by strAtegic 
AreA 2010

During 2010, CAF approved uSD 1,638 million to Venezuela, which corres-
ponded entirely to sovereign risk operations. 

It is worth mentioning the joint efforts of CAF and the Central government 
to finance the expansion of the country’s energy infrastructure. CAF contrib-
uted uSD 1,391 million (85% of the total amount approved during the year) 
to this end. In addition, the Institution approved uSD 500 million to the 
program to Strengthen the national electric System, which includes the re-
habilitation and construction of new thermal generation installations.

likewise, the Institution allocated uSD 600,000 million for the Manuel piar 
hydroelectric plant, which seeks to make efficient use of the sources of the 
Caroní River in the State of Bolívar, and continued supporting the construc-
tion of the termozulia III project by providing uSD 165 million for the 
construction and initiation of operations of the combined cycle plant located 
in Maracaibo.

In addition, CAF approved a loan for uSD 126 million for the construction of 
encapsulated sub-stations in the urban area of Maracaibo. the projects are part 
of the investments made by the national government to improve electricity 
generation capacity in the country and satisfy the projected demand of the 
national Interconnected System with improved reliability.

Furthermore, CAF approved uSD 104 million for the program to Support 
the Mass transportation System, which seeks to solve the problems of mobil-
ity, congestion, and land management of cities, as well as to optimize the reli-
ability and security of the services in operation.

In the area of social and environmental development, CAF approved uSD 140 
million for the construction of the first phase of the Simon Bolivar Social In-
clusion through Music Complex, in support of the national System of  Youth 
and Children’s orchestras of Venezuela. It is worth mentioning that the archi-
tectural project, submitted to a rigorous contest, is the best reference in latin 
America for the development of music that provides development opportuni-
ties to children and youth through the creation of spaces for the adoption of 
civic, ethical, and moral values, the adequate use of free time, and participation 
in a constructive social life. 

CAF also continued supporting other social development projects such as the 
program to Modernize and Rehabilitate the potable Water and Sanitation 
Sector, the national environmental Management and Conservation project 
to improve environmental conditions through regional laboratories of envi-
ronmental quality and the optimization of local environmental management, 
and the Yacambúj-Quíbor System.

ApprovAls And disburseMents by product 2010 
(in USD million)
 Approvals Disbursements
Medium- and short-term loans 1,635 684 
Sovereign 1,635 684 
Investment programs and projects 1,135 384 
Programatic and SWAPS   500 300 
Cooperation funds 2.8 0.8 
Total 1,637.8 684.8 
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Client/Executing agency
Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela, Ministry 
of the Popular Power for Transportation 
and Communications.

Electrificación del CaronÍ (EdELCA), 
affiliate of Corpoelec

Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela, National 
Electricity Corporation (Corpoelec)

Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela, through 
the State Foundation for the National 
System of youth and Children’s Orchestras 
of Venezuela (Fesnojiv)

Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela, through 
Electric Energy of Venezuela (Enelven)

Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela, through 
Electric Energy of Venezuela (Enelven), 
affiliate of Corpoelec

Various beneficiaries

Total 

Operation
Program to support the national mass 
transportation system

Manuel Piar hydroelectric plant 
project (Tocoma)

Program to Strengthen the National 
Electric System

Simon Bolivar Social Inclusion through 
Music Complex Project and its urban 
surroundings

Termozulia III Plant Project (second 
loan)

Project for the construction of 
encapsulated substations in sf6 in the 
urban area of Maracaibo 

Other operations with cooperation 
resources

Objective
Assist the government in the development and 
optimization of mass transportation systems in 
the main cities of the country, in particular, of the 
Caracas Metro to resolve problems of mobility, 
congestion, and land management, and improve the 
reliability and security of the services.

Strengthen and provide greater stability and reliability 
to the National Electric System, by optimizing the 
hydroelectric potential of the Lower Caroní with an 
average annual contribution of 12,100 GWh to cover 
part of the country’s electric energy deficit.

Support the investments in projects of the electricity 
sector, included in the Plan for the development of 
the National Electricity Sector (PdSEN) to improve 
electricity transmission and distribution.
Build and equip a space to conduct academic-
musical, cultural, and academic-instrumental and 
choral activities to improve the living conditions 
of boys, girls, and youth, especially the most 
disadvantaged, through social inclusion, community 
integration, and human development activities.

Increase the reliability and autonomy of the Western 
Electric System through the generation of 470 MW 
of additional installed capacity to meet the growing 
demand in the Western region of the State of Zulia, 
taking advantage of the turbo-vapor combined cycle 
technology that will enable electricity generation 
without increasing the use of fossil fuels.

Reinforce the electricity transmission and distribution 
network of the State of Zulia by building three new 
electricity substations in the urban area of Maracaibo 
that will improve the continuity and reliability of the 
supply of electric services.

Various

   

 Amount  Term (years)

 104 12

 600 18

 500 12

 140 18

 165 18

 126 15

 2.8 Various

 1,637.8 

ApprovAls to venezuelA 2010 (in millions of USd)
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 During 2010, CAF 
granted uSD 2.8 

million to Venezuela 
in cooperation funds. 

Resources were 
directly channeled 
to beneficiaries or 

through the special 
programs developed by 

the Institution.

other contributions to the sustAinAble 
developMent of venezuelA

sociAl developMent

 Supported hidroven in 
the studies to expand and 
optimize the infrastructure 
and equipment of potable 
water plants in the country.
 Supported the Ministry 

of the popular power for 
the environment and the 
Yacambú-Quibor hydraulic 
System in the evaluation of 
conditions and the state of 
the Yacambu-Quíbor project 
works for regulation and 
diversion, and in the analysis 
of the conditions necessary 
for its entry in operation.
 Supported the national 

Competition for the 
preliminary Design 
of the Simón Bolívar 
Social Inclusion through 
Music Complex and its 
surroundings.
 held a workshop for 

structuring CAF’s project 
for the use of information 
technologies in teaching 
mathematics in latin 
America.
 Supported the equal 

opportunities program 
of the Simón Bolivar 
university, whose object 
is to contribute to the 
comprehensive development 
of disadvantaged youth, 
to successfully meet the 
challenges of tertiary 
education.

sociAl sustAinAbility

 Approved the second phase 
of the Superatec human, 
technological, and Work 
Related training program 
under the social component 
of the Comprehensive 
Community Development 
program. the program seeks 
to improve the technological 
and human skills of 
approximately 1,500 youth  
to help them find jobs in the 
communities of Antímano, 
la Vega, Catia, petare, and 
Cagua.
 Supported the plan 

for the Sustainable 
Development of Social 
Infrastructure of  la Morán 
neighborhood, where 
socio-environmental and 
infrastructure projects will 
be designed to empower 
the families and organized 
groups of the community, 
especially women in high 
risk situation.
 Approved the Revenga 

Vision project: a sustainable 
local development 
model for institutional 
strengthening and 
productive support by 
providing self-management 
capacity in communal 
councils that will strengthen 
human capital formation 
in the Municipality of 
Revenga.
 Consolidated the Social 

Inclusion through Music 
program, mainly aimed at 
low-income children and 
youth.
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 Supported the procura 
paralysis Foundation for 
the implementation of the 
First luthier Workshop 
for individuals with motor 
disabilities. the initiative 
also has the support of 
the luthier of the State 
Foundation of the Youth 
and Children’s orchestra 
Systems of Venezuela.
 Created CAF’s orchestra 

of latin American Youth, 
within the framework of 
the Commemoration of 
the Institution’s fortieth 
anniversary. the orchestra 
included 230 musicians 
from the 18 shareholder 
countries, under the 
direction of Maestro 
gustavo Dudamel.
 Continued the skills 

training program for 
youth, in partnership with 
the Spanish Agency for 
International Cooperation. 
through this initiative 
support has been provided 
for the training of youth 
in the la guaira and Coro 
workshop schools.

environMentAl 
developMent

 Supported the green 
Schools Model for 
Venezuela in the 
Framework of education 
for Sustainability, 
through the Sartenejas 
technological park 
Corporation. the objective 
of this project is to design 
a model of green schools 
in the framework of the 
education for sustainability, 
and from that experience 
obtain recommendations 
for applying it in other 
regions of the country and 
of latin America in similar 
conditions.
 evaluated the 

environmental risk in 
the Mejías sub basin, 
Municipality of Antonio 
pinto Salinas, State of 
Merida, through the 
Mayor’s office of the 
Municipality of Antonio 
pinto Salinas.
 Supported the model for 

sustainable management 
of recyclable solid urban 
refuse of the Municipality 
of Chacao.

coMpetitiveness

 promoted 
entrepreneurial capacity by 
supporting the Ideas 2010 
Contest.
 Contributed to 

the strengthening of 
the entrepreneurial 
environment in Venezuela 
by sponsoring the xI 
International Seminar 
Red Motiva: university, 
entrepreneurship, and 
social responsibility.
 promoted 

competitiveness in the 
Venezuelan industrial 
sector by supporting 
the seminar the new 
International Financial 
System and its Importance 
for emerging economies.
 Developed a productive 

transformation strategy 
aimed at diversifying 
exports by organizing the 
productive Venezuela 2010 
trade Fair.
 promoted productive 

capacities by participating 
in the xVI Annual 
Competitiveness 
encounter.
 Strengthened a 

comprehensive business 
vision by supporting 
the Commerce and 
competitive services day, a 
positive vision. 

governAnce

 trained 314 individuals 
in the governance and 
policy Management 
program. Signed an 
agreement with Andres 
Bello Catholic university 
(uCAB) to provide 
continuity to the program 
for the eighth consecutive 
year.
 Signed an agreement 

with the Science and 
technology university 
Institute to train 644 
natural leaders in the 
leadership for Change 
program. leaders came 
from 39 municipalities 
from the states of Aragua, 
Anzoátegui, Bolívar, 
Carabobo, Caracas, 
Miranda, Sucre, and Vargas.
 Conducted the Regional 

program for updating 
and Improving local 
Management in the 
municipalities of Cedeño 
and piar.
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In USD million 2010 2006-2010

Approvals  828  1,765 

   Sovereign risk  500   730 

   Non-sovereign risk 328     1,035 

Disbursements  261  850 

   Sovereign risk  16   91 

   Non-sovereign risk 245     759   

  

In USD million   2010

Loan portfolio   421 

   Sovereign risk   91 

   Non-sovereign risk   330  CH
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chile
Faced with the devastating effects of the earthquake that affected a large part 
of Chile, CAF approved a donation for uSD 250 thousand to address the 
emergencies and the immediate needs of the affected population. In addi-
tion, the Institution provided a non-committed uSD 300 million loan for 
Comprehensive Support for the emergency generated by the earthquake 
aimed at the immediate attention of the victims of the disaster and to the 
reestablishment of critical services such as repair of hospitals, schools, road 
infrastructure, potable water energy, and telecommunications.

the relationship between CAF and Chile continued to strengthen with the 
approval by the Chamber of Deputies and forwarding to the Senate of the 
draft Agreement between the government and CAF for the development 
of activities in the country, which was signed in Santiago on July 15th, 2009. 
When the agreement comes into force, CAF will have the privileges and 
immunities it requires as a financial institution to initiate support operations 
both to the public and private sectors in the country.

 ApprovAls by product 2010     
(in USD million)    
  Approvals 
Medium- and short-term loans  0 
Contingent credit lines  300 
Cooperation funds  0.4 
Total  300.4 

costA ricA
In Costa Rica, CAF renewed a line of credit for Banco Improsa, S.A. to 
provide financing to the MSMes in the country. In addition, the Institu-
tion granted uSD 50,000 in cooperation funds to address the emergencies 
and material damages caused by the rains.

ApprovAls And disburseMents by product 2010   
(in USD million)    
 Approvals Disbursements
Medium- and short-term loans 0 0 
Credit lines (enterprises and banks) 10 - 
Cooperation funds 0.05 0.3 
Total 10.05 0.3 

doMinicAn republic
During 2010 CAF approved uSD 291,000 in technical cooperation re-
sources to strengthen technical education infrastructure in the area of tou-
rism. the program will be conducted by the Santa Cruz polytechnic, Mu-
nicipality of Santa Cruz del Seibo. 
In addition, the project to provide technical training to at-risk youth of 
social exclusion came to an end. executed by the Adopem Foundation, 
837 youth were trained through the project in skills such as accounting as-
sistant, administrative assistant, sales assistant, and data punching technician 
with an average rate of employment of 60%. 
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ApprovAls And disburseMents by product 2010   
(in USD million)    
 Approvals Disbursements
Medium- and short-term loans 0 45
Sovereign  - 16
Investment programs and projects - 16
Non-sovereign  - 29
Cooperation funds 0.3 0.1
Total 0.3 45.1

jAMAicA
During 2010, CAF approved a long-term loan to West Kingston power part-
ners for up to uSD 10 million to partially finance the construction of a 
thermal generation plant of 65.5 MW in Kingston. thus, the Institution 
supports initiatives that stimulate the growth of the productive sector and 
the country’s competitiveness. the project, with a total investment of 
uSD 131.7 million, is designed to ensure stability in energy supply, reduce 
energy rates at the retail level, and diminish transmission losses. once in 
operation, the company will sell the energy it generates to the local energy 
distribution company, Jamaica public Service Company.

ApprovAls by product 2010    
(in USD million)    
  Approvals 
Medium- and short-term loans  10 
Non-sovereign   10 
Total  10 

Mexico
During the year, CAF issued papers in the Mexican stock exchange for 
an amount equivalent to uSD 320 million. the operation aimed at stren-
gthening the Mexican capital market and its capacity to support national 
development. In addition, CAF renewed a revolving line of credit to the 
financial institution Compartamos, and approved a loan for uSD 25 mi-
llion to eurus, for a wind powered electricity generating plant.

likewise, CAF supported the II latin American and Caribbean social 
Sciences Congress, organized by the Facultad latinoamericana de Cien-
cias Sociales (FlACSo). the event promoted dialogue and reflection on 
subjects related to latin America.

ApprovAls And disburseMents by product 2010   
(in USD million)    
 Approvals Disbursements
Medium- and short-term loans 25 20
Non-sovereign  25 20
Credit lines (enterprises and banks) 10 -
Equity investments - 2.1
Cooperation funds 0.1 0.3
Total 35.1 22.4
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portugAl
After portugal became CAF’s shareholder in 2009, the Institution took 
steps to strengthen that country’s relations with latin America. In this re-
gard, it signed a memorandum of understanding with the Agencia para 
o Investimento e Comercio externo de portugal (AICep) seeking joint 
cooperation in subjects of mutual interest. the agreement with AICep 
will concentrate on subjects related to sustainable development and in-
tegration. In addition, the Institution held the seminar CAF’s Action in 
latin America at the headquarters of the Ministry of State and Finances, in 
which government representatives and business people had the opportuni-
ty to become acquainted with the Institution’s work.

spAin
During the year, CAF implemented a dynamic agenda of business promo-
tion and investment attraction towards latin America. In addition, it con-
tinued to organize and participate in events and visits to public and private 
institutions and to the european union institutions in Brussels, giving 
greater visibility to the Institution in the european market. 

Some meetings where CAF participated included: the signature of the 
memorandum of understanding european union-CAF in Brussels, the 
subscription of the latin America Investment Facility (lAIF) of the euro-
pean Commission; the renewal of the Ibero- American Business platform 
between CAF and unidad editorial group; the introduction of CAF in 
portugal, after the country became a shareholder, in a seminar and mee-
tings with high-level authorities of the public and private sectors; the 
european-latin American Summit, held in Madrid; the participation in 
the xII latibex Forum; the Inter-American Dialogue (SegIB) Meeting 
on trilateral Relations between latin America-united States-european 
unIon; the IFAD Assembly in Rome; the Annual Assembly of the Crans 
Montana Forum in Brussels; and the Seminar Ibero-America Invests spon-
sored by CAF-SegIB and other cooperating institutions.

ApprovAls And disburseMents by product 2010    
MultinAtionAl     
(in USD million)    
 Approvals Disbursements
Medium- and short-term loans 0 0
Non-sovereign  0 -
Credit lines (enterprises and banks) 215 164
Contingent credit lines 200 -
Equity investments 43  18.5
Cooperation funds 14.9   11.1
Total 472.9 193.6

 3,2%
Governance 

and social capital

 54,5%
Productive 

sectors, services, and 
international trade

 42,3%
Social 

and environmental 
development

other 
shAreholder countries

ApprovAls by strAtegic 
AreA 2010
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Client/Executing Agency
CHILE

Republic of Chile, through the Ministry of 
Finance

COSTA RICA

Banco Improsa

Various beneficiaries

DOMINICAN REPUBLIC

Various beneficiaries

JAMAICA

West Kingston Power Partners (WKPP)

MEXICO

Banco Compartamos

Eurus S.A.P.I. de C.V.
Various beneficiaries

MULTINATIONAL

CAF’s shareholder countries

ABENGOA, Grupo Abengoa 

Latin America Agribusiness development 
Corporation, S.A. (LAAd)
American Energy Fund I LP, TRG 
Latin America Private Equity Fund I, 
Microfinance Growth Fund (MiGroF)
Banco Latinoamericano de Comercio 
Exterior (BLAdEX), Inter-American 
Corporation for Financing Infrastructure 
(CIFI)
Various beneficiaries

Total 

Operation

Uncommitted financing facility for 
the comprehensive attention of the 
emergency caused by the earthquake 
in Chile

Uncommitted revolving line of credit

Other operations with cooperation 
resources

Other operations with cooperation 
resources

Long-term senior loan

Uncommitted and rotating revolving 
line of credit 
Non-sovereign long-term loan
Other operations with cooperation 
resources

Uncommitted financing facility for 
the Solidary Support to the Republic 
of Haití

Uncommitted rotating line with 
guarantee

Uncommitted rotating line

Equity investment in the American 
Energy Fund I L.P.

Committed rotating line of credit

Other operations with cooperation 
resources

Objective

Finance the comprehensive response to the 
emergency in Chile due to the February 27, 2010 
earthquake, including works to mitigate the impact 
of natural disasters on physical, natural, and social 
capital.

Provide financing for SMEs.

Various

Various

Support energy production through thermo-electric plants 
installed on barges at the seashore, West of Kingston.

Finance SMEs.

Finance a wind powered electric plant.
Various

Finance projects in the areas of economic and social 
infrastructure, basic services and environment for 
reconstruction after the catastrophic earthquake of 
January 12, 2010.

Support projects for the sustainable development of 
the infrastructure, environment, and energy sectors 
through the Abengoa economic group.
Provide financing for the agricultural sector of CAF 
shareholder countries.
Invest in medium-sized companies with great 
potential, with the possibility of investing in various 
projects in the region.
Finance foreign trade operations and infrastructure 
projects in the region.

Various

  

 Amount    Term (years)

 300.4   
 300.4 18
 

 10.05 
 10 3
 
 0.05 Various
 
 10 
 10 12

 35.1 
 10 3
 
 25 15
 0.1 Various

 0.3 
 0.3 Various

 472.9 
 200 18

 

 90 3

 10 5

 33 Various

 125 Various

 14.9 

 828.3 

ApprovAls to other shAreholder countries 2010 (in millions of USd)



118

 Acerías nacionales de ecuador

 Viña undurraga

 Bridge over the limon River

 Bolivia-Brazil gas pipeline

 Brazil-Venezuela electric grid 

interconnection system

 urban renewal in guayaquil

 Sucre workshop school

 Coro workshop school

 Competitiveness in the 

automotive sector

 grape, wine, and singanis 

cluster

 Agricultural cluster

 premium Venezuelan rum

 Bogota-Buenaventura road 

corridor

 la línea tunnel

 First-class ports

 urban mass transportation 

system

 Santa Cruz-puerto Suarez road 

corridor

 Social inclusion through music

 Irrigation and hydroelectric 

power generation in olmos

 “Sowing” natural gas for 

development

 transmilenio

 Southern Inter-oceanic road 

corridor

 Social inclusion through sports

 Support for the energy sector

 hydroelectric development of 

the lower Caroni

caf commemorates its fortieth anniversary and presents 
  40 emblematic initiatives from that period
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 punta del tigre thermal power 

plant

 Support for municipal 

governments in Brazil

 Bogota: a great school

 Access to potable water and 

environmental sanitation

 Biodiversity program

 la picasa railway viaduct

 Roadways integrating Argentina 

and paraguay

 tuy Medio railroad

 latin American Carbon, Clean 

and Alternative energies 

program

 expansion of the panama Canal

 Renovation of embalse’s nuclear 

power plant

 Community development

 Centrais eletricas Brasileiras

  telemedicine system

 Democratic governance

caf commemorates its fortieth anniversary and presents 
  40 emblematic initiatives from that period

ACtIVItIeS 
AnD eVentS RelAteD 
to CAF’S 40th 
AnnIVeRSARY

 120 forty yeArs

124 MAin initiAtives finAnced by cAf

 128 AcknowledgeMents

 130 strAtegic discussion

 132 grAnd AnniversAry concert

 134 ibero AMericAn Art exhibit

 136 sports And integrAtion

 138 40 initiAtives for sustAinAble 
  developMent

 
 



120
FoRtY YeARS

CAF began operations in 1970 through an agreement among the gov-
ernments of Bolivia, Chile, Colombia, ecuador, peru, and Venezuela. 
the aim was to create an important financial instrument for funding 
the integration of the countries in the Andean group. the year before, 
these countries had signed the Sub-Regional Integration Agreement, 
known as the Cartagena Agreement, which, among other things, in-
volved trade liberalization and joint industrial programming among 
member countries. Before that, they had signed the Bogota Declara-
tion in 1966 and CAF’s establishing Agreement in 1968. thus, the 
Andean group turned an ideal held by the countries in the sub-region 
into reality.

In its establishing Agreement, CAF adhered to the principles estab-
lished in the treaty of Montevideo, the punta del este Charter, the 
Bogota Declaration, and the Declaration of the presidents of America 
in punta del este.

the establishing Agreement stated that it was necessary for each coun-
try that had signed the Bogota Declaration to adopt the goal of creating 
better economic conditions for participating in a latin American com-
mon market, and it also expressed the desire to achieve harmonious, 
balanced growth in the sub-region.

Collective and joint actions by the countries in the sub-region were 
deemed important for their development and for the creation of a 
common market together with other latin American nations. In this 
context, the first initiatives financed by CAF were mainly aimed at 
promoting integration. In its first decade, the Institution financed ex-
pansion projects of small enterprises in the private sector in order to 
increase their productivity and exports to the Andean countries. In 
1972, CAF granted the first loan to finance a physical integration proj-
ect between two of its shareholder countries.

During the first years of its operation, CAF signed cooperation agree-
ments with other national and multilateral development organizations 
in order obtain long-term financing for implementing its first five-
year plan.

In 1974, CAF’s efforts to create a mechanism for promoting and fi-
nancing trade in shareholder countries, and to increase sub-regional 
integration through export growth and diversification, led to the estab-
lishment of the Andean trade Financing System (SAFICo, in Spanish).
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In 1975, CAF entered a new stage of administrative and institutional 
consolidation in which it established new goals for its operations, and 
focused on obtaining financial and technical resources and on promot-
ing new projects.

In 1976, the countries signed an agreement to harmonize their finan-
cial, monetary, and exchange policies. this led to the establishment, 
in 1978, of the Andean Reserve Fund which would later become the 
latin American Reserve Fund.

In 1979, CAF changed its credit policy to give priority to development 
projects that were national priorities for its shareholder countries. that 
year, the Andean Council of Ministers of Foreign Affairs and the An-
dean parliament were created.

the decade of the 1980’s witnessed new efforts to increase latin Amer-
ican integration. the treaty of Montevideo led to the creation of the 
latin American Integration Association (AlADI, in Spanish), with Ar-
gentina, Bolivia, Brazil, Chile, Colombia, ecuador, Mexico, paraguay, 
peru, uruguay, and Venezuela as participants. the new association re-
sulted from the transformation of the latin American Free trade As-
sociation (AlAlC, in Spanish), created in the 1960’s, into a more flex-
ible regional integration organization. the AlADI made it possible for 
other countries to adhere to the treaty of Montevideo.

In the early 1980’s, CAF’s Board approved a new operational policy 
which enabled the Institution to expand its field of action, consolidate 
its position as the financial arm of Andean integration, and boost the 
process of development in shareholder countries. this policy led the 
Institution to finance its first energy development projects, including 
an electrical power plant in ecuador, an electric grid interconnection 
in Bolivia, and a network of gas pipelines in Colombia. At the same 
time, CAF took its first steps in the social arena by signing cooperation 
agreements with the International Fund for Agricultural Development 
(IFAD), the opeC Fund, and the World Food program. this gave rise 
to a new role, as fund manager, for the execution of projects financed 
by other institutions.

however, the economic crisis of the 1980’s led to the stagnation of 
the integration process until a change in the Andean group’s orienta-
tion decisively boosted new integration mechanisms. In alignment with 
the group’s vision, CAF adopted a number of strategies to increase its 
resources and extend its field of action. In December 1989, the Institu-
tion doubled its authorized capital and invited other latin American 
countries to become members. this led to the incorporation of Mexico 
as a shareholder in 1990, followed by Brazil in 1992, trinidad & tobago 
in 1994, and Jamaica, panama, and paraguay in 1997.

During the 1990’s, CAF began an important program for raising funds 
in capital markets in order to increase its support to shareholder coun-
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tries. Its active presence in the main international markets significantly 
increased the Institution’s financial strength and its capacity to support 
regional development and integration.

In 1993, CAF’s obtained an investment grade risk rating for the first 
time. every year since then, it has obtained the highest credit ratings 
of all latin American frequent issuers. over the years, the Institution’s 
optimal financial performance has led to more than ninety five percent 
of its financing coming from international sources, thus making more 
financial resources available to larger projects in shareholder countries.

the new millennium marked the beginning of another transformation. 
CAF expanded its activities in the rest of the continent and became 
one of the main multilateral development organizations in latin Amer-
ica. Argentina and uruguay became shareholders in 2001, followed by 
Costa Rica and Spain in 2002, and the Dominican Republic in 2004.

the evolution of integration processes in the region inspired an amend-
ment of CAF’s establishing Agreement to allow other latin American 
countries to join as Series A shareholders. thus, Argentina, Brazil, and 
uruguay became full members in 2007, the same year the Institution 
opened its first regional office in europe. In 2008, panama and para-
guay became full members, and in 2009, portugal became the second 
european union shareholder.

In 2009, with a view to maintaining CAF’s increasing influence in lat-
in America, its executive Board and Shareholders’ Assembly gave swift 
and unanimous approval to a significant capital increase of uSD 2,500 
million, an amount which will double its paid-in capital.

CAF plays a significant anti-cyclical and catalytical role in supporting 
the policies and strategies of the governments in its shareholder coun-
tries. throughout its history, and especially since the 1990’s, it has con-
sistently achieved record figures in approvals and loan portfolio, with 
very significant growth rates.

the Comprehensive Development Agenda proposed by CAF comple-
ments its financial and business strategy in the search for high, sustained, 
and quality growth. the agenda addresses a series of strategic programs in 
the areas of infrastructure, social development and sustainability, the en-
vironmental competitiveness, and international insertion, among others. 

CAF’s growth and financial soundness has enabled it to fund ever larger 
projects. Since the 1990’s, it has positioned itself as the main source of 
multilateral financing for infrastructure in latin America. Moreover, 
the Institution has become the region’s leading multilateral organiza-
tion in energy financing. the private sector has been present in the 
project portfolio since CAF’s earliest years, in recognition of the im-
portance of adding the efforts of State and markets to stimulate and 
accelerate the region’s productive development.
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the research agenda and forum for discussion of public policy issues 
provided by CAF has positioned it in a privileged position in its rela-
tions with important think tanks, policy makers, and academic com-
munities. thus, the Institution helps shape a development agenda while 
strengthening its own role in supporting latin America’s rightful place 
on the world stage.

In 2010, CAF commemorates its fortieth anniversary with eighteen 
countries and fourteen regional private banks as its shareholders. CAF 
continues committed to its mission of achieving sustainable develop-
ment and regional integration in latin America.
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YEAR OF 

APPROVAL 

1971

1971

1972

1972

1973

1973

1974

1974

1975

1975

1976

1978

1978

1983

1984

COUNTRY 

Bolivia

ecuador

Bolivia

Venezuela

chile

Venezuela

colombia

chile

Bolivia

ecuador

ecuador

Peru

colombia

ecuador

ecuador

AMOUNT
(in USd million)

1.3

0.5

0.18

3.02

8.50-11.00

1.82

5.42

2

4.13

11

2.35

20

38.51

14

3.89

One of the first cAF’s operations aimed at financing the execution 

of a project.

One of the first loans granted to an Andean multinational private 

enterprise with capitals from chile and ecuador.

First loan granted to a private enterprise in Bolivia.

First loan for physical integration of two cAF shareholder 

countries.

First financial leasing operation executed by cAF.

First loan granted to a private enterprise in Venezuela aimed at 

financing installations for the production of exports to the Andean 

Group.

First loan in a long and fruitful relationship between this bi-

national colombian and Venezuelan company and cAF.

One of the first loans granted to a private enterprise in chile, 

aimed at exports for the Andean Group.

First loan for a telecommunications project. Later, cAF financed 

similar projects in ecuador, Peru, and Venezuela.

First loan to this private enterprise in ecuador, with which cAF has 

maintained a long relationship.

The first of several loans granted to a number of companies in 

ecuador and Peru to plant African Palm with the aim of producing 

edible oil.

First loan aimed at financing the construction of oil pipelines. 

Later, cAF financed similar projects in Bolivia and ecuador.

This operation supported the company´s technological 

development, which was favored by the Andean integration 

authorities. it would have been difficult for ecOPeTrOL to 

obtain financing from the commercial banking system or from 

multilateral banks since they would have required at least one 

favorable opinion from a reputable international engineering firm 

regarding the design developed by this company.

First cAF financing for an electricity generation project. Throughout 

its history, cAF has financed a multitude of similar projects, 

including some thermal generation projects in shareholder countries.

First operation aimed at financing a comprehensive rural 

development program, through coordinated credit and technical 

assistance for improving physical and social infrastructure, 

increasing production and agricultural productivity. Later, cAF 

financed similar programs in colombia and ecuador.

DESCRIPTION

Loan to the republic of Bolivia for the installation of a network of 

rice silos in the department of Santa cruz.

Loan to ecuatoriana de Atún, S.A. (ecUATÚn) to finance a fishing 

complex for catching, refrigerating and freezing tropical tuna.

Loan to inversiones Generales, S.A. (inGeSA) to finance an 

increase of working capital in a bicycle factory.

Loan to the Puente sobre el río Limón, c.A. to finance the 

construction of the bridge over the Limon river in order to 

improve the land connection between colombia and Venezuela.

Financial leasing operation for the purchase of a B-707-320c 

aircraft for Lanchile 

Loan to moldeados Andinos, c.A. (mOLAncA) for the installation 

of a factory producing molded pulp for eggs and food stuffs, 

both for the domestic market and for export to cAF’s shareholder 

countries..

Loans to monómeros colombo-Venezolanos, S.A. to finance 

the installation and working capital for increasing the use of 

its installed capacity for the production of caprolactama and 

fertilizer.

Loans to Viña Undurraga, S.A. to finance: the construction of an 

industrial building for the last stages of wine production; bottling 

machines; and working capital, all within an expansion project.

Loan to empresa nacional de Telecomunicaciones de Bolivia 

(enTeL-Bolivia) for the installation of a terrestrial microwave 

station.

Loan to La cemento nacional to finance civil works and 

equipment for the construction of a new plant..

Loan to Palmeras de los Andes, S.A. to finance the development, 

planting, and maintenance of approximately 2,700 hectares of 

African palm.

Loan to Petróleos del Perú (PeTrOPerÚ) to finance the 

construction of the northern Peruvian oil pipeline.

colombia Loan to empresa colombiana de Petróleos (ecOPeTrOL) 

to finance the expansion of its oil refinery located in cartagena. 

The project included the design of a viscosity reducing unit to be 

built by the company’s engineers.

Loan to the instituto ecuatoriano de electrificación (ineceL) to 

finance complementary works of the Paute hydroelectric projects, 

Stage i, Phases A and B..

Loan to the republic of ecuador to partially finance a 

comprehensive rural development Program in Guamote, in the 

province of chimborazo..

MAin initiAtives finAnced by cAf
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YEAR OF 

APPROVAL 

1985

1985

1985

1986

1987

1988

1989

1991

1992

1992

1993

COUNTRY

Bolivia

colombia

Peru

Peru

Bolivia

ecuador

colombia

colombia

Venezuela

Venezuela

Venezuela

AMOUNT

(in USd million)

10.5

2.8

8.9

28.9

29.15

1

9.5

1.9

55

47

12.9

First loan aimed at financing an electric grid interconnection. 

Later, cAF financed similar projects in this Argentina, Bolivia, 

Brazil, costa rica, ecuador and Venezuela.

 

This project had two characteristics that made it noteworthy: i) 

it would eliminate a source of contamination of the magdalena 

river: the continuous discharge of gypsum, and ii) company 

engineers had developed the production process which constituted 

an in-house technological development.

Pulverized coal would be suspended in water to be injected 

into the clinker ovens, replacing fuel oil. When this plant was 

projected, the high cost of fossil fuels amply justified the 

investment. Later, when oil prices fell, the company faced 

difficulties in repaying the loan, but the difficulties were overcome 

when oil prices rose once more.

First loan operation aimed at financing oil production projects. in 

later years, cAF financed similar operations in Argentina, Bolivia, 

ecuador, and Peru.

First loan aimed at financing fixed telephone projects. Later, cAF 

financed similar projects in ecuador and Peru..

Loan to a physical integration project between two cAF 

shareholder countries, fulfilling one of the main objectives for 

which cAF was created. 

First loan aimed at financing gas pipelines in cAF shareholder 

countries. in later years, cAF financed the construction of a gas 

pipeline between Bolivia and Brazil and another in Peru.

 

First loan aimed at financing a specific hotel project. Before 

then, cAF had granted program loans to national development 

entities to finance tourism projects, but this was the first 

direct loan granted by cAF to finance a Project in the tourism 

sector. Later, the institution financed similar projects in Bolivia, 

ecuador, and Peru

First loan granted to Venezuela for the construction of a 

hydroelectric plant, in this case, the second energy Project of 

the lower caroni basin. Since then, cAF has participated in the 

financing of all the hydroelectric projects developed in the lower 

caroni, such as caruachi and Tocoma.

First loan to finance a petrochemical project located in the 

General de división José Antonio Anzoátegui Petrochemical 

complex, in the state of Anzoátegui.

First loan with limited guarantees completely structured by cAF, 

granted to a private enterprise with mixed capital.

DESCRIPTION

Loan to the republic of Bolivia to finance the execution of the 

central-Oriental interconnection project to be executed by the 

national electricity enterprise (ende).

PLoan to monómeros colombo-Venezolanos to finance a project 

for producing 20,000 tons annually of anhydrous sodium sulfate 

from residual gypsum (calcium sulfate) generated in the 

petrochemical complex, which until then had been discharged 

into the magdalena river.

Loan to LAr-cArBÓn c.A., a private company, to finance the 

installation of a coal treatment plant in order to replace fuel oil 

as a fuel in two cement plants. 

Loan to Petróleos del Perú (PeTrOPerÚ) to increase oil 

production in the fields of Laguna and Zapotal.

Bolivia Loan to cooperativa de Teléfonos Automáticos de Santa 

cruz de la Sierra Ltda. (cOTAS) to partially finance a project for 

expanding the telephone service in the urban area of Santa cruz 

de la Sierra. it included 28,000 new telephone lines and four 

digital plants.

ecuador Loan to the State of ecuador to finance the construction 

of a concrete bridge over the San miguel river, which would 

connect colombia and ecuador.

colombia Loan to Promotora de interconexión de Gasoductos, S.A. 

(PrOmiGÁS, S.A.) to finance the regional Gas Pipelines project 

aimed at carrying natural gas to mid- and smallsized cities in the 

northern region of colombia

colombia Loan to establecimientos comerciales, Ltda. to finance 

the expansion of the Hotel casa medina in Bogota.

Venezuela Loan to cVG electrificación del caroní, c.A. (edeLcA) 

to partially finance the macagua ii Hydroelectric Plant, with a 

generating capacity of 2,548 mW

Loan to Supermetanol, c.A. to partially finance the construction of 

a plant for the production of chemical grade methanol (metanol ii 

project) with a capacity of 2,000 metric tons per day.

Loan to Aceites y Solventes Venezolanos, S.A. (VASSA) for the 

construction of a plant for producing medicinal grade white oils 

and aliphatic solvents, with an annual capacity of 15,000 tons and 

25,000 tons, respectively.
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YEAR OF 

APPROVAL  

1994

1994

1994

1995

1995

1996

1996

1997

1997

1997

1997

1998

COUNTRY 

colombia

Venezuela

Venezuela

Bolivia

Peru

Brasil

colombia

Bolivia

Brasil

Brasil

ecuador

Panama

AMOUNT
(in USd million)

20

22

6.8

0.5

80

86

25

75

100

55

24.5

60

First loan to a private enterprise aimed a financing the 

construction of road infrastructure through the concession system.

First operation aimed at specifically financing a Project with a 

distinctive environmental scope.

First guarantee operation so that an enterprise could obtain a 

foreign loan.

This operation was the first of a series of cAF loans to financial 

institutions that provide credit to urban and rural micro 

enterprises, which have proven records, in Bolivia, colombia, costa 

rica, ecuador, mexico, Panama, Paraguay, Peru and Venezuela. in 

this way, cAF has become one of the main supporters of the micro 

finance sector in the region.. 

First financing granted to Peru for highways that are a part of the 

main axis of the Andean Highway System.

First loan granted to Brazil to finance the Brazil-Venezuela 

integration corridor.

First operation aimed at financing a specific education program. 

cAF has continued financing education programs in colombia and 

ecuador

First structured co-financing operation using the A/B mechanism, 

where cAF participated with an A portion of USd 30 million to 

cover the political risk of the four banks that participated in the B 

segment with USd 45 million.

.

Financing of an important gas pipeline that would change the 

energy matrix of Bolivia and Brazil. This was the first loan to Brazil 

in support of its energy integration with Bolivia

First loan in Brazil to finance its energy integration with 

Venezuela.

Although this was not the first loan granted by cAF to finance 

social programs, it deserves special mention since the plan 

included well-defined specific projects from the moment it was 

conceived.

First long-term loan granted to Panama to finance road 

infrastructure for connecting the inter-Oceanic corridor with ports 

and airports on the Panamanian coasts, with port service and ship 

maintenance centers, with industrial processing, urban service 

centers and with Panama city.

DESCRIPTION

Loan to Proyectos de infraestructura, S.A. (PiSA), a private 

company, to partially finance the expansion Project of the Buga-

La Paila highway, with the construction of a second 50 kilometer 

long roadway.

Loan granted to the republic of Venezuela for the environmental 

cleanup of Lake maracaibo, which included the construction of 

interceptors, collectors, and four treatment plants which would 

process 98% of the domestic and industrial sewage discharged 

into the Lake.

Guarantor of cVG Ferrominera del Orinoco, S.A. in a loan from 

cOBrASmA of Brazil to finance the importation of 120 wagons for 

carrying iron ore.

Bolivia Loan to caja de Ahorro y Préstamo Los Andes, S.A. with 

resources from the Human development Fund (FOndeSHU, in 

Spanish) managed by cAF, to finance micro credit operations in 

the city of el Alto and the rural areas of cochabamba.

Loan to the republic of Peru to finance repairs and paving of 288 

kilometers of the ilo-desaguadero Highway on the route through-

moquehua-Torata-mazocruz-Pichupichuni-desaguadero, as well 

as the maintenance of 65.5 kilometers of asphalt.

Loan to the Federative republic of Brazil to finance a project for 

improving and paving segments of the Br-174 highway between 

manaus and the border with Venezuela, with a length of 970.5 

kilometers, a platform nine meters wide, and one meter wide 

shoulders.

Loan to Financiera de desarrollo Territorial (FindeTer) to finance 

a Private education Program which included investments in civil 

works, studies, and technical assistance for the construction, 

expansion, and restructuring of the physical plant, furniture, and 

equipment in public and private educational institutions at the 

elementary, secondary, and tertiary levels.

A/B loan to Boliviana de energía eléctrica, S.A. (cOBee), a 

private company, to finance the expansion of the Zongo Valley 

Hydroelectric System, located 50 kilometers from La Paz, with the 

aim of increasing generation capacity by 63.2 mW.

Loan to Transportadora Brasileira Gasoducto Bolivia-Brasil to 

finance the Brazilian stretch of the Bolivia-Brazil gas pipeline.

Brazil Loan to centrais elétricas Brasileiras, S.A. (eLeTrOBrAS), 

to finance the electric grid interconnection between Venezuela 

and Brazil.

ecuador Loan to the republic of ecuador to partially finance the 

Social Program La esperanza, which included 49 specific projects 

and an institutional strengthening component. The executing 

agency was the ministry of Social Welfare through the ecuadorean 

episcopal conference. 

Loan to the republic of Panama to finance a road infrastructure 

Program in the inter-Oceanic corridor which included the 

construction, improvement and expansión of several main 

highways in this corridor
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YEAR OF 

APPROVAL 

2000

2003

2004

2005

2005

2006

2008

2009

2009

COUNTRY

colombia

costa rica

Peru

Bolivia

colombia

Argentina

Panama

Brasil

Peru

AMOUNT
(in USd million)

95

30

50

180

24.77

80

400

40

65

in this A/B loan, cAF participated with an A portion of USd 28 

million, covering the political risk to the banks participating in the 

B segment, which contributed USd 67 million. The change from 

a simple to a combined cycle would optimize the use of energy 

resources. Thus, this became the first regional level project to 

receive the approval of the evaluation panel of the United States 

initiative of Joint implementation (USiJi), which recognized it as 

reducer of carbon dioxide emissions since it complied with the 

criteria established in the clean development mechanism (cdm) 

of the Kyoto Protocol. in this respect, cAF’s Latin American carbon 

Program played a key role in structuring and presenting this 

project to the USiJi. 

First long-term loan granted to costa rica to finance energy 

transportation infrastructure. it should be mentioned that the 

Banco centroamericano de integración económica (Bcie), also 

participated in financing this project. This has strengthened 

working ties with this important development bank.

First loan granted to a private enterprise to execute a project for 

transfering water from one basin to another. it was also the first 

non-sovereign risk loan granted by cAF in that country.

Although cAF began its program for financing physical integration 

projects in the region with another operation in Bolivia, in 1986, 

this loan is noteworthy due to the importance of the project which 

it supported. in fact, the road connection between Santa cruz de la 

Sierra (Bolivia) and corumba (Brazil) is the most direct. it also has 

the greatest economic and social potential for establishing trade 

between the two countries and between the Andean community 

(cAn), chile, and mercOSUr. it will also facilitate Bolivia’s access 

to the Paraguay-Parana Waterway and to the Atlantic Ocean.

First cAF’s loan granted to a shareholder country aimed 

specifically at health services. This loan to the republic of 

colombia increased the quality and coverage of the immunization 

system, where cAF contributed to improving equity and opportunity 

in access a basic service.

Loan aimed at financing a road integration project between 

Argentina and chile, in line with one of cAF’s main objectives: to 

promote integration between the countries of the region.

One of the largest non-sovereign risk loans granted by cAF. The 

project will have a significant economic impact on the country and 

the region.

First operation to finance projects for electricity Generation which 

use wind power, and thus, generate clean energy.

.

PFirst loan aimed at financing the production of biofuel. it 

is part of cAF’s strategy to support the production of clean 

alternative energies. The project has other noteworthy aspects, 

such as the installation of a water transportation and storage 

system which will use the water resources of the chira river 

to change arid land, not currently in use, into a sugar cane 

plantation with world class productivity.

DESCRIPTION

A/B loan to La Sierra Leasing co. to finance the Optimization and 

expansion Project of La Sierra Thermoelectric Plant, from 300 

mW to 480 mW. empresas Públicas de medellín (ePm) owned this 

plant. The project included adapting the plant from a simple cycle 

system to a combined cycle.

Loan to refinadora costarricense de Petróleo (recOPe) to 

partially finance the third stage of the multipurpose Limon-La 

Garita Pipeline, which included the construction of 123 kilometers 

of multipurpose pipeline with five pumping stations. .

Loan to concesionaria Trasvase Olmos, S.A. to partially finance 

the Olmos Project Stage i-Transfer Works, which included the 

utilization of the waters of the Olmos, Huancabamba, Tabaconas 

and manchara rivers on the Atlantic basin, for expanding the 

agricultural zone by irrigating fallow lands on the Pacific basin.

Loan to the republic of Bolivia to partially finance the Santa cruz-

Puerto Suarez integration road corridor. This was approximately 

600 kilometers long and was one of the missing segments of 

South American physical integration.

Loan to the republic of colombia to support the expanded 

immunization Program for 2005-2008, which increased the 

populations’ access to immunization services during that period.

Loan to the republic of Argentina to partially finance a project for 

repairs and Paving of the international Border Pass el Pehuenche, 

in order to develop the road infrastructure leading to a strategic 

pass in the Andean mountains between Argentina and chile.

.

Loan to Panama canal Authority (AcP, in Spanish) to partially 

finance the comprehensive expansion Project of the Panama 

canal.

Long-term corporate loan to energimp, S.A. to finance aeolic 

generation projects in the country.

Long-term loan to maple etanol, S.r.L. to partially finance the 

development of an agro-industrial complex for the production of 

sugar cane with which to produce biofuel (anhydrous ethanol) for 

export, mainly to europe. 
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Institution during the periods 1976-1981 and 1986-1991, 
respectively. 



129



130

strategic discussion

As part of its contribution to the issues of 
development in the region, CAF organized 
an important strategic discussion meeting 
in Caracas, where members of the Board 
of Directors, academics, policy makers, and 
representatives from the public and private 
sectors of the region exchanged ideas on a 
vision of latin America toward 2040.  

In addition, CAF presented the fifth edition of 
its economic and Development Report entitled 
Local Development: Towards a new role of cities and 
regions. the meeting, held in Caracas as part of 
the activities to commemorate the Institution’s 
fortieth anniversary, gathered representatives 
from diverse interest groups.
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grand anniversary concert

on July 8th, in the Rios Reyna hall of the teresa Carreño theater, CAF presented its 
latin American Youth Symphonic orchestra. over 200 musicians from 18 countries 
were reunited in a concert directed by Maestro gustavo Dudamel. 

Young musicians are the result of CAF’s program for Social Inclusion through Music, 
that has promoted the comprehensive training of 40,000 children and youth, close to 
400 maestros, and 50 luthiers in the continent. 
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ibero american art exhibit

on July 6th, CAF presented 40 pieces from renowned Ibero-American 
plastic artists. the event, which was part of the activities organized to 
commemorate the Institution´s fortieth anniversary, was held at CAF’s 
Art gallery located at the Institution’s head office in Caracas. 
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Carrera La Paz 3,600, second edition
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sports and 
integration

As part of the activities program of the 
fortieth anniversary, CAF organized the 
second edition of the Carrera la paz 3,600 in 
Bolivia. In addition, the Institution organized 
the first CAF’s marathon in Caracas, which 
counted with the participation of close to 
3,500 athletes. Both events seek to promote 
integration through the practice of sports.

First CAF’s marathon, Caracas
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40 initiatives for sustainable 
development

At the end of the year, CAF presented its anniversary publication 40 Initiatives 
for Sustainable Development to Board Members and representatives from the 
Diplomatic Corps in Caracas. the book contains the most relevant initiatives 
supported by the Institution in its 40-year history.
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CAF’S AgenDA 
FoR CoMpRehenSIVe 
DeVelopMent

144 infrAstructure AgendA

144  Road Infrastructure program
145 Sustainable energy program
147 urban transportation program
150 Information technology program
151 geoSuR program
152 ports and Airports logistics program 
155 Cross-Border Integration and Development 

program

156 sociAl developMent AgendA

156 Comprehensive Water program
157 Comprehensive urban Development program
157 Quality of education program
158 health program
158 Social Investment program
158 governance program

160 sociAl sustAinAbility AgendA

160 program for Social Inclusion through Music
161 program for Social Inclusion through Sports
162 Comprehensive Community Development 

program

164 environMentAl developMent AgendA

165 Biodiversity program
165 latin American Carbon, Clean and Alternative 

energies program
168 natural Disaster Risk Management program

170 AgendA for coMpetitiveness, internAtionAl 
insertion, And public policies

170 Competitiveness program
171 Access to Financing for Micro, Small, and 

Medium-Sized enterprisess
173 Corporate governance program
173 economic and public policy Research programan agenda 

for comprehensive 
development that seeks 
high, sustained and quality 
growth 
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CAF’s Agenda for Comprehensive Development seeks to achieve high, 
sustained, sustainable and quality growth in latin America: high, to start 
bridging the development gap relative to high-income countries and to 
compensate for population growth; sustained, to avoid erratic and vola-
tile growth and to ensure the continuity of economic progress and so-
cial improvement over time; sustainable, in its environmental and social 
dimensions, to ensure the inter-generational viability of the natural capital, 
respect cultural diversity, and sustain democratic governance in the region; 
and quality, implying that growth should be inclusive, thereby benefiting 
the largest possible percentage of the population in an asymmetrically eq-
uitable manner in favor of the least favored segments, so as to reduce in-
equality and poverty in the region.

Achieving the objective of quality growth should be based on the preser-
vation of the progress made in macroeconomic stability, improvements of 
microeconomic efficiency, and a definite impulse to initiatives that pro-
mote equity, social inclusion, and the reduction of poverty. 

Moreover, improvements in efficiency and microeconomic productivity 
must be supported by a transformation of the latin American economies 
that improves their productivity and adds value to the national comparative 
advantages. Improvements in productivity require increases in all forms of 
capital investments: human, social, natural, physical, productive, and finan-
cial, since the only way to increase productivity and reduce social gaps is 
through a greater availability and quality of different forms of capital, espe-
cially including human capital.

likewise, in order for economic growth to be less dependent on the chang-
ing conditions of the international economic environment, the multiple 
ongoing integration and regional and international insertion processes in 
latin America are especially important. these processes are promoted, sup-
ported, and in some cases anticipated by CAF. In fact, since the beginning 
of the 1990s CAF anticipated the widest integration processes in South 
and latin America by substantially expanding its shareholder base. today, 
this base includes 18 countries, enabling the Institution to play an increas-
ingly active integrationist role in the region.

Integration processes have political, social, and economic dimensions. In 
the economic dimension, the first objective is to achieve economies of 
scale that facilitate gains in efficiency and productivity and promote a com-
petitive international insertion. the second objective is the development of 
integrated regional markets that could become large internal markets for 

 CAF’S AgenDA 
 FoR CoMpRehenSIVe 
 DeVelopMent
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high, sustAined 
And quAlity growth

MACROECONOMIC 
STABILITy

Investments 
in all forms 
of capital

Productivity 
increases

Social 
inclusion

MICROECONOMIC 
EFFICIENCy

ENVIRONMENTAL 
SUSTAINABILITy

SOCIAL
EqUITy

latin American countries, contributing to a reduction of the correlation of 
economic cycles of the countries in the region with international cycles, 
to strengthen the economic agents, to create new business and investment 
opportunities, and to improve the negotiating capacity of the region in 
international fora. 

CAF’s action in subjects related to integration in latin America is multidi-
mensional and includes a diversity of areas such as:

• Regional physical integration
• Cross-border integration and development
• Economic and commercial integration
• Energy integration
• Financial integration
• Regulatory and logistics integration
• Cultural and social integration
• Environmental cooperation
• Promotion of concerted approaches in international negotiations

this comprehensive vision of sustainable development and integration is 
the result of an important program of research and knowledge dissemina-
tion on subjects related to development and public policies, built both 
on the intellectual efforts of the Institution and the dialogue with public, 
private, and academic sectors of latin America. the strategic programs that 
follow respond to this vision.
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INFRASTRUCTURE AGENDA

CAF’s activities in infrastructure have been aimed at improving access con-
ditions and articulating territories in shareholder countries, as well as in-
tegrating and articulating the territories of latin America. In addition, the 
Institution’s actions seek to develop the platform of basic infrastructure in 
the cities of the region and support the energy sector. through these di-
mensions, CAF’s Infrastructure Agenda is part of the agenda for economic 
growth and international insertion of the countries, as well as of the social 
development and poverty reduction agenda.

In addition, CAF offers innovative financing mechanisms for public and 
private investment programs, providing support through specialized advi-
sory and technical cooperation resources for the design, preparation, and 
structuring of new projects.

the following pages describe the main strategic programs of the Infra-
structure Agenda.

roAd infrAstructure progrAM

through this program, CAF promotes and supports the transfer of best 
practices in road infrastructure intervention in the countries of the region, 
seeking to optimize the use of resources and their efficient conservation. 
Its objectives include: 
  Supporting knowledge management through the permanent transfer of 

experiences, by improving the technical and administrative capacity of 
public and private institutions in charge of implementing road projects. 

  Disseminating best practices in matters regarding road infrastructure in 
the stages of planning, study, design, construction, supervision, mainte-
nance, and operation through the publication of technical documents 
(notes, bulletins, articles, conferences) and by conducting events (courses, 
workshops, seminars).

  Incorporating recommendations and special conditions in the road pro-
grams and projects financed by the Institution in the countries of the 
region, related to issues established in the program to optimize the use of 
resources and the permanence, quality, and sustainability of the works. 

  Identifying the different types of contract models for road projects 
by recognizing their positive aspects and advantages, and disseminat-
ing them among the governments of the region. 

the program focuses on the following topics, recognized as having the 
greatest interest for the national and sub-national governments:

technological innovation, research, and promotion of best practices in 
the design and construction of road works 
Seeks to promote and facilitate dialogue and disseminate knowledge regard-
ing issues related to research, innovation, and technological development for 
the intervention of road infrastructure through the use of new technologies, 
especially associated to concept of economic pavements and low-traffic roads. 

 
cAf proMotes the 
trAnsfer of best 
prActices in the 
intervention of 
roAd infrAstructure 
in the countries 
of the region, in 
order to optiMize 
the use of resources 
And their efficient 
conservAtion.
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As part of this effort, the Institution supports the development of practical 
guides for road construction and maintenance, updating technical specifi-
cations, and training courses aimed at public sector employees, consultants, 
builders, and suppliers.

In addition, the Institution has supports the creation of technological in-
novation centers.

road maintenance

Based on the experience of the countries of the region, CAF promotes 
road infrastructure maintenance programs that enable the design of poli-
cies, strategies, and maintenance plans for the urban an inter-urban road 
network. With this objective, the Institution supports road agencies in the 
process of adjusting the existing institutional schemes at the national and 
sub-national governmental levels, emphasizing the design of innovation 
contract models that incorporate the concepts of levels of service, risk al-
location, long-term view, management systems, information technology 
applications, and research and development. 

Another aspect promoted by these initiatives is the generation of jobs as-
sociated with road infrastructure conservation activities.

road security

As a component of the urban Mobility observatory, the Infrastructure 
Agenda seeks to establish actions to strengthen policies, programs, statistics, 
and projects related to road security.

At the same time, it promotes the inclusion of road security audits in the 
urban and inter-urban road projects financed by CAF, that enable the in-
troduction of conditions to reduce accidents, both in the design phase and 
during the construction and operation of the road. 

In addition, CAF holds international events to train staff, consultants, and 
contractors in issues such as road security audits for the projects, and sup-
ports governments in preparing technical documents regarding the com-
ponents of road infrastructure that contribute to road security.

sustAinAble energy progrAM

CAF considers important that the resources allocated to support the en-
ergy sector add value to the comparative advantages of latin America and, 
especially, that the investments that are urgently required contribute to the 
achievement of a comprehensive development where energy becomes a 
cross-cutting catalyst to these objectives. 

Starting from the dialogue on sector problems with shareholder countries, 
the Sustainable energy program seeks to identify barriers and opportu-
nities to promote the development of sustainable energy systems in the 
countries of the region, to establish and promote strategic lines of action 
related to energy. 
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the specific objectives of the program include: 
  promoting the development of integration projects, acting as a catalyst 

of these types of projects, aimed at creating or strengthening develop-
ment axes that will constitute the basis for establishing integrated mar-
kets in the future.

  promoting the improvement in quality and coverage of electric services 
through the development of policies, regulatory actions, commercial 
strategies, and implementation mechanisms to expand the coverage of 
electric services and reduce losses, among others. 

lines of Action of the sustAinAble energy progrAM

 Network ArticulAtion

promotes a Shared energy Agenda among regional organizations such 
as olade, CIeR, eClAC, ARpel, and Aladi, among others, to generate 
synergies and actions on common matters. 

 ProMotion of integrAtion projects

together with the Regional energy Integration Commission (CIeR), 
conducts a study and hold discussion fora to analyze electric interconnec-
tions in the region. Implementation of workshops in Bolivia, Colombia, 
panama, paraguay, and uruguay. 

At the request of the governments of Bolivia, paraguay, and uruguay, de-
veloped a pre-feasibility study to analyze the best way to send gas from 
Bolivia to the other two countries. 

 Support to renewAble energies

With the energy Secretariat of the State of Sao pablo, implements a proj-
ect to identify the potential of small hydroelectric plants. Supports other 
states and countries in this area.

 knowledge generAtion

Conducts studies on the state of renewable energy technologies which 
included aeolic, solar, ocean-generated, biofuels, nuclear, and geothermal 
sources. 

 QuAlity And coverAge of electric services

together with the World energy Council of Colombia, initiated the study 
on energy and poverty in that country to identify policies to incorporate 
urban areas not currently connected to the network. 

 Contribution to institutionAl developMent And definition 
  of public policies in the region

Conducted the following studies and initiatives: analysis of the feasibility 
of including electric trains in ecuador; inventory of small-scale hydroelec-
tric projects in peru; diagnosis of the current situation of nuclear energy 
in Argentina; current situation of renewable energies in latin America; 
analysis of congestion income in the electric interconnection between ec-
uador and Colombia; analysis of the technical-economical pre-feasibility 
of the electric interconnection between Bolivia, Chile, Colombia, ecua-
dor, and peru, among others. 
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  Supporting the development of renewable energies and energy efficiency, 
especially of small hydroelectric, biofuel, and aeolic energy plants, among 
others, in addition to studies and evaluations of the generation potential. 
likewise, promoting and supporting energy efficiency both from the de-
mand and the supply sides, to mitigate global climate change. 

  Contributing to the region’s institutional development and the formu-
lation of public policies, acting as a platform for the exchange of ex-
periences and knowledge at a technical-political level that supports the 
development of pragmatic and cooperative energy policies. In addition, 
supporting the establishment of an indicative plan at national and sub-
regional scales that consider the efficient use of resources and the devel-
opment of the necessary infrastructure. 

  promoting national and regional networks related to the creation of 
knowledge, exchange of experiences, support in matters pertaining to 
corporate government, among others, to help achieve a competitive 
equilibrium in the sector and serve as a catalyst for actions and efforts 
in favor of collective actions that generate synergies among participat-
ing actors to benefit the countries and the sector. likewise, the program 
seeks to promote the development of a network of industrial institu-
tions to generate local technology.

urbAn trAnsportAtion progrAM

to address the constantly increasing urbanization in the region and the de-
mands on the transportation sector, CAF has recently developed an agenda 
of urban mobility and transportation that responds, on the one hand, to 
the analysis resulting from the work in the sector and, on the other, to 
the requests of national and sub-national governments for renewed urban 
transportation systems.

given that the different components of mobility are a comprehensive por-
tion of the urban dynamics, CAF seeks to support and finance initiatives 
that advance in the construction of sustainable cities in the environmental, 
institutional, infrastructure, economic, and financial dimensions.

the urban areas of latin America concentrate a large portion of the social and 
environmental problems faced by the countries, and their improvement is one 
of the main challenges faced by the region. In this framework of intervention 
opportunities, CAF has directed its efforts at the reorganization and consoli-
dation of public transportation networks, the modernization of systems, the 
renewal of institutional frameworks, and the reduction of negative externalities, 
seeking to strengthen the sustainability of urban-regional territories.

In addition, the Institution provides support and assistance in the planning 
and design of transport systems, as well as in renewed institutional initiatives. 

Regarding financing, the demand is concentrated on the construction of 
mass transportation infrastructure (Bus Rapid Transport and subways). Re-
sources are allocated mainly for the construction of civil works, acquire 
electromechanical equipment, and integrated systems.
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  CAF’s contribution Total investment
                                 (in USd million)      (in USd million) 
 ANDEAN AXIS  
1  Colombia: Buenaventura-Bogota Corridor  447.0 1,116.6
2  Ecuador: Amazonic connection with Colombia and Peru (Troncal del Oriente Road)  93.8 152.7
3  Ecuador: Segmented Bridge Project over the Babahoyo River  123.0 133.9
4  Peru: Rehabilitation of the Huancallo-Huancavelica Railroad  14.9 18.8
5  Venezuela: Railroad connection between Caracas and the National Network 360.0 1,932.0
6  Venezuela: Support for commercial navigation in the Orinoco-Apure River Axis 10.0 14.3
 GUYANA SHIELD AXIS  
7  Brazil: Venezuela-Brazil Road Interconnection  86.0  168.0
8  Brazil: Venezuela-Brazil Electric Interconnection   86.0  210.9
9  Venezuela: Railroad Studies Guyana City-Maturin-State of Sucre 2.6  2.6
10  Venezuela: Road Studies Guyana City (Venezuela)-Georgetown (Guyana)  0.8  0.8 
 AMAZON AXIS  
11  Ecuador: Central Trans-Andean Connection  33.7 54.5
12  Ecuador: South Trans-Andean Corridor 70.0 110.2
13  Ecuador: International Cargo Transfer Port in the Port of Manta 35.0 525.0
14  Peru: Northern Amazon Road Corridor  110.0 328.0
15  Peru: Pre-investment border region with Ecuador 5.3 8.7
16  Peru: Central Amazon Corridor (Tingo Maria-Aguaytia-Pucallpa) 3.5 13.6

 PERU-BRAZIL-BOLIVIA AXIS  
17  Bolivia: Guayaramerin-Riberalta Highway 42.0 45.5
18  Brazil: Road Integration Program in the State of Rondônia 56.4 134.2
19  Peru: Southern Inter-Oceanic Road Corridor (tranches 2, 3, and 4) and guarantees for private structuring 1,004.5 2,091.0

 CENTRAL INTER-OCEANIC AXIS  
20  Bolivia: Bolivia-Chile Road Integration Corridor  138.9 246.0
21  Bolivia: double Lane La Paz-Oruro 250.0 265.1
22  Bolivia: Santa Cruz-Puerto Suarez Road Integration Corridor (tranches 3, 4, and 5)   280.0 585.5
23  Bolivia: Bolivia-Argentina Road Integration Corridor 314.0 642.0
24  Bolivia: Bolivia-Paraguay Road Integration Corridor 135.0 285.6
25  Bolivia: Integration “y” Road Program 97.3 141.3
26  Bolivia: La Guardia-Comarapa Road Rehabilitation 21.0 34.7
27  Bolivia/Brazil: Bolivia-Brazil Gas Pipeline 215.0 2,055.0
28  Bolivia: Support Program for the Transportation Sector PAST IV  22.4 32.3
29  Bolivia: Transredes Gas Pipeline 88.0 262.8
30  Bolivia: Complementary Road Works 70.0 73.0
31  Bolivia: Transport Program 150.0 221.2
32  Peru: Bolivia-Peru Road Integration Corridor 48.9 176.6

 MERCOSUR-CHILE AXIS  
33  Argentina/Brazil: Paso los Libres-Uruguaiana Border Center 10.0 10.0
34  Argentina: Buenos Aires-Santiago Corridor (Laguna La Picasa Alternate Route) 10.0 10.0  
35  Argentina: Buenos Aires-Santiago Corridor (Laguna La Picasa Alternate Railroad Route)  35.0 50.0
36  Argentina: Buenos Aires-Santiago Corridor (access to Paso Pehuenche, RN40 and RN145)  106.7 188.1
37  Argentina: Electrical Interconnection Rincón Santa María Rodríguez  400.0 635.0
38  Argentina: Electrical Interconnection Comahue-Cuyo  200.0 414.0
39  Argentina: Road Integration Program between Argentina and Paraguay 110.0 182.0
40  Brazil: Regional Integration Program-Phase I. State of Santa Catarina 240.0 1,026.7
41  Uruguay: Mega-lease of the Main Road Connections with Argentina and Brazil  32.6 65.5
42  Uruguay: Road Infrastructure Program Phase II and III 25.0 136.5
43  Uruguay: Public Investment in Road Infrastructure Program  240.0 757.1
44  Uruguay: Program to Strengthen the National Electrical System 150.0 621.0
45  Uruguay: Thermal Plant Project Punta del Tigre 28.0 165.4

 CAPRICORN AXIS  
46  Argentina: RN81 Pavement  90.2 126.2
47  Argentina: Access to the Jama Pass (Argentina-Chile)  54.0 54.0
48  Argentina: Studies for the Rehabilitation of the Jujuy-La quiaca Railroad  1.0 1.0
49  Recovery and rehabilitation of General Belgrano Railroad 326.0 408.0
50  Bolivia: Tarija-Bermejo Highway Program 74.8 200.0
51  Paraguay: Rehabilitation and pavement of the RN10 and RN11 Integration Corridors and complementary works 19.5 41.9

 PARAGUAY-PARANA WATERWAY AXIS   
52  Studies to improve navigation, institutional management, and financial schemes  for the operation of the Argentina, Bolivia, Brazil, Paraguay, and Uruguay Waterway 0.9 1.1
53  Argentina: Railroad works Program for the Integration of Argentina and Paraguay 100.0 166.0  
 MESOAMERICA  
54  Costa Rica: Investment Program in the Atlantic Corridor 60.0 80.2
55  Panama: Highway rehabilitation and improvements program 80.0 125.6
56  Panama: Binational Bridge over the Sixaola River 5.5 13.4
57  Panama: Panama Canal Authority, expansion program 300.0 5.250.0 

 OTHERS 210.0 812.0

 TOTAL 7,324.2 23,623.1 

physicAl integrAtion projects finAnced by cAf
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one of the noteworthy initiatives of this program is the consolidation of 
the urban Mobility observatory (oMu) for latin America, launched in 
2008 with the inauguration of a public access Internet portal that seeks to 
improve the information available to authorities, the academia, and civil 
society. this initiative comprises the establishment of a network of authori-
ties, specialists, and academics of 15 cities in latin America to systematical-
ly observe the mobility of the cities with standardized scientific methods. 
the oMu provides the region with relevant, trustworthy, and updated 
information, and generates a periodic image of the mobility in the main 
cities. In this context, eight studies have been initiated in the areas of fi-
nancing, political economy, institutional development, traffic management, 
road security, energy, and the environment. 

this observatory constitutes an instrument for the design of efficient pub-
lic policies, the prioritization of projects, and the effective management 
of transportation systems. In addition, it complements the technical and 
financial support that CAF offers governments of the region for the con-
ceptualization, design, and implementation of investment projects. 

inforMAtion technology progrAM

globalization goes as far as Internet goes. the ability to create wealth at 
the base of the pyramid, at the local level, is possible when these communi-
ties, adequately organized and productive are able to connect with global 
markets, hungry for new products and specialized services. this is possible 
thanks to the new information and communications technologies (tICAF, 
for its Spanish acronym). 

the purpose of the Information technology program is to accelerate the 
positive effects of the tICAF in shareholder countries. With adequate 
knowledge, today it is possible to connect the most distant communities 
with their markets, to develop online education, and improve health with 
telemedicine. It is not necessary to wait for technologies to mature in 
developed countries in order to adapt them since it is already possible to 
create more efficient and effective comprehensive development patterns.

through the program, CAF has a regional of information and communi-
cation technologies. the Institution is able to identify the main dilemmas, 
and offer best practices in response to them. the findings are a result of a 
research conducted in ten countries in South and Central America, and the 
development of a technical-economic model called highways with fiber 
that presents the main barriers for the adoption of these technologies and 
facilitates their installation and availability. this highways-with-fiber policy 
has been implemented in Colombia and peru as an official policy in the 
development of new infrastructure. 

the study conducted identified multiple barriers for the implementation of 
these technologies. one of the main challenges for their development has 
been the disaggregation of the sectors. the study shows that where there has 
been a comprehensive development of telecommunications infrastructure, 
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that is, where the most remote urban or rural populations have been con-
nected, where human capital is motivated and generates new ventures with 
knowledge-intensive companies, and where public policies and incentives 
for investment and growth have been established, this has resulted in a pros-
perous digital economy that creates jobs and exports products and services, 
and opened a space for social inclusion and citizen tolerance.

For this reason, tICAF directs its efforts to evolve simultaneously in four di-
mensions, that is, infrastructure, human capital, institutional initiatives, and the 
digital economy, including information technology products and services. 

the Comprehensive Information technology Development Index was 
developed in order to measure the progress made in these four dimen-
sions, rating the South American countries according to the four afore-
mentioned criteria.

As a result of the in-depth study of these dimensions, a series of strengths 
and weaknesses were identified in each country. In turn, the tICAF pro-
gram has developed ad-hoc programs to address each dimension in a co-
ordinated manner. this will result in customized solutions to shareholder 
countries to address their needs, with a comprehensive vision that com-
bines these dimensions and maximizes the benefits of information tech-
nologies for sustainable development. 

geosur progrAM

the planning and development of physical infrastructure for the integra-
tion of latin America requires adequate access to integrated, geo-refer-
enced, and standardized spatial information. the information must be 
available for planners and decision-makers simply and quickly, enabling its 
adequate use and incorporation in the planning stage of the projects. to 
this end, CAF developed its ConDoR system in 2000, a first computer-
based tool aimed at identifying and preventing the main environmental 
and social impacts associated with large infrastructure projects in the An-
dean region.

Continuing this line of action, in 2007 CAF initiated the development of 
the geoSuR program. the initiative led by CAF and the pan-American 
Institute of geography and history, uses the network of latin American 
geographic institutes to make geographic information available to the pub-
lic for the planning and analysis of activities related to development. the 
Web services developed or sponsored by geoSuR offer access to official 
maps, aerial photographs, and geographic data prepared by the geographic 
institutes of the countries on subjects such as topography, hydrology, popu-
lation, cities, the environment, and infrastructure. geoSuR gathers them 
for public use in a single website. 

geoSuR provides geographic services in a Web platform with tools to 
obtain, locate, consult, manipulate, and analyze spatial information on latin 
American countries and the region. Access is free, and does not require 
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special software. All the services mentioned are available at www.geosur.
info and have been developed with the support of the u.S. geological 
Service and several geographic institutes of the region. 

Among its achievements, the program has developed the first regional 
South American geographic site, and the operation of the first topographic 
processing service in the world, due to its geographic extension and high-
resolution. Currently, more than 80 map services from 20 participating 
institutions are available for consultations in the geoSuR site, including 
over 8,000 descriptive bibliographic records of the existing spatial data. 

the available geographic data in these geo-services enable the develop-
ment of new areas of action. In example, the availability of a high-reso-
lution digital elevation model of latin America, combined with the use 
of high-quality hydrological data, has enabled a detailed evaluation of the 
hydroelectric potential of some regions in South America, as in the case of 
the state of Sao paulo, in Brazil. 

With a consolidated presence in South America, the program has recently 
expanded to Central America, the Caribbean, and Mexico, to establish the 
technological base of the first infrastructure for spatial data in latin America. 

ports And Airports logistics progrAM

CAF has a long-standing participation in ports and airports and has 
closely followed the conceptual evolution on the subject. Studies con-
ducted in 2000 by harvard university and the universidad politécnica 
de Valencia evidenced the importance of ports and logistic nodes in the 
national and international trade of Andean countries where they consti-
tute platforms through which more than 80% of exported and imported 
goods are traded.

later, CAF sponsored a study to evaluate the quality of port services in the 
17 most important ports of South America. the study evidenced that the 
inefficiency of the logistic chains of the ports had the potential of offsetting 
the competitive advantages of the countries of the region, so it was neces-
sary to create a program that would help improve port competitiveness. As 
a result, the First-Class ports program was implemented in Buenaventura 
and Cartagena (Colombia), guayaquil (ecuador), el Callao (peru), and 
puerto Cabello (Venezuela). Currently, the program has expanded to the 
ports of Altamira and lázaro Cárdenas (Mexico), and paita, Matarani, and 
punta lobitos (peru).

the First-Class ports program seeks to improve port competitiveness, de-
fining the composition of port communities, usually comprised of hun-
dreds of companies and public entities. After this first recognition, a tech-
nical audit and a process evaluation are conducted so that the design and 
re-engineering proposal of the port logistic processes are undertaken in 
the following stage. process improvements in the port community may 
produce dramatic results regarding time-frames and efficiency. In ports 
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where the community has achieved high levels of commitment to quality 
of service, the comprehensive quality system known as Marca de Garantía 
has been implemented. this system, which originated in the port of Va-
lencia, offers service guarantees to clients and provides economic com-
pensation to clients whose expectations are not met. Starting in 2007, the 
institutional framework of this program is in charge of the latin American 
Association of port Quality (AlCp), which created chapters in Colombia, 
ecuador, peru, and more recently, in Mexico. 

As the subject evolved, CAF started to support related subjects such as 
short-distance navigation (ocean highways), one-stop services for foreign 
trade (VuCe), the relationship between ports and cities, and the environ-
mental impacts of these activities. the objective is to optimize the logistics 
and competitiveness of port clusters. CAF has also advised governments on 
the process of port infrastructure concessions (ecuador), and financed the 
expansion or improvement of ports in several countries, including Argen-
tina, Colombia, and peru. In recent years, the Institution has accompanied 
the development of the pacific Arch Initiative, comprising all the latin 
American countries on the pacific coast, enabling greater support to port 
logistics and competitiveness.

CAF has followed a similar strategy on the subject of airports. the Insti-
tution’s involvement began half-way through the decade with a study of 
the Airports of the Andean Sub-region (ASAn, for its Spanish acronym) 
and sector studies conducted under the IIRSA Initiative. At first, the seven 
most important airports of the Andean countries were studied, including 
their legal and physical dimensions, and user satisfaction. Recommenda-
tions were delivered to each country and, as a result, several initiatives have 
been undertaken through technical cooperation and financing.

Within the framework of the IIRSA Initiative, an evaluation was con-
ducted on the legal and institutional barriers to the flow of people and 
merchandise by air. At the same time, a dialogue was initiated with the 
aeronautic authorities of several countries, especially peru, to explore the 
implementation of quality service programs in this sector. In addition, 
projects have been implemented to locate, award in concession, and fi-
nance airport infrastructure.

Regarding dissemination of knowledge, CAF has prepared studies on the 
economic impact of port development and has delivered texts for editing 
on South American port infrastructure and policies, and on the financing 
options for the purchase of ships and airplanes.

CAF also approved the execution of a program to evaluate the difficulties 
and advantages of the air connectivity of the pacific Arch Initiative coun-
tries among them and with Asia. In addition, the Institution initiated con-
versations with the World Bank and the economic Commission for latin 
America and the Caribbean, based on the Institution´s experience, to start 
a joint program to develop public-private associations by training and pro-
viding conceptual support to the countries and regions of latin America.
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cross-border integrAtion And developMent progrAM 
CAF promotes a strategic vision of border integration among shareholder 
countries that seeks adequate planning and coordination of programs to 
benefit from the shared potential for development, the opportunities for 
cooperation, and for strengthening dialogue and mutual trust in cross-
border regions.

through the program, the Institution sponsors more than 30 initiatives 
aimed at the design and implementation of bi-national cross-border de-
velopment and integration master plans, and the creation of Border Inte-
gration Zones. likewise, the Institution supports the community policies 
adopted by the countries within the framework of unasur, the Andean 
Community, and Mercosur aimed at promoting joint territorial organiza-
tion, planning, and prioritizing shared projects related to physical, eco-
nomic and productive integration, promotion of sustainable human de-
velopment, and institutional and community strengthening to encourage 
coexistence and cooperation in border regions

the initiatives are undertaken with non-reimbursable technical coopera-
tion resources of the Cooperation and Border Integration Fund (CopIF), 
created by CAF in 2008. Its purpose is to support the timely identifica-
tion, preparation, and implementation of high-impact projects that pro-
mote sustainable human development in the border regions of shareholder 
countries to strengthen cooperation, dialogue, mutual trust and cross-bor-
der integration at bilateral and multilateral levels. opened with a uSD 4 
million initial contribution from CAF, CopIF is opened to contributions 
from shareholder countries and multilateral organizations and institutions, 
which expects to increase up to uSD 25 million. 
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sociAl developMent AgendA

CAF is committed to the sustainable development of the region, and promotes 
social and environmental sustainability as one of the strategic priorities of its 
interventions. Within this framework, the financing of projects, programs, and 
initiatives of high social impact also requires institutional strengthening, allianc-
es and agreements among the various actors, and enhancing the understanding 
and solutions of social and environmental challenges.

this strategy for comprehensive sustainable development seeks to:
 Incorporate the social and environmental dimensions as cross-cutting 

issues to promote the supply of sustainable basic social services, mainly 
for the poorest and excluded sectors of society.

 Contribute to the development of human capital by promoting equi-
table access to quality education and health.

 preserve and promote community and cultural development in the region.
 promote the creation of opportunities for productive and quality em-

ployment for the most vulnerable groups of society.

Actions to support countries are structured through the following social 
development programs that stem from a comprehensive vision, aligned 
with the guidelines described above.

coMprehensive wAter progrAM

CAF supports the initiatives of the countries in the region aimed at increas-
ing access and improving the quality and sustainable management of po-
table water and sanitation services. to achieve this objective, it is necessary to 
promote a comprehensive view of water resources and their administration, 
improve the quality and efficiency of investment plans, strengthen sector in-
stitutions, and accompany the political leadership of the governments.

In this context, CAF’s strategy is focused on assisting shareholder countries 
in structuring financial and investment plans, programs, and projects with 
high social and environmental impacts, aimed at the following objectives: i) 
promote an adequate administration of water resources, from their genera-
tion and conservation to its use and return to water bodies; ii) facilitate the 
expansion of coverage and the adequate and continuous provision of potable 
water, sanitary sewage, and residual water treatment services, with emphasis 
on the most vulnerable populations; iii) promote the institutional and regu-
latory strengthening of the sector and improve management, transparency, 
and performance of the companies or entities that operate these services. 

through its Comprehensive Water program, CAF promotes irrigation and 
rural development projects that enable small producers and rural inhabit-
ants to improve their living conditions under a comprehensive territorial 
development approach.

to achieve the expected catalytic effect from the interventions, CAF pro-
motes sector research, horizontal cooperation between companies, and 
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strategic alliances with other international organizations that operate in 
the region, working in close coordination and cooperation with them.

During 2010, CAF conducted a regional study on the status of potable wa-
ter and sanitation services in the 50 main cities of 10 shareholder countries. 
the objective of the study was to promote the generation of knowledge 
for the sustainable management of urban water resources in shareholder 
countries and included: i) obtaining updated and consistent information 
on the coverage and quality of the supply of potable water and sanita-
tion services in selected cities, and on the performance of the entities that 
operate these services; and ii) identifying projects with a high potential to 
advance social development interventions, prioritizing water supply proj-
ects or programs for human consumption, sanitary sewage, residual water 
treatment plants, and housing.

coMprehensive urbAn developMent progrAM

through its Comprehensive urban Development program (pRIDu), 
CAF supports the countries in the region to improve the quality of life and 
living conditions of the populations in marginal urban areas. this program 
includes the development of investment projects, sector studies, and the 
generation and systematization of the knowledge related to the adaptation 
of informal settlements. 

Investment projects within the program seek to improve the habitat 
through housing designs that are consistent with the local urban plan-
ning and management. these include investments in housing, relocation of 
families located in high-risk areas, basic potable water and sanitary instal-
lations, rain water drainage, installation of public services such as energy 
and telephony, access road pavement, the design and construction of public 
areas, and the establishment of health and educational facilities. 

In 2010, CAF published various studies containing best experiences and suc-
cessful projects with a high potential for replicability. In addition, the Institu-
tion organized regional contests to choose initiatives for improving living 
conditions in informal settlements, and is developing a reference website that 
comprises best practices in housing rehabilitation and improvement. 

quAlity of educAtion progrAM

under the premise that quality education is one of the most effective in-
struments for the development of human capital, also resulting in increased 
competitiveness and social equity, CAF promotes programs and projects 
focused on technical and technological higher education, as well as pro-
grams to improve educational infrastructure.

the Institution offers shareholder countries a program to strengthen tech-
nical and technological education, improving its supply, quality, and rel-
evance as a response to the new demands of the productive sector, in line 
with technological changes and globalization. likewise, CAF promotes the 
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generation and recovery of infrastructure to meet the new educational 
requirements, and enable the full development of the abilities of educa-
tional actors, financing technical feasibility studies and supporting different 
financing schemes for educational infrastructure. 

During 2010, the Institution held a workshop in Caracas to structure a 
project that will benefit from the information technologies of teaching-
learning process of mathematics in latin America. the workshop attracted 
researchers and representatives of teaching initiatives in the areas of math-
ematics, cognitive development, social networks, and use of information 
technologies to support education. the purpose of the workshop was to 
complete the conceptualization of the initiative by reviewing and enrich-
ing the preliminary working document produced by the project’s team. 

heAlth progrAM

people’s right to quality health care is the leading principle on which CAF 
has based its health care strategic program. the Institution accompanies 
shareholder countries in projects to expand and improve the supply of 
health services, facilitating access to financing mechanisms and instruments, 
and implementing systems that work in synergy with public and private 
sectors. In turn, as part of its commitment to strengthen the quality of sup-
ply, the Institution enables knowledge access and exchange with tools that 
guarantee the highest levels of efficiency and equity in the investments. 

For CAF, strengthening health management involves both known and new 
practices and tools, such as information and communication technologies. 
Management seeks to close the access gap to quality services. the Institu-
tion also seeks to strengthen health management as an instrument for the 
regional integration of countries through joint work among health actors 
in border areas, and the representatives of regional health networks, such as 
unasur’s health Council. 

sociAl investMent progrAM

Investments made by countries in social sectors, such as water, health, educa-
tion, habitat, and rural development are key to overcoming structural pov-
erty and low-growth rates. Conscious of the needs of shareholder countries, 
and supporting their development plans, CAF grants long-term loans to the 
governments to ensure the timely execution of public investment projects. 
Initiatives are mainly aimed at these sectors to ensure compliance with the 
budget and facilitate increases, improvements, and adaptation of the levels of 
service, as well as coverage, productivity, access, and training, among others. 

governAnce progrAM

During 2010, CAF continued strengthening democratic governance 
through actions that reinforce efficient institutions and participative societ-
ies. the Institution bases its strategy on four lines of action: i) promote the 
ethical behavior and democratic culture of social actors, ii) promote the 
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development of institutions with efficient and transparent rules and proce-
dures, agile in their response to citizen demands, iii) support decentraliza-
tion and citizens’ participation processes, and iv) identify and train natural 
leaders. During 2010, the governance programs continued their imple-
mentation consolidating and expanding to other shareholder countries. 

governance and political management program

Since 2001, its implementation in the Andean region is conducted in alli-
ance with the george Washington university. At year-end 2010, Argentina, 
Mexico, and panama were fully incorporated. the program’s objective is to 
offer a comprehensive view of economic and social development problems, 
and enable the ability to transform this vision into an articulated frame-
work for action that takes into account technical elements, negotiation 
issues and political feasibility, and economic and social issues. At the end of 
the year, graduates from Argentina, Bolivia, Colombia, ecuador, Mexico, 
panama, peru, and Venezuela reached 10,700. the program has coverage in 
each country and is conducted with the support of local universities. Its 
content is developed in modules delivered over a six-month period. 

leadership for change program

Initiated in Colombia in 2002, the program seeks to consolidate a na-
tional vision and civic-democratic values in natural leaders. through a six-
month training process that complements their knowledge with tools and 
instruments, it enables participants to exercise their citizenship and develop 
community actions with responsibility and integrity, while raising aware-
ness about their country’s reality. 

the leadership for Change program is a pioneering and innovative pro-
gram that provides tools to analyze and exercise leadership. It is imple-
mented at a national level in six countries in latin America in alliance 
with educational institutions in each country. At year-end, 18,160 natural 
leaders had been trained in the program.

program for regional updating and improvement of local management

this program’s objective is to conduct a preliminary diagnosis in local 
public institutions to develop action plans for the improvement and mod-
ernization of the territorial Information System, and the Municipal plan-
ning System, with special emphasis on tools for territorial, strategic, and 
financial planning. the program seeks to improve efficiency in organiza-
tions, strengthening their capacity to plan, manage, increase revenues, and 
coordinate their actions, obtaining resources to ensure greater efficacy of 
services and addressing the needs of citizens.

At year-end 2010, the municipalities attended through this program included el 
Alto, el torno, Montero, oruro, Sucre, tarija, tiquipaya, trinidad, and Warnes, 
in Bolivia; Armenia, Barrancabermeja, Floridablanca, Manizales, popayan, ta-
bio, tunja, and Zipaquira, in Colombia; Ambato, Duran, latacunga, Machala, 
Manta, portoviejo, Riobamba, and Santa Rosa, in ecuador; Arequipa, Breña, 
Chiclayo, Jesus Maria, lince, piura, tacna, and trujillo, in peru; and Cedeño, el 
hatillo, girardot, lecheria, naguanagua, piar, and Sucre, in Venezuela. 
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sociAl sustAinAbility AgendA

CAF is committed to reducing poverty and diminishing inequities in the 
region, especially in its shareholder countries. to this end, the Institution 
contributes to the consolidation and implementation of a comprehen-
sive development agenda strengthening socio-productive capacities and 
social fabric, and preserving and promoting culture and sports as a so-
cial inclusion tool. these activities acquire special relevance in excluded 
communities where, in alliance with partners, existing social capital net-
works are strengthened. 

CAF promotes the following programs in the area of social sustainability: 
program for Social Inclusion through Music, program for Social Inclu-
sion through Sports program, and Comprehensive Community Devel-
opment program.

progrAM for sociAl inclusion through Music

this program has been one of CAF’s most relevant investments in social 
responsibility in the last 10 years, and has enjoyed great international rec-
ognition. Music, due to its capacity to enhance intellectual, physical, emo-
tional, spiritual, and expressive abilities of individuals, is universally recog-
nized as an ideal educational tool. Aimed mainly at low-income children 
and youth, the program is an excellent social rescue tool accompanied by 
a human training that praises the individual’s most noble values and helps 
strengthen family and community bonds by articulating the social fabric. 

the program is comprised of the Itinerant latin Conservatory (instrument 
training), Voces latinas a Coro (choral training), the latin luthier Itiner-
ant Workshop, and in each one of them, the teaching the teachers aimed 
at training future local teachers with a multiplier and sustainable effect. 
the program operates in Argentina, Bolivia, Brazil, Colombia, ecuador, 
panama, paraguay, peru, uruguay, and Venezuela. 

the comprehensive training activities promoted through this initiative are 
complemented with credit support from the Institution to strengthen the 
orchestra systems for youth and children in Venezuela. In fact, CAF financ-
es the construction of the Simon Bolivar Social Inclusion through Music 
Complex as a physical-spatial platform that enables an adequate expansion 
of the program.

It is worth noting that 24% of the social sustainability projects approved 
during 2010 that is, an investment of uSD 1,600,000, were aimed at pro-
viding continuity to the program for Social Inclusion through Music. 
During the period, the number of beneficiaries totaled 7,000 low-income 
and excluded children and youth.

Within the framework of the commemoration of the Institution’s 40th 
anniversary, CAF gathered its latin American Youth orchestra. the 
group included 230 musicians from 18 shareholder countries that par-
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ticipated in an eight-day preparation and a great concert directed by 
Maestro gustavo Dudamel. 

likewise, CAF reinitiated the activities of the Itinerant latin Conservatory 
with workshops for orchestra training in Argentina, Brazil, Bolivia, Colom-
bia, ecuador, panama, peru, and uruguay. the workshops offered individual 
classes and lectures, and elements such as instrument positioning, auditory 
development, and scales. Close to 115 youth benefit from each workshop. 

In addition, the Institution initiated the Voces latinas a Coro workshops in 
Bolivia, Brazil, Colombia, ecuador, panama, peru, uruguay, and Venezuela. 
the initiative provides choral training, leadership skills, and works with 
a latin American repertoire with children and youth choirs. each choir 
training workshop benefits approximately 250 children and youth.

through the teaching the teachers program, CAF gathered musical lead-
ers from Argentina, Bolivia, Brazil, Colombia, ecuador, panama, paraguay, 
peru, and uruguay. the April meeting was chaired by Maestro Jose Anto-
nio Abreu and served to validate each country’s needs of musical training. 

A second meeting held in the facilities of the Center for Social Inclusion 
through Music provided training in sectional workshops in Caracas. the 
event counted with the participation of well-known musicians from Ar-
gentina, Bolivia, Brazil, Colombia, ecuador, panama, paraguay, peru, and 
uruguay who, in addition to receiving technical lessons and lectures, visited 
some centers of the Venezuelan orchestra System and luthier workshops. 

through the luthier component of the program, CAF supports Funda-
cion procura de la paralisis in Venezuela in the implementation of the first 
workshop for people with motor control disabilities. this initiative is also 
supported by the luthiers of Fundacion para el estado de Sistemas de or-
chestas Juveniles e Infantiles de Venezuela, aimed at training 15 individuals 
in this first stage of the pilot project, which would provide beneficiaries 
with an alternative source of income. 

progrAM for sociAl inclusion through sports

Since 2005, CAF supports the development of human training programs 
based on the use of sports to improve the quality of life of girls, boys, and 
youth in latin America. Focusing on the 2014 Soccer World Cup in Brazil, 
in 2010 CAF renewed its commitment in this area with a program that 
will service 10 countries of the region and integrate important interna-
tional allies that support the initiative. 

the program seeks to harmonize physical development through sports 
with a comprehensive training in skills for life and work, as well as gender 
equity and health prevention and care.

In addition, the program seeks to strengthen and consolidate institutions 
that support this international effort in favor of children through train-
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ing and internationally recognized practices. Its mission is to achieve the 
sustainability of the institutions enabling them to consolidate as organiza-
tions that achieve a balance between quality sports development and social 
development. the goal is to benefit 30,000 children and youth each year 
through Academia tahuichi in Bolivia, Academia Colombianitos in Co-
lombia, Fundacion Amiga in ecuador, Academia Cantolao in peru. 

coMprehensive coMMunity developMent progrAM

this program, with three components, supports projects with a focus on 
sustainability that improve the quality of life of the beneficiaries creat-
ing opportunities for development through their productive inclusion and 
comprehensive development, while generating social capital to empower 
the beneficiaries. the main beneficiaries are communities excluded from 
the formal socio-economic model, with emphasis on those located close 
to CAF’s infrastructure projects. 

Productive component. Support is provided to low-income commu-
nities to improve their capacity to generate sustainable income through 
training and technical assistance, input supply (seeds, tools, equipment, 
among others), and strengthening their social capital. 

Social component. this component includes: i) training at-risk youth 
on labor insertion; ii) supporting social infrastructure (construction and 
improvement of schools, medical facilities); and iii) developing health ini-
tiatives (disease prevention and family planning). 

Cultural component. Focuses on supporting, strengthening, rescuing, 
and developing the cultural and physical heritage of the region. During 
2010, 57% of the social sustainability projects approved were included in 
the Comprehensive Community Development program. projects with a 
productive component concentrated 33% of the total. twenty-nine per-
cent of the projects were related to youth training and labor insertion, and 
14% seek to improve social infrastructure.

It is worth mentioning that the comprehensive community development 
projects have benefitted close to 58,000 individuals, especially those that 
provide access to comprehensive education through information and 
communication technologies, as well as technical training to improve and 
strengthen the productive capacities of small producers in rural areas.
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environMentAl developMent AgendA

throughout its history, CAF has developed an environmental strategy 
with two main objectives: i) permanently generate and improve the 
frameworks, spaces and processes that guarantee the Institution a respon-
sible environmental and social management; and ii) support shareholder 
countries in the conservation and sustainable use of their natural re-
sources and their ecosystems.

to undertake its first objective, the Institution has defined an Institutional 
environmental Management plan which promotes environmental corpo-
rate responsibility activities with respect to administrative issues, its physi-
cal facilities at the Institution’s headquarters, and country offices in share-
holder countries.

likewise, CAF has designed and implemented an environmental and So-
cial Management System for operations to comprise policy guidelines, 
methodological approaches, procedures, instruments, and resources related 
to the environment to facilitate decision-making in each phase of the loan 
approval process and operation. CAF’s environmental and Social Manage-
ment System for operations aims at guaranteeing the physical and envi-
ronmental sustainability as well as the social responsibility of the opera-
tions financed by the Institution. the System integrates, in a cross-cutting 
approach, all the technical, human and financial resources available within 
each phase of the credit process, to adequately internalize environmental 
and social considerations in all of the Institution’s areas of action. 

to this end, the system includes a series of procedures, instruments, and 
technical methodologies, especially designed by CAF, which provide de-
cision-making elements in the different consultation instances, and defini-
tion within the credit process, while guaranteeing an adequate environ-
mental and social management of operations.

With respect to the second objective of its environmental strategy, CAF 
has designed and implemented a series of environmental programs to pro-
mote and support national and regional initiatives for the conservation of 
nature and the sustainable use of the region’s natural capital, as well as to 
strengthen the environmental sector in each shareholder country. these 
include the Biodiversity program (BioCAF), the latin American Carbon, 
Clean and Alternative energies program (plAC+e), the natural Disaster 
Risk Management program (pReVeR), and the program for Sustainable 
Development in Financial Institutions. 

In addition, the Institution has strengthened the environmental sector in 
shareholder countries through an offer of innovative financial products to 
address emergencies resulting from natural disasters; significant investments 
in environmental and social control, remediation, and compensation in the 
areas of influence of the operations financed by the Institution, and through 
the financial support provided to a large number of technical cooperation 
projects within the framework of environmental strategic programs.
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biodiversity progrAM

the objective of the Biodiversity program is to promote the conservation 
and sustainable use of ecosystems, natural and genetic resources, and biodi-
versity. to this end, CAF focuses on three strategic lines of work:
 promote initiatives to conserve ecosystems and species in the region.
 promote environmental services as a strategy for the conservation of 
natural ecosystems and activities that improve the quality of life of the 
populations.

 promote the development of mechanisms and tools for biodiversity 
products and services and other natural resources (green markets, bio-
trade, and biotechnology). 

lAtin AMericAn cArbon, cleAn And AlternAtive energies 
progrAM

During 2010, the latin American Carbon, Clean and Alternative energies 
program (plAC+e) continued contributing to the mitigation and adapta-
tion to climate change, and promoting the efficient use of clean and alter-
native energies. 

through plAC+e, CAF has established the following lines of work:
 promote and actively participate in the development of emission reduc-
tion markets and the capture of greenhouse gases (ghg).

 Support the identification, development, and financing of projects re-
lated to ghg reduction, and clean and alternative energies, and energy 
efficiency in latin America.

 Strengthen national institutions and mechanisms to stimulate and con-
solidate the various ghg emission reductions and clean, alternative en-
ergy markets. 

Currently, plAC+e manages and develops 32 ghg emission reduction 
programs in latin America, in sectors such as sustainable transportation, 
renewable energies, energy efficiency, reforestation, and capture and use 
of biogas.

It is worth mentioning that in 2010 CAF signed a contract for the pur-
chase-sale of emission reductions with pizano, S.A., a Colombian company, 
to develop a reforestation project of 2,000 hectares in the Bajo Atrato, 
north of the Choco area. the contract represents businesses equivalent to 
uSD 3.21 million.

the program’s project portfolio is equivalent to a volume of 6.8 million 
tons of ghg not emitted into the atmosphere. this is done through the 
carbon funds managed by CAF, such as the CAF-netherlands CDM Fa-
cility (CnCF) with the government of the netherlands, and the Ibero-
American Carbon Initiative (IIC) with the government of Spain, in addi-
tion to other purchase-sale operations.



financing biodiversity businesses and supporting the development 
of market activities in the andean region

CAF and the global environmental Fund (geF) signed a project Cooperation Contract in February 2010, to 
provide financing to business initiatives based on the sustainable use of biodiversity, and support activities for the 
development of markets, in order to contribute to the environmental conservation of the Andean region. Ben-
eficiary countries are Colombia, ecuador, and peru.

once the geF-CAF cooperation contract was signed, it was necessary to establish the instances that will manage the 
project. to this end, the institutions responsible for the implementation of the agreed activities were called in March 
to establish the Management Committee. the committee includes one representative from CAF, one from geF-
unep, one from each environmental Secretariat in each participating country, and one from each of the national 
executing Agencies (neA), that is, the Biotrade Fund in Colombia, Corpei in ecuador, and promperu in peru.

likewise, to ensure the participation and commitment of local counterparts, in addition to performing a review 
of the monitoring and evaluation system, CAF hired two consultancies at the beginning of the year. Both have 
presented their results, which are being implemented in the neAs.

Regarding the promotion and dissemination of the project, workshops have been conducted in lima, in the 
framework of the Inception Workshop, and in Bogota, in a parallel event to the International environmental Fair 
in neiva, and another one with Bioexpo. this has led to the dissemination of details, objectives, and potential 
beneficiaries of the project, both directly and through the local press. 

Although the project has just started, significant progress has been made, including the “satisfactory” rating granted 
by geF on its first annual review. the main developments are perceived in the prioritization of biotrade in the cur-
rent legal regulations that have been established as State policy in Colombia and peru; training provided to public 
and private employees; participation of some biotrade initiatives in specialized international fairs; the availability of 
information platforms related to biotrade in the three participating countries; and the presence of specialized finan-
cial institutions that support this activity in Colombia and ecuador. It is estimated that in 2011 pilot projects will 
be selected and directly supported by geF-CAF funds. these will contribute to increase the areas managed under 
environmental conservation criteria, through the sustainable use of biological diversity resources, and to the reduc-
tion of poverty of the actors involved in selected chains, based on the sales growth of their products.

Specifically, the project has contributed to the inclusion of biotrade in the national legal framework of Colombia 
and peru; the training of approximately 50 public servants on subjects related to biotrade; the presentation of 
more than 10 new products in the market; the entry into five new markets; the strengthening of 15 value chains; 
and the financing of 25 Colombian SMe’s other than those belonging to the Biotrade Fund (FBC).

main achievements of the project to provide funds for biodiversity businesses and market development 
support in the andean region (geF-CAF project)
the project has seven components: policy strengthening, access to markets, creation of competencies, construc-
tion of information regarding products and markets, leverage of financial resources, development of pilot projects 
for biodiversity businesses, and dissemination and exchange of experiences at a regional level. 

component 1: policy strengthening

 Inclusion of biotrade in the legal framework in Colombia and peru.
 training workshop for the staff of the Regional Autonomous Corporations in Colombia. Diploma in biotrade 

for public employees in peru.
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 training of fifty public employees in Colombia and peru in legal, regulatory, and technical aspects of biotrade.
 preparation of two documents that identify the legal aspects of biotrade in Colombia and peru.

component 2: access to markets

 two market studies for Caesalpina spinosa and Plukenetia Volubilis, in addition to a methodology for identifying 
market niches. 

 A study promoting ethnic tourism in the Chimborazo route and a Management plan for Sustainable tourism 
for the Calera grande community in ecuador.

 participation of companies in 12 specialized international fairs.
 evaluation of 64 business plans for compliance with biotrade principles and criteria (p&C) in Colombia, and 

74 tourism plans regarding quality and processes in ecuador.
 publication of quality standards for the Sacha Inchi in peru, and development of the geographical indications 

for la Maca. 

component 3: creation of capacities and competencies

 In Colombia, developed an innovation event for 36 natural ingredients companies and a biotrade training 
course for entrepreneurs of pitaliti-huila.

 In ecuador, implemented 72 training events (1,921 participants) and 150 programs to implement good prac-
tices for sustainable tourism.

 In peru, developed two events on biotrade under the umbrella of the exporter Wednesday (220 individuals) 
and two seminars on access to markets for biotrade products (120 participants).

 In Colombia, conducted a biotrade business forum, two parallel events in specialized fairs, and two p&C evalu-
ation programs of biotrade.

 In peru, published two editions of the perunatura forum and held two national biotrade contests.

component 4: information on products and markets

 three commercial, technical, and business information websites in the three countries.
 twelve articles on biotrade in national circulation magazines, two reports on national television programs, and 

several press releases in Colombia.

component 5: leverage of financial resources

 Raised awareness in six financial institutions on the subject of biotrade, training of 50 entrepreneurs on finan-
cial aspects, financial support to 25 biotrade enterprises from sources other than the FBC in Colombia.

 the Biotrade Fund has invested uSD 1.1 million in 25 new companies in Colombia. In ecuador, a trustee for 
entrepreneurial development has been developed and implemented for access by biotrade companies. In peru, 
a study of supply and demand for financing for biotrade initiatives was conducted.

component 6: pilot projects

 Six support documents for the evaluation of natural ingredient value chains in Colombia. Five value chains 
analyzed in peru.

 Five peruvian companies have passed the verification process of compliance with the principles and criteria 
and have been incorporated as members of the union for ethical Biotrade. 

component 7: dissemination and replication at a regional level

 Management committee in operation.
 project presented and disseminated in the framework of three specialized events, with a significant presence of 

local media.
 publication of press releases in the Biodiversity program site.
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nAturAl disAster risk MAnAgeMent progrAM

the natural Disaster Risk Management program supports the preven-
tion, mitigation, and assistance to the socio-economic and environmental 
impacts related to natural disasters and changes in natural systems. the 
program supports projects and activities related to:
 Risk management and reduction of vulnerabilities associated with el 

niño phenomenon.
 Adaptation and vulnerability in the face of climate change.
 Contingent assistance in the case of disasters.
 Risk prevention from a municipal perspective.
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AgendA for coMpetitiveness, 
internAtionAl insertion, 
And public policies

CAF promotes the development of productive and human capital, strength-
ens the competitiveness of nations, promotes the development of microen-
terprises and other sectors with limited access to financial capital, supports 
the strengthening of governmental institutions, contributes to the achieve-
ment of public policies consensus, and supports processes of economic 
integration and insertion in the international economy. 

coMpetitiveness progrAM

During 2010, CAF’s Competitiveness program (pAC) strengthened pro-
ductivity and improved competitiveness in latin American countries. to 
create competitive advantages, pAC promotes entrepreneurial abilities, 
helps improve the business environment and strengthens the development 
of productive and commercial clusters through technical and non-reim-
bursable financial assistance. the program promotes joint activities be-
tween governments, the private sector, and the academic community, and 
identifies factors that support and limit competitiveness in each country, 
selecting and supporting projects with high-impact on welfare and devel-
opment. In addition, pAC seeks to become a reference in the generation of 
quality knowledge documenting case studies and technology transfer and 
initiatives with high replication potential in latin America.

through cluster development and strengthening productive capacities, pAC 
initiated the program for Competitive Improvement and Internationalization 
of Argentinean Wine Cellars, and started a program with local authorities in 
the province of Buenos Aires to implement a program for innovation and 
design in productive SMe’s located in the Autonomous City of Buenos Aires.

In Bolivia, the program supported the implementation of a continuous 
quality improvement system in 30 tourism enterprises located in the cities 
of Sucre and potosi, and started the third phase of the structured change of 
the management systems. At the same time, pAC supported the strength-
ening of rural community-based tourism in the Mysteries of the titikaka 
circuit and, in collaboration with FunDeS, started a plan to include the 
social responsibility component in the management of SMe’s.

to continue enhancing the geographic reach of the program in the region, 
pAC identified new cooperation opportunities in Brazil, where it supported 
the implementation of a Mediation Model for Agribusiness and a project 
for the Management of Knowledge in the Brazilian public administration. 
In addition, it undertook an initiative for the development of agribusiness in 
the area of influence of the Ruta del Sol in Colombia, and helped organize 
the value chains in the cocoa and lumber sectors in the province of esmer-
aldas, in ecuador, as well as to strengthen the productive transformation and 
commercial abilities of ecuadorean grains and cereals chains. In alliance with 
empretec, the program supported the strengthening and internationalization 
of productive chains in the farming sector in uruguay.

 
pAc proMotes 
entrepreneuriAl 
Abilities, helps 
iMprove the business 
environMent, And 
strengthens the 
developMent of 
productive And 
coMMerciAl clusters.



171

In addition, pAC supported the strategy to improve the business environ-
ment in Colombia by sponsoring the Business and Investment Rounds 
for exporting SMe’s (latin Flavors Cartagena 2010), framed within the 
Mesoamerica project. In the same direction, it also supported the Interna-
tional Arbitrage Forum in Colombia, the Annual Competitiveness Forum 
in panama, and the xVI Annual Competitiveness Meeting in Venezuela.

likewise, the program focused its attention on initiatives that support en-
trepreneurship in latin America, sponsoring a number of events such as the 
2010 Competitiveness Index of the Argentinean provinces. In Bolivia, it 
supported the Innova San Andres Innovative Ideas and technological Base 
Contest, the 2010 expoindustria, and the creation and design of the 2010-
2011 global entrepreneurship Monitor. It also supported the 2010 Ventures 
Contest in Colombia and the Business Development Business plans Contest 
in peru in collaboration with Instituto Invertir. In Venezuela, it contributed 
to the xI Red Motiva International Seminar: university, entrepreneurship, 
and Social Responsibility, and the 2010 Ideas Contest organized by the Fun-
dacion Ideas. pAC also supported other regional projects such as the 2010 
Competitiveness of the Americas Forum, organized by CIFAl, and the II 
latin American local Development Agencies Forum, as well as the global 
Conference on tourism Clusters, held in punta Cana, Dominican Republic.

Access to finAncing for Micro, sMAll, And MediuM-sized 
enterprises

Support for MSMes is an indispensable activity to promote equitable eco-
nomic development and maintain the equilibrium between the social, en-
vironmental, and economic dimensions of progress, as proposed in CAF’s 
Agenda for Comprehensive Development. MSMes represent the largest 
portion of the latin American enterprise sector, and generate more than 
half of the region’s employment. however, the growth of these enterprises 
is limited by, among other things, the difficulty in accessing financial ser-
vices, particularly credit. For this reason, one of CAF’s strategic objectives 
is to promote access to financing for these enterprises.

CAF’s actions in this matter are conducted through a number of credit 
operations, capital investments, and cooperation resources tailored to the 
needs of the clients and in line with the norms and policies of each coun-
try. In order to maximize the effectiveness and efficiency of the Institu-
tion’s efforts, certain conditions have been established to better channel the 
Institution’s activities related to MSMes:
 operations are conducted in alliance with public and private institu-

tions in support of MSMes, such as microfinancing institutions, venture 
capital funds, credit guarantee systems, and development banks.

 the result of the operations must result in an increase in the financing flows 
toward sectors that are not adequately serviced by the financial systems.

 operations should be innovative, have demonstration effect, and must 
be replicable.

 During 2010, CAF provided support to 64 institutions, including mi-
crofinancing entities and venture capital funds in 14 shareholder coun-
tries, while promoting 22 operations with cooperation resources.
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lines of Action to support MsMes

 coMprehensive finAncing to Micro finAncing institutions 
Micro financing institutions (MFI) are excellent allies to channel 
credits and other financial services to micro and small entrepreneurs 
who are not adequately served by traditional banking systems. they 
are also effective agents in providing banking services to people ex-
cluded from regular banking institutions. CAF grants credit lines to 
MFIs so they transfer those resources to MSMes in the form of loans 
to finance operations, inventories, and fixed assets. through capi-
tal investments and subordinated loans to MFIs, their capital base is 
strengthened, enabling robust growth and increased capacity to offer 
savings, loans and payment processing services to the business sectors 
supported.

 investMent in venture cApitAl funds

Although venture capital for SMes is a scarce resource in the region, 
its availability is an important factor for the development of entre-
preneurship and innovation. through investments in venture capital 
funds, CAF invests in the capital of SMes. the investments of funds 
are used to create new companies and finance the development of in-
novative and value-added products and services.

 support to credit guArAntee systeMs

In the region there are different types of public and private institu-
tions that facilitate access to credit to MSMes through the issue of 
guarantees. CAF works with these institutions reinsuring the guaran-
tees issued by them, thus expanding their capacity to grant guarantees, 
and increasing the flow of credit to MSMes. Another form of sup-
port is through the creation of coinsurance mechanisms in association 
with the institutions, which also results in increased operations of the 
financial system with the MSMes.

 developMent of AlternAtive finAncing MechAnisMs

CAF invests in different types of initiatives that open non-banking fi-
nancing possibilities for MSMSs, such as invoice discounts, guarantees 
to enable access to capital markets, and financing through productive 
chains. 

 technicAl cooperAtion

these non-reimbursable resources are used for the institutional and 
professional development of the micro financing and venture capi-
tal industries, as well as to generate knowledge and disseminate best 
practices. Within this line of action, CAF has financed programs to 
provide information technologies for MFIs, microfinance specializa-
tion courses, strengthening and expanding a latin American venture 
capital association, and comparative studies on different aspects of the 
development of the micro financing industry.
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corporAte governAnce progrAM

During 2010, the corporate governance program concentrated its efforts 
on consolidating its latin America position, emphasizing the promotion of 
good Corporate governance practices in sectors of strategic interest for 
the economies of the region. to this end, CAF published the guidelines 
for an Andean Code of good Corporate governance for SMes and les-
sons learned in Venezuela, in collaboration with the Venezuelan Associa-
tion of executives (AVe).

to conduct a number of initiatives related to the subject of corporate 
governance in the region, CAF approved an operation to support the Cor-
porate governance agenda of its shareholder countries. Since then, the 
Institution has financed numerous activities to promote and implement 
good governance practices in peru, in which the participation of the lima 
Stock exchange and the high-degree of commitment of Secretaries and 
representatives of the Central government are worth mentioning. Within 
the framework of this project, CAF will lead the Workshop for the promo-
tion of good Corporate practices in Venezuela, with the participation of 
representatives of the country’s most important enterprises as well as other 
relevant actors. In addition, the program expects to conduct a Corporate 
governance Workshop for State enterprises in Colombia, and support the 
presidential Advisors on good governance and transparency, and replicate 
this initiative in Argentina. In Bolivia, it seeks to promote training for the 
Supervisory and Social Control of enterprises Authority, and the develop-
ment of a draft law on good Corporate governance in epe.

econoMic And public policy reseArch progrAM

CAF’s economic and public policy Research program (pAI) supports re-
searchers in the region both in their studies and projects and in their dissemi-
nation. the Institution benefits from the development of topics of interest 
for its agenda, and participates in the debate of relevant subjects related to 
the economic and social development of latin America. An important com-
ponent of this program is the hiring of expert studies. topics vary each year 
based on the content of the economic and Development Report, an annual 
publication through which the Institution contributes to the discussion on 
strategies for development in latin America. the documents resulting from 
the research are discussed in workshops organized during the year and used 
as input for the Report. Some of them are published in the technical journal 
perspectives edited by CAF. A second program within the pAI is the annual 
public call for studies to professors and researchers for the presentation of 
papers related to subjects of interest to CAF. the ninth edition of this call 
focused on the topic of Development and Fiscal policy. the wining proposal 
is a study on credit restrictions in higher education in Chile.

It is worth mentioning that during 2010, CAF presented the main conclu-
sions and lessons of its 2010 economic and Development Report, “local 
development: toward a new leading role of cities and regions”, at events 
held in Rosario (Argentina), la paz (Bolivia), Cuenca (ecuador), lima 
(peru), and Caracas (Venezuela). In September, the Institution organized an 
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2011 econoMic And developMent report

finAnciAl services for developMent: 
proMoting Access in lAtin AMericA

the objective of the 2011 economic and Development Report (2011 
ReD) is to study the relationship between access to financial services 
and economic and social development. there are a number of reasons 
to expect that greater access to financial services should strengthen 
economic growth and welfare. Financial institutions have a key role 
in channeling the savings of families toward the investment projects 
presented by enterprises. to the extent that these savings are aimed at 
initiatives with higher private and social returns, the productivity of 
the economy is strengthened and so is economic growth. In addition, 
enterprises demand loans to finance working capital, payment services, 
and insurance to minimize the effects of unforeseen events on their cash 
flows and operations. In the case of families, the temporary distribution 
of expenditure and consumption may not coincide with the timing of 
their income flows. For this reason, they demand savings accounts and 
credit services to bridge this gap. the role of insurance is also relevant as 
it enables the distribution of the idiosyncratic risks faced by individual 
households. Financial services also have a direct relationship with wel-
fare since they facilitate and reduce transaction costs.

the 2011 ReD starts by diagnosing the evolution of financial markets 
in the region. In spite of some advances during the past decade, the 
depth of the financial services continues to be low, even lower than 
what can be explained by the levels of income and inequality. the af-
termath of the banking crisis, macroeconomic instability, institutional 
barriers, and the business strategies of the banks may have weighted on 
the development of financial systems. In addition, access to financial 
services in latin America is also limited: the percentage of families that 
use formal savings and loan services and mechanisms; and companies, 
particularly small and large, that use formal means of financing for in-
vestment and working capital is relatively small. the emergence of mi-
cro financing Institutions (MFIs) is a response to the inability of the tra-
ditional banking system to effectively provide services to the segments 
of the population historically excluded; among other reasons, due to 
their lack of flexibility. the great diversity of MFI structures is, in itself, 
a result of the need to scale up the supply, while maintaining relatively 
flexible structures that are able to innovate.

the report follows with a study of the main obstacles for the develop-
ment of the financial system, evidencing that it is subject to market fail-
ures due to asymmetric information and agent problems that may gen-
erate inefficiencies in the allocation of loans to enterprises and families, 
and in the access to other financial services. In the case of enterprises, 
this is reflected in the self-exclusion and unwanted exclusion of enter-
prises from the credit market; in the wide cost gap between external and 



internal financing; and in the provision of loans based on the observ-
able characteristics of companies and, to a lesser degree, on the expected 
profitability of investment projects. In the case of families with no access 
to financial instruments, higher costs must be paid for not being able to 
access adequate payment systems. In addition, the lack of access to savings 
and loans instruments affects the incentives to save, and generates losses 
by not being able to smooth the unexpected changes in income and 
expenses over time, resulting in the extended use of informal smoothing 
instruments for consumption and risk protection.

on the other hand, microfinance studies in the region are encouraging 
and suggest that access and use of microcredit appears to change the 
behavior and productivity of entrepreneurs. these studies indicate that 
microcredit favors the more enterprising and not-so-poor families. In 
addition, a balanced growth of microcredit supply, which promotes the 
formalization of MFIs and boosts the development of ngos seems 
to be ideal. Although it seems implausible that MFIs will fully substi-
tute the informal sector, there is still room to gain for the institutional 
segment of microcredit providers. the development of credit products 
that are adjusted to the apparent need for flexibility seems to be one of 
the biggest challenges facing MFIs.

the report then evaluates the public policies that promote greater access 
to financial services. these interventions have been of different kinds. In 
general, policies that directly attack market failures are the ones that have 
the greatest probabilities of a priori success. this is the case of improve-
ments in the flow of information through credit registries and the pro-
vision of an electronic infrastructure to develop secondary markets for 
debt instruments such as factoring. A reduction has also been observed in 
the granting of direct credits from the State, who now acts as a second-
tier lender through rediscount facilities and guarantee schemes. In both 
cases, cooperation with the private banking system generates gains in 
efficiency due to the economies in the implementation and by sharing 
the risk of the operations. Regarding microcredit, in addition to design-
ing appropriate legal frameworks, the State may co-finance training pro-
grams and promote innovation. In any case, the State’s intervention must 
be comprehensive and long-term.

Finally, the 2011 ReD evaluates the impact of the public Banking Sys-
tem. the actions of this type of banking must be framed in a context 
characterized by the existence of specialized instruments that reinforce 
a complementary relationship with the private banking system and 
opens an array of possible interventions to increase access to finan-
cial services. A good structure of corporate governance, mandates, and 
regulatory framework facilitate a successful intervention. Consequently, 
strengthening the internal institutional elements of the public Banking 
System must be a priority area of development. 
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international seminar in Cartagena de Indias, (Colombia) on the subject of 
local development and quality of life, gathering more than 50 mayors and 
policy makers of the region to discuss the main results of the economic 
and Development Report and the subject of citizenship security.

the report was also presented in specialized seminars at the Inter-Ameri-
can Development Bank, in Washington, D.C.; at the xlV Annual Meeting 
of the Argentinean Association of political economy, in Buenos Aires; at 
the xI Summer Institute pacific Regional Science Conference (pRSCo) 
of the Colombian Association of Regional Studies and of the pacific Re-
gional Science Council, in Cali; and at the Conference of the Agence 
Française de Developpement: latin American Cities and Quality of life: 
Current Status and prospects, in paris.

During the year, CAF continued disseminating the 2009 economic and De-
velopment Report, “Roads to the Future: Infrastructure Management in latin 
America”, in the Seminar “Financing Infrastructure in latin America”, held in 
Bogota, Colombia, and organized by the International Finance Corporation 
and the organization for economic Cooperation and Development.

likewise, the Institution made progress on its 2011 economic and Develop-
ment Report, which addresses access to financial systems and economic and 
social development in latin America. to that effect, on May 1st and 2nd a semi-
nar was held in lima on the subject of financial inclusion where a series of 
papers commissioned for the 2011 economic and Development Report were 
presented. the subject was also discussed in a meeting organized by CAF dur-
ing the xV Annual Meeting of the latin American and Caribbean economic 
Association (lacea), in Medellin, held in november. this annual forum, in 
which CAF actively participates, gathers the main researchers and academics of 
the region. In addition, CAF participated in the conference policy Innovations 
to Improve Access to Financial Services: learning from Case Studies, orga-
nized by the Center for global Development, and in the seminar sponsored by 
the Brookings Institution, economic and Social Challenges in latin America: 
Developing an Agenda for 2010, in Washington, D.C.

other seminars and research activities promoted by CAF through the pAI 
include the second annual meeting of the International trade and growth 
network held in San Jose, Costa Rica, in September. During the confer-
ence, organized by universidad de Costa Rica, professors and researchers 
from latin America presented papers on international trade and integra-
tion. CAF participated actively in designing the agenda and in the discus-
sion of one of the research papers. 

Another research activity conducted by CAF during 2010 was the an-
nual survey on access, quality, and satisfaction with public services in latin 
America, that this year included a section on access to financial services. 
the survey was applied to a representative sample of individuals in 17 cities 
of latin America, and its results were used as input for the 2011 economic 
and Development Report.
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 oF KnoWleDge

During 2010, CAF continued supporting ongoing regional integration 
processes, while contributing to strengthening recent integration initiatives 
in the region. through the definition and implementation of work pro-
grams with regional organizations and schemes, the Institution decisively 
contributed to the implementation of sub regional, regional, and hemi-
spheric integration agendas. It is also worth mentioning CAF’s consolida-
tion as a liaison for the strengthening of the bi-regional integration agenda 
between latin America and europe.

the presence of CAF’s executive president in each of the regional and 
bi-regional presidential Summits, as well as the permanent presence and 
technical support to the region’s multilateral agenda, enabled the consoli-
dation of priority projects in the integration agendas of shareholder coun-
tries. During 2010, CAF promoted specific actions mainly related to the 
integration of physical infrastructure in the region, and to energy markets, 
financial integration, diversification, productive integration, strengthening 
of MSMes and cross-border productive chains, while supporting specific 
regional projects for the reduction of asymmetries, social, environmental, 
educational and cultural development, and many integration and cross-
border cooperation programs.

It is worth mentioning CAF’s active presence and participation in the II 
latin American and the Caribbean Summit about integration and devel-
opment in Cancún, Mexico; the VI Summit latin America and the Ca-
ribbean-european union in Madrid; the Joint Work group to address the 
commitments made in the Summit of the Americas and the oAS general 
Meeting in lima; the Mercosur Chief of State Summit meetings in San 
Juan, Argentina, and Foz de Iguazú, Brazil; in the presidential Summit of 
the Mesoamerica project in Cartagena, Colombia; the Secretariat’s Meet-
ing of the latin American pacific Arch Forum in Valle de urubamba, peru; 
the Summit Secretaries of Foreign Affairs and International trade Roads 
to prosperity in the Americas, in San José, Costa Rica; the Chief of State 
and government Iberoamerican Summit in Mar de plata, Argentina; the 
sector meetings of unasur’s members, and diverse work meetings with the 
Andean Community (CAn).

From a multidimensional and convergence perspective, during 2010 
CAF conducted work and cooperation programs in a joint effort with 
regional integration organisms and secretariats. these included: the 
projects undertaken with unasur, the oAS, CAn’s general Secretariat, 
the Andean parliament, the Andean health organism hipólito unaue 
Convention, the Common Market group of Mercosur, the permanent 
Representatives Commission of Mercosur, the Consulting Forum of 

From top to bottom:

 VI Summit latin America and the Caribbean-
european union. Madrid, Spain, May 17-18.

 xxxIx Mercosur’s presidential Summit. San 
Juan, Argentina, August 3.

 xx Ibero American Summit. Mar del plata, 
Argentina, December 3-4.

 xl Mercosur’s presidential Summit. Foz de 
Iguazu, Brazil, December 17.



181

municipalities, federative states, provinces and departments of Merco-
sur, the pro-témpore Secretariats of the Summit of the Americas, the 
Iberoamerican Summit, Mercosur, unasur, the Arch Countries Forum 
and the Mesoamerican Initiative, Aladi, the Amazon Cooperation treaty, 
and the Iberoamerican general Secretariat, in addition to an important 
network of organizations and multilateral institutions that support re-
gional integration programs and projects.

seMinArs And events

During 2010, CAF promoted an active agenda of external relations, and 
participated in many platforms related to priority issues of its Agenda 
for Comprehensive Development. 

II international economic forum about latin america and the caribbean. 
organized by the oeCD and the IADB, the forum evaluated post-
crisis scenarios for latin America and the Caribbean, with special atten-
tion to commercial and industrial policies and to the business models 
present in the region. paris, France, January 24-26.

seminar revisiting aid in the 21st century: the birth of the global public 
policies. organized by the French Agency for Development, CAF par-
ticipated in a high-level discussion to rethink global policies recently 
designed by the international community with the purpose of promot-
ing global public goods. paris, France, February 11-12.

conference future prospects for latin america. organized by Canning 
house. CAF´s executive president, enrique garcía, offered an out-
standing conference focused on the challenges faced by latin America 
in the present decade and the role of the region in the changing sce-
nario marked by the international economic crisis. london, united 
Kingdom, February 15.

breakfast-debate political and economic challenges in latin america. 
CAF, latin Finance and BBVA organized a breakfast-debate to analyze 
the main political and economic challenges of the region, within the 
framework of the 51st Annual governors’ Meeting of the Inter Ameri-
can Development Bank. Cancún, Mexico, March 23.

conference the challenges of development of latin america and the 
caribbean. organized by Funglode. During the event, participants analyzed 
the challenges for the sustainable development and integration of latin 
America and the Caribbean with the highest political and academic 
authorities of Dominican Republic. Santo Domingo, Dominican 
Republic, April 9.

secretary’s meeting energy and climate partnership of the americas (ecpa). 
launched by president obama in the V Summit of the Americas, this 
initiative that acquired relevance this year in Washington, D.C. seeks to 
promote cooperation among countries in the hemisphere to fight against 

International economic Forum latin America and 
the Caribbean 2010. paris, France. January 24-26.

Breakfast-Debate political and economic 
Challenges in latin America. BBVA-CAF-latin 
Finance. Cancún, Mexico. March 23.
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climate change, promote energy security, and reduce poverty. Washington, 
D.C., united States, April 15.

II forum europe-latin america-united states. organized by SegIB, the 
Inter American Dialogue and the Royal elcano Institute. the meeting fos-
tered an open dialogue about the main challenges faced by latin America 
and the Caribbean, and the united States and european policies towards 
the region. Madrid, Spain, April 20-21.

VI summit european union-latin america and the caribbean. Consoli-
dated the strategic bi-regional association, and opened the space for the 
subscription of important trade agreements. CAF participated in the III 
entrepreneurial Summit european union-latin America and the Carib-
bean, and in the creation of the new financial instrument latin American 
Investment Fund. Madrid, Spain, Mayo 18-19.

forum china, united states and latin america: the new triangle. or-
ganized by the Institute of the Americas. public event to debate over the 
growing importance of political and economic relations between latin 
America, China and the united States, with emphasis on energy issues. 
Washington, D.C., united States, May 29.

the latin america-europe investors forum (la-eif). organized by latin 
Finance. the forum promoted investment opportunities in latin America 
before important financial actors of the united Kingdom and other euro-
pean countries. london, united Kingdom, June 2-3.

x latin american social forum. organized by the magazine Foreign policy, 
gathered important leaders from the public and private sectors of the Ameri-
cas, non-profit organizations and the civil society, to promote discussions 
over the role of corporate social responsibility to strengthen the region’s 
development. Washington, D.C., united States, June 8-9.

conference mobilizing private capital to reduce climate change-
instruments and policies to mobilize international green energy 
investment. organized by KfW. the german government invited CAF 
to take an active role in this conference that evaluated the instruments 
and framework necessary to optimize the interaction between public 
and private resources in order to finance the fight against climate change. 
Berlin, germany, June 30.

round table latin america: challenges for new leaders. organized 
by the Brookings Institution and CAF. gathered a select group of lat-
in American young leaders to discuss the region’s economic, social, and 
political challenges, with renowned academic and political leaders in the 
united States. Washington, D.C., united States, July 21.

international conference on economic studies, financial bailout 
mechanisms, regional funds and other substitute or complementary 
schemes. organized by the FlAR. the conference promoted a rich ex-
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change of opinions to optimize financial bailout mechanisms for the protec-
tion of the countries before balance of payments problems, and the role of 
international reserves, regional funds and other substitute or complementary 
schemes. Cartagena de Indias, Colombia, August 9-10.

seminary-workshop local development and quality of life and cities 
and regions in latin america. organized by CAF. presented the In-
stitution’s 2010 economic and Development Report, and debated with 
international experts and with a group of majors and policy makers about 
the main challenges of local administration in the countries of the region. 
Cartagena de Indias, Colombia, September 2-3.

xIV CAF’s annual conference on the americas. organized by CAF, the 
Inter American Dialogue and the oAS. political leaders and experts from 
the hemisphere analyzed the state of Inter American relations, the main 
political and economic trends in the region, and the global projection of 
latin America. Washington, D.C., united States, September 8-9.

the latin america-china investors forum (la-cif). organized by 
latin Finance. Investors and other actors from the financial sector at-
tended this meeting that presented the advantages of closer ties among 
the latin American and Chinese emerging economies. Beijing, China, 
September 15-16.

latin asia business forum. Renowned as the main meeting space among 
latin American and Asian entrepreneurial leaders, the forum offered an 
important platform for dialogue and the promotion of business opportuni-
ties that benefit both regions. Singapur, September 18-22.

annual meeting of the world bank and the international 
monetary fund. CAF was present at the main multilateral banking 
summit that addressed the key problems of the international financial 
system. Washington, D.C., united States, october 5-10.

global meeting of the emerging markets forum. organized by emerg-
ing Markets. Space for dialogue among public and private sector leaders 
from emerging markets to exchange ideas to reach sustained and more 
inclusive economic growth. Virginia, united States, october 11-13.

conference from copenhagen to cancun: new challenges, new 
alternatives and new opportunities. organized by the Institute of the 
Americas at the head office of the Institute for latin American Studies of 
the Social Sciences Chinese Academy, the conference offered a platform to 
discuss the strategies and priorities of latin America and China in the fight 
against climate change. Beijing, China, october 19.

euro-latin american meeting. organized by CAF and the Royal el-
cano Institute. this new space for discussion addressed issues of the 
highest relevance for both regions, such as the new agenda of euro-
latin American in the global context, the main challenges on citizen-

lxxxI Iberoamerican entrepreneurial Meeting. 
Madrid, Spain.

the Americas Competitiveness Forum. Atlanta, 
united States. november 14-16.

euro-latin American Meeting. CAF and the 
Royal elcano Institute. october 28-29.

III entrepreneurial Summit-Innovation and 
technology, Sharing Challenges. Madrid, Spain. 
May 18-19.
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ship security, and the global problem of drugs and organized crime. 
Sevilla, Spain, october 28-29.

v national competitiveness forum. the main national event in panama 
where public and private sector actors set the goals and priorities to im-
prove the country’s competitiveness. this year CAF’s executive president 
participated as key note speaker. panama City, october 15-16.

conference latin america’s challenges toward the future. orga-
nized by Sciences po. CAF’s executive president was the guest of honor 
at the commencement ceremony of the euro latin American Campus of 
this house of studies. During the event, CAF signed and inter institutional 
collaboration agreement, and gave an outstanding speech. paris, France, 
november 2.

xI biarritz forum. the xI edition of the Biarritz Forum evaluated the 
current state and outlook of the latin American-european union rela-
tions, particularly in the political, economic and social contexts. Biarritz, 
France, november 4-5.

the sir bany yas forum. this high-level forum focused on the new chal-
lenges for peace and security in the Middle east, as well as the global and 
regional demand of energy and its impact on international peace and se-
curity. Abu Dhabi, united Arab emirates, november 5-8.

secretarial forum japan-latin america: sustainable industrial 
policies. organized by CAF and unasur. A new platform for the exchange 
of knowledge and best practices among public and private sector leaders 
of latin America and Japan. In its first edition, the forum analyzed the 
economic, social and environmental opportunities related to sustainable 
industrial policies, production and clean energies and carbon markets. 
tokyo, Japan, november 18-20.
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disseMinAtion of knowledge

CAF publications support the implementation of its Agenda for 
Comprehensive Development. the titles listed below were published 
during 2010. 

40 initiatives for sustainable 
development

 edited as part of the events 
and activities of CAF’s 40th 
anniversary, the publication 
describes the main projects 
and initiatives in an effort 
to promote sustainable 
development and regional 
integration. throughout its 
pages, the institution shows 
some of the achievements made 
possible through the efforts 
and contributions of many 
individuals and institutions, 
and particularly through the 
support of CAF’s shareholder 
countries. through these 
initiatives, CAF shares a vision 
of latin America’s potential and 
invites the reader to contribute 
to this history-in-the-making, 
until latin America can assume 
its rightful place on the world 
stage.

published october 2010
ISBn: 978-980-6810-56-3
Format: 25x27 cm
printed and digitalized
Spanish, english, and portuguese 
versions
224 pages
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urban development and 

mobility in latin america

Documents the history of 
urban development and 
transportation systems 
in 15 metropolitan 
areas of latin America 
included in CAF’s urban 
Mobility observatory 
(oMu). throughout 
the document, a group 
of experts describes 
the history and current 
conditions of mobility 
in the territories with 
oMu data, enabling a 
comprehensive analysis 
with comparisons among 
current processes taking 
place in the region. 

published December 
2010
ISBn: 978-980-6810-55-6
Format: 27x21 cm
printed and digitalized
336 pages

environmental and social 

evaluation methodology 

with ease-iirsa strategic 

focus 

offers a methodological 
approach containing the 
concepts, reach, and steps 
of an environmental and 
social evaluation procedure. 
the methodology seeks 
to instrument the actions 
of the IIRSA initiative to 
prevent and manage the 
risks and opportunities that 
groups of projects might 
generate in a territory. 
Validated by the countries 
that participate in the 
IIRSA Initiative, the work 
has been developed in a 
joint effort between CAF 
and the Inter-American 
Development Bank 
through workshops held in 
Argentina, Brazil, ecuador, 
guyana, and peru.  

published December 
2010
ISBn: 978-980-6810-46-4
Format: 27x21 cm
printed and digitalized
192 pages

application of the 

environmental and social 

evaluation methodology 

with ease-iirsa 

strategic focus 

presents the first case 
study applying the 
conceptual development 
formulated in the 
environmental and social 
evaluation methodology 
with eASe-IIRSA 
strategic focus. 
Documents the results 
of the eASe applied to 
group 6 of the Andean 
Axis projects: Colombia-
ecuador II Connection 
(Bogota-Mocoa-tena-
Zamora-palanda-loja). 

published December 
2010
ISBn: 978-980-6810-45-7
Format: 27x21 cm
printed and digitalized
338 pages

building community. social 

innovation manual 

Documents the 
experiences to adequate 
informal settlements, 
as a guide to replicate 
them in similar 
contexts. the document 
identifies a series of 
steps and conditions 
which describe the 
theory of how to “build 
community”, based on 
practices that guarantee 
success in the physical 
and social development 
of a community.

published December 
2010
ISBn: 978-980-6810-61-7
Format: 27x21 cm
printed and digitalized
92 pages
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solutions and 

technological innovations 

to improve low traffic 

roads. sector reports 

series

proposes techniques and 
strategies to improve 
roads with low traffic 
volume, which comprise 
about 80% of the total 
road network in the 
region. Improving 
these gravel roads 
with modern tools, 
methods, techniques, 
and engineering 
strategies would result 
in access routes to rural 
settlements. 

published october 2010
ISBn: 978-980-6810-49-5
Format: 27x21 cm
printed and digitalized
100 pages

analysis of urban 

mobility. space, the 

environment, and equity

Develops a methodology 
to analyze the mobility 
of individuals in cities 
considering the social 
and economic aspects of 
mobility. the objective 
is to investigate how 
people move, as well 
as their motivation 
and conditions for 
such mobility. the 
methodology seeks to 
verify how the negative 
impacts of mobility 
originate and who suffers 
the consequences. It also 
compares key indicators 
in different cities, and 
provides a platform 
for decision-making 
better suited for the 
implementation of public 
policies. 

published September 2010
ISBn: 978-980-6810-60-0
Format: 27x21 cm
printed and digitalized
204 pages

caf’s environmental 

strategy. second edition

States the principles 
that guide CAF’s 
environmental 
management and specifies 
the lines of action and 
strategic programs in its 
permanent search for 
responsible institutional 
management, and 
an effective support 
to strengthen the 
environmental sector of  
countries. 

published September 2010
ISBn: 978-980-6810-57-0
Format: 30x20 cm
printed and digitalized
Spanish and english 
versions
36 pages

social policies to promote 

citizenship and social 

cohesion. reflections on 

social and environmental 

policies series

presents a series of 
documents about 
latin America’s social 
scenario. the essays 
contain the demands of 
society in topics such 
as the reconstruction 
of the State for its 
democratization, the new 
ways of policy-making 
in social movements, 
rights and citizenship in 
polarized societies, and 
social exclusion. the 
publication is the first 
number of this series. 

published September 2010
ISBn: 978-980-6810-59-4
Format: 23x16 cm
printed and digitalized
64 pages
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guidelines for good 

corporate governance 

in government-owned 

enterprises

presents the way in 
which the relationship 
between shareholders 
(the government), 
the Board of Directors, 
and management is 
structured. Based on the 
oeCD guidelines for 
Corporate governance 
of State enterprises 
and CAF’s guidelines 
for an Andean Code of 
Corporate governance, 
the document presents the 
direction that the State 
must have as a shareholder, 
where the main interest 
must be to maximize the 
value of the company 
according to its social 
purpose, without getting 
directly involved in day-
to-day operations.

published September 2010
ISBn: 978-980-6810-62-4
Format: CD
Digital
48 pages

corporate governance 

manual for closely-held 

enterprises. efficient and 

transparent 

entrepreneurial 

management. second edition

presents recommendations 
for good practices in 
corporate governance and 
their implementation in 
closely-held enterprises 
in the region which are 
characterized, in most 
cases, by their family 
orientation and the 
coincidence of property 
and management. the 
manual complements 
the guidelines for 
an Andean Code of 
Corporate governance 
and focuses on the 
recommendations for this 
kind of enterprises. the 
case studies included in 
the publication facilitate 
its comprehension. 

published December 2010
ISBn: 980-6810-18-x
Format: CD
Digital
58 pages

guidelines for an andean 

code of corporate 

governance. third edition

Includes a set of norms 
that are the basis of good 
corporate governance 
made available to 
companies in the region. 
the guidelines seek to 
guarantee entrepreneurial 
transparency by 
promoting best practices 
at a regional level. 

published December 2010
Co-edited with: 
Consultoría IAAg & 
Corporate Finance
Format: CD
Digital
55 pages

corporate governance: 

what every entrepreneur 

should know. second 

edition

Addresses a series of 
guidelines to support 
companies in the 
creation of a true 
culture of efficiency, 
equity, and transparency 
in entrepreneurial 
management. 

published December 
2010
Format: CD
Digital
24 pages
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local development: toward 

a new protagonism of cities 

and regions. red 2010

presents the local and 
regional development 
patterns in addition 
to identifying public 
policy options that, 
together with a strong 
participation of 
governments and sub-
national institutions 
in the design and 
implementation phases, 
will make economic 
growth compatible with a 
balanced development of 
the territories within the 
economies. 

published June 2010
ISBn: 980-6810-01-5
Format: 27x21 cm
printed and digitalized
242 pages

urban mobility 

observatory for latin 

america

presents the first latin 
American urban 
Mobility observatory 
(oMu) of 15 of the 
main cities in the 
region. provides relevant 
information to design 
effective public policies 
and manage public 
transportation systems in 
the cities. the publication 
complements the 
technical and financial 
support that CAF offers 
the governments of the 
region to conceptualize, 
design, and implement 
investment projects for 
the development of urban 
transportation systems. 

published June 2010
ISBn: 978-980-6810-54-9
Format: 27x21 cm
printed and digitalized
118 pages

road maintenance. sector 

reports series

Addresses critical aspects 
in the implementation of 
effective practices related 
to the design, planning, 
development, and 
implementation of road 
maintenance through 
the presentation and 
evaluation of technical, 
institutional, and 
economic considerations 
related to an effective 
practice.

published June 2010
ISBn: 978-980-6810-49-5
Format: 27x21 cm
printed and digitalized
68 pages

perspectives. analysis 

of critical issues for 

sustainable development 

vol. 8, n° 1
Addresses the exploitation 
and management of 
natural resources, a topic 
of particular importance 
for latin America, whose 
economies depend on the 
production and export 
of raw materials. the 
contributions presented 
in the publication explore 
key elements such as 
the so-called curse of 
natural resources, the 
volatility of raw material 
prices and its impact 
on the economic cycle, 
and the importance 
of institutional aspects 
to shape the impact 
of the presence of 
natural resources on 
development. 

published June 2010
ISBn: 1690-6268
Format: 23x16 cm
printed and digitalized
118 pages
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 InteRnAl 
 oRgAnIZAtIonAl 
 MAnAgeMent 

With the incorporation of panama as a full member and the progress 
achieved with Argentina and paraguay, the Institution continued with its 
process of latin American consolidation, and with the corresponding revi-
sion of its organizational structure and processes. the changes that were 
implemented include the opening of a country office in uruguay, the cre-
ation of regional operating centers in panama and Montevideo, and new 
job descriptions and titles. In addition, work was begun on exploring the 
transformation of the various of CAF’s own off-balance sheet funds into 
entities with separate legal status.

Internal corporate communications were improved with the release of a 
new Intranet, and with various communications campaigns on relevant 
organizational issues. CAF also began to reposition its identity as latin 
America’s development bank; it changed its logo, improved the corporate 
Web page and reflected the renewed corporate image in its various digital 
and printed products. 

the Institution continued its efforts to position the region beyond its bor-
ders by building bridges between latin America and the rest of the world, 
through strategic programs implemented with key institutions and coun-
tries. In particular CAF intensified its contacts with the Asia pacific region, 
as well as with the countries of the Arabian gulf and Central America. 

the risk management process was improved, especially as regards the eval-
uation of risks associated with CAF’s liquid assets, and with the implemen-
tation of a methodology for evaluating operational risks (MgRo). In ad-
dition, the control system for detecting and preventing money laundering 
was applied to all CAF’s products and services, and the business continu-
ity process was further strengthened through corporate-wide training and 
communications activities. 

personnel management focused on strengthening CAF’s service-oriented 
culture by facilitating the process of consensus among its organizational 
units. the offer of training courses was increased through cooperation with 
unItAR and with a workshop on corporate governance. CAF’s online 
university (uVCAF), developed in alliance with the Instituto tecnológico 
de Monterrey, held its first graduation, and a course on Advanced latin 
American Studies began in alliance with the universidad Metropolitana 
de Caracas.

other human capital activities aimed at improving the internship programs 
and attracting talented young professionals (pRoDeS). the fourth genera-
tion of pRoDeS was recruited and its second generation was successfully 
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incorporated into the business areas. CAF obtained a response of 88% in 
the Best employer internal diagnostic survey, a historic-high, and a 74% 
commitment level, which positions the Institution among the best high-
performance employers. 

Various business It support solutions continued to be developed or were 
implemented, including the business platform, letters of credit, manage-
ment of norms, editorial distribution, comprehensive accounting solutions 
(eRp), and the evaluation of a new treasury system. Several technologi-
cal projects were completed, including the updating to office 2007©, the 
consolidation of the Sharepoint© platform, and the system for storage and 
protection of data in country offices. efforts were aimed at centralizing in-
formation security processes associated with business applications and inter-
national banking services.

Finally, the following office infrastructure projects were completed dur-
ing the year: the regional office in Montevideo, the acquisition of office 
space for an office in Brasilia, and the completion of a second emer-
gency stairway at CAF’s headquarters.
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october 2010
jpy 4,600 MM

maturity 2015

MArch 2010
usd 50 MM
 
maturity 2017

April 2009
cop 127,500 MM

maturity 2019

july 2005
jpy 5,000 MM

maturity 2012

july 2010
usd 600 MM

maturity 2016

MArch 2010
eur 100 MM

maturity 2015

April 2009
cop 111,980 MM

maturity 2014

deceMber 2008
cop 94,250 MM

maturity 2018

noveMber 2007
jpy 5,000 MM

maturity 2010

MArch 2007
veb 127,500 MM

maturity 2012

june 2006
veb 215,000 MM

maturity 2011

july 2005
jpy 15,000 MM

maturity 2008

noveMber 2010
chf 250 MM

maturity 2015

MAy 2010
usd 74 MM

maturity 2014

october 2009
pen 144 MM

maturity 2014

februAry 2009
jpy 10,000 MM

maturity 2019

August 2008
chf 200 MM 

maturity 2013

noveMber 2007
Mxn 750 MM 

maturity 2012

februAry 2007
veb 107,500 MM

maturity 2012

MAy 2006
pen 248 MM

maturity 2018

MAy 2005
usd 250 MM 

maturity 2015

MAy 2008
Mxn 800 MM 

maturity 2010

june 2007
jpy 10,000 MM

maturity 2014

jAnuAry 2007
usd 250 MM

maturity 2017

deceMber 2010
usd 50 MM
 
maturity 2017

septeMber 2006
usd 250 MM 

maturity 2017

noveMber 2010
eur 400 MM

maturity 2018
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deceMber 2008
cop 150,250 MM

maturity 2013

jAnuAry 2008
usd 250 MM

maturity 2017

october 2010
jpy 9,800 MM

maturity 2014

MArch 2010
usd 100 MM

maturity 2014

june 2009
usd 1,000 MM

maturity 2019

july 2005
usd 150 MM

maturity 2009

june 2007
jpy 20,000 MM

maturity 2010

noveMber 2006
eur 300 MM

maturity 2011

forty years 
of financial solvency 
and strength
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 MAnAgeMent’S 
 DISCuSSIon AnD 
 AnAlYSIS oF FInAnCIAl 
 ConDItIon

During 2010, rating agencies recognized CAF’s credit quality. Standard 
& poor’s improved the Institution’s outlook of its long-term debt from 
stable to positive. likewise, Fitch Ratings, Japan Credit Rating Agency, and 
Moody’s Investors Service ratified the ratings assigned to CAF’s short- and 
long-term debt, as shown in table 1.

the decisions of these agencies reaffirm CAF as the latin American fre-
quent issuer with the highest credit ratings. this responds to the strength 
and stability of its operational results, the conservative management of its 
credit policies, the independence with which it undertakes its operations, 
and the continuous support of its shareholders.

Table 1. credit rAtings  
 Long-term Short-term

Fitch Ratings A+ F1

Japan Credit Rating Agency AA- -

Moody’s Investors Service A1 P-1

Standard & Poor’s A+ A-1

once again, CAF was reaffirmed as the most important source of multilat-
eral financing for its founding countries, while it has become an important 
provider of financing to its latin American and Caribbean shareholder 
countries. During the year, the Institution approved a record amount of 
operations for uSD 10.5 billion, and disbursed uSD 7.7 billion, mainly 
directed at financing medium- and long-term projects. 

During the year, it is worth noting the conversion of Brazil, panama, and 
uruguay into full members. Also, shareholder countries continued to meet 
timely payments that have been committed for a total of uSD 405 million, 
mainly derived from the uSD 2.5 billion capital increase approved in 2009 
in order to strengthen the Institution’s capital base. In the same line, Spain 
subscribed an additional uSD 327 million.

net income reached uSD 166 million, representing uSD 69 million less 
than the 2009 result. this was mainly due to a decrease of the lIBoR inter-
est rate evidenced in recent years and which reached a record low in 2010. 
As a result, the main profitability ratio, Return on equity (Roe), was 3.0%. 

Regarding bond issues in international markets, 2010 became the year of 
greatest activity in CAF’s history, both in the number of transactions as well 
as in the amount placed. the Institution issued bonds for approximately 
uSD 2.0 billion in the uS, Swiss, Japanese, and european markets, includ-
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Graph 1. bAlAnce sheet

As of December 31st, each year (in millions of USD)
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Graph 2. net incoMe And profitAbility
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suMMAry finAnciAl stAteMents

As of December 31st, 2010, total assets reached uSD 18.5 billion, a 17% 
increase with respect to the amount registered at year-end 2009 (graph 1). 
this was mostly due to increases in both the loan and liquidity portfolios. 
loan portfolio closed at uSD 13.8 billion, representing an 18% increase 
over the previous year. the other major component of assets, liquidity, to-
taled uSD 4.1 billion, and represented 22% of total assets and 33% of total. 
financial liabilities.

As of December 31st, 2010, shareholders’ equity reached uSD 5,8 billion, 
with paid-in capital of uSD 2.8 billion and additional paid-in capital of 
uSD 616 million. At the close of 2010, total shareholders’ equity repre-
sented 31% of total assets and 37.2% of risk-weighted assets, according to 
the methodology established in the Basle Agreement. net income reached 
uSD 166 million in 2010, mainly reflecting the growth of the credit port-
folio. however, this result was lower than in 2009 due to the decrease in in-
terest income derived from the decline of the lIBoR interest rate, which 
in 2010 reached historically low levels.

Return on equity (Roe) declined to 3.0% in 2010 compared to the 
4.7% registered in 2009, a level close to the average return on uS 10-
year treasury bonds (3.2%) and well above the average 6-month lIBoR 
rate (0.5%). At the same time, Return on Assets (RoA) for the year was 
1.0% (graph 2). 

loAn portfolio

At year-end 2010, CAF’s loan portfolio reached uSD 13.8 billion, repre-
senting an 18% increase over the uSD 11.7 billion registered the previ-
ous year.

the distribution of the loan portfolio maintained a larger concentration 
in public sector projects, which represented 80% of the total portfolio at 
December 31st, 2010. From the perspective of portfolio distribution by 
country, ecuador showed the largest exposure with 17.7% of the total, fol-
lowed by Venezuela, with 16.2%; peru, with 15.8%; Colombia, with 14.3%; 
Argentina, with 10.1%; Bolivia, with 9.4%; Brazil, with 8.1%; uruguay, 
with 4.8%; and panama, with 1.0%. the increasing participation of share-
holders which recently became full members favors the growing diversi-
fication of the portfolio in the short- and medium-term. In this regard, 
the new full members, together with those in the process of becoming full 
members, represented 25% of the loan portfolio at the end of 2010. CAF’s 
policies limit exposure to any individual country to a maximum of 30% of 
the total portfolio.

Financing of infrastructure and social and environmental development 
projects continued to be one of CAF’s main activities, representing 73% of 
the total loan portfolio at the end of 2010.
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likewise, the loan portfolio maintained its excellent credit quality (table 
2). At year-end 2010, there were no non-performing loans, and loan loss 
provisions amounted to uSD 141 million or 1.0% of the total loan port-
folio. During the year, there were no write-offs.

Table 2. Asset quAlity

As of December 31st, each year (in millions of USD) 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

Overdues  0.0 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.0

Loans in non-accrual status  0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Allowance for loan losses  188.6 168.3 143.2 143.9 141.4

Overdues as a percentage of loan portfolio  0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Non-accrual loans as a percentage of loan portfolio  0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

Allowances as a percentage of loan portfolio  2.33% 1.76% 1.41% 1.23% 1.03%

liquid Assets

At December 31st, 2010, liquid assets totaled uSD 4.1 billion, representing 
22% of total assets and 33% of financial liabilities. the investment portfolio 
was characterized by its short duration –an average of 0.40 years– and ex-
cellent credit quality (graph 3): 97.4% of liquid assets had an average rating 
of AA/Aa2; and only 2.6% had non investment grade. CAF policies require 
that at least 80% of liquid assets be held in investment grade instruments 
with credit ratings of at least A-/A3.

funding

In 2010, CAF registered the largest bond issue activity in capital markets 
in its history, successfully placing almost uSD 2 billion in 10 transactions. 
It is worth mentioning the following: uSD 600 million issued in the uS 
market, euR 400 million (approximately uSD 538 million) issued in 
the european market, the second issue in the Swiss market for ChF 250 
million (approximately uSD 262 million), and JpY 14,400 million (ap-
proximately uSD 178 million) issued in the Japanese market. In addition, 
CAF placed two issues of uSD 50 million each in uruguay’s market, 
continuing with its strategy of making placements in the local markets of 
its shareholder countries. Also, it is worth noting the first placement in 
the Japanese uridashi market for uSD 74 million, aimed at retail inves-
tors. this market is traditionally opened only to issuers with very high 
credit ratings.
 
Furthermore, CAF maintains an important presence in short-term mar-
kets through commercial paper programs in the uS and europe markets, 
which were increased to uSD 1.5 billion and uS 2 billion, respectively, 
to accommodate higher demand. this resulted in a placement of approx-
imately uSD 4 billion, maintaining competitive levels. In addition, time 
deposits maintained their importance as a stable and competitive source 
of funding, exceeding uSD 2.6 billion at year-end.

Graph 3. liquid Assets

As of December 31st, 2010 

investment grade 97%

non-investment grade 3%
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Regarding medium- and long-term loans, CAF obtained a uSD 100 mil-
lion syndicated loan in Asia (specifically in Japan and taiwan), a credit line 
from ICo, and continued with the local currency loan program for micro-
finance institutions, among others.

At December 31st, 2010, 70% of CAF’s funding came from international 
capital markets. Bonds represented the main source of funds with 58% of 
total funding (graph 4). In addition, deposits from institutional investors 
in the region represented 22% of total debt, followed by commercial paper 
with 12%, and by other short-term loans and medium- and long-term 
lines of credit with 8%. CAF has long-standing relations with the most 
important international banks, with official institutions from around the 
world, and with other multilateral financial institutions.

For details on the issues placed by CAF in 2010 please refer to table 3.

Table 3. 2010 debt issues in the internAtionAl MArkets

Date Market Amount in original currency  Equivalent

  of issuance (in millions)  in USD million

Bond issuance   

March Private placement EUR 100  136 

March Uruguay USd 50  50 

March Private placement USd 100  100 

May Uridashi USd 74  74 

July yankee USd 600  600 

October Samurai JPy 14,400  178 

November Swiss CHF 250  262 

November  Euro EUR 400  538 

december Uruguay USd 50  50 

 Sub-total 2010  1,988  

 Total 1993-2010  12,507  

Short-term issuance programs   

 Commercial paper (USA) USd 1,500  1,500 

 Commercial paper (Europe) USd 2,000  2,000 

cApitAl

During 2010, CAF received new capital contributions from its share-
holder countries for uSD 405 million. this amount was mostly related 
to capital suscriptions from the five Series C shareholder countries that 
were in the process of becoming full members (Argentina, Brazil, pan-
ama, paraguay, and uruguay), for a total of uSD 1.5 billion. of these 
countries, Brazil, panama, and uruguay became full members during 
the 2010 fiscal year. the remaining contributions corresponded to the 
capital increase approved in 2009 for uSD 2.5 billion, and were paid as 
scheduled. At the end of the year, the Institution’s capital amounted 
to uSD 5.8 billion, 9% higher than the amount registered at the end 
of 2009, strengthened by the inflow of contributions from shareholder 
countries, and by retained earnings.

Bonds 58%

Borrowings and other 
obligations 8%

commercial paper 12%

deposits 22%

Graph 4. liAbilities

As of December 31st, 2010
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As a result of the increase in shareholders’ equity, capitalization ratios remained 
within the levels established in CAF’s policies on this matter (table 4).

As of December 31st, each year
Table 4. cApitAlizAtion rAtios

  2006 2007 2008 2009 2010

Gearing (times)¹   2.4  2.4  2.3  2.3  2.5 

Leverage (times)²   1.8  2.0  2.1  2.0  2.2 

Capital/risk weighted assets (BIS)³  41.1% 36.3%* 38.4%* 41.7%* 37.2%*
1 According to internal financial management policies, this exposure measure should be less than or equal to 4.0.
2 According to internal financial management policies, this measure of indebtness should be less or equal than 3.5.
3 According to internal financial management policies, the level of capitalization should be greater or equal than 30%.

* Since 2007 the capitalization ratio was calculated based on the new methodology according to Basle II.

Asset-liAbility MAnAgeMent

In order to reduce foreign exchange and interest rate risks, CAF’s lending 
and borrowing activities are primarily conducted in floating-rate uSD. At 
December 31st, 2010, more than 99.6% of assets and 98.8% of liabilities were 
denominated in uSD after swaps, and 99.7% of the loans and 98.8% of the 
financial liabilities were based on the 6-month uSD lIBoR. transactions 
that are not denominated in uSD nor based on the 6-month lIBoR are 
swapped into these terms. the swaps book totaled uSD 7.1 billion at the 
end of 2010. CAF’s policies require that swap counterparts be rated at least 
A+/A1 or have a collateral agreement. In addition, CAF has Collateral Se-
curity Agreements (CSA) with its main counterparts. this reduces credit 
risk since valuations are made on a mark-to-market basis, and the debtor 
party must place the corresponding collateral in accordance with certain 
pre-established parameters. the Institution does not engage in the trading of 
derivatives. these instruments are used for hedging purposes only.

CAF seeks to maintain a conservative relationship between the average life 
of its assets and liabilities. At December 31st, 2010, the average life of its 
assets was 4.7 years and the average life of its liabilities was 3.6 years. the 
latter value does not include shareholders’ equity, which represents a high 
percentage of CAF’s financing and favors the maturity profile of liabilities.  
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ManageMent’s RepoRt on 
the effectiveness of 
inteRnal contRol 
oveR financial RepoRting

the Management of corporación andina de fomento (caf) is responsible for establishing 
and maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting in caf. Management has 
evaluated caf’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2010, based on 
the criteria for effective internal control determined in the internal control-integrated frame-
work issued by the committee of sponsoring organizations of the treadway commission 
(“coso”).

caf’s internal control over financial reporting is a process effected by those in charged of gov-
ernance, management, and other personnel, designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding 
the preparation of reliable financial statements in accordance with U.s. generally accepted ac-
counting principles. an entity’s internal control over financial reporting includes those poli-
cies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, 
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the entity; (2) 
provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation 
of financial statements in accordance with U.s. generally accepted accounting principles, and 
that receipts and expenditures of the entity are being made only in accordance with authoriza-
tions of management and those charged with governance; and (3) provide reasonable assurance 
regarding prevention, or timely detection and correction of unauthorized acquisition, use, or 
disposition of the entity’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Management has assessed the effectiveness of caf’s internal control over financial reporting 
as of December 31, 2010. Based on this assessment, caf’s Management concluded that caf’s 
internal control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2010.

there are inherent limitations in the effectiveness of any internal control system, including the 
possibility of human error and the deception or overriding of controls. accordingly, even an 
effective internal control can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial state-
ment preparation. further, because of changes in conditions, the effectiveness of internal control 
may vary over time.

caf’s financial statements as of December 31, 2010, have been audited by an independent 
accounting firm, which has also issued an attestation report on management’s assertion on the 
effectiveness of caf’s internal control over financial reporting. the attestation report, which 
is included in this document, expresses an unqualified opinion on management’s assertion on 
the effectiveness of caf’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2010.

february 11, 2011

l. enrique garcía
executive president 

and chief executive officer

hugo sarmiento K.
corporate vice president, 
chief financial officer

Marcos subía g.
Director, accounting and Budget
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inDepenDent accoUntants’ RepoRt 
on ManageMent’s asseRtion on 
effectiveness of inteRnal 
contRol oveR financial RepoRting

to the Board of Directors and stockholders of corporación andina de fomento (caf):

We have examined management’s assertion, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on 
the Effectiveness of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting, that corporación andina de fomento 
(caf) maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2010, 
based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of 
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). caf’s management is responsible for 
maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assertion on the effec-
tiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management’s 
Report on the Effectiveness of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. our responsibility is to express 
an opinion on management’s assertion based on our examination.

We conducted our examination in accordance with attestation standards established by the amer-
ican institute of certified public accountants. those standards require that we plan and perform 
the examination to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over fi-
nancial reporting was maintained in all material respects. our examination included obtaining an 
understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weak-
ness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control 
based on the assessed risk. our examination also included performing such other procedures as we 
considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our examination provides a reasonable 
basis for our opinion.

an entity’s internal control over financial reporting is a process effected by those charged with 
governance, management, and other personnel, designed to provide reasonable assurance regard-
ing the preparation of reliable financial statements in accordance with U.s. generally accepted 
accounting principles. an entity’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies 
and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately 
and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the entity; (2) provide reasonable 
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements 
in accordance with United states of america generally accepted accounting principles, and that 
receipts and expenditures of the entity are being made only in accordance with authorizations of 
management and those charged with governance; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding 
prevention, or timely detection and correction of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of 
the entity’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent, or 
detect and correct misstatements. also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future peri-
ods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, 
or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

in our opinion, management’s assertion that caf maintained effective internal control over fi-
nancial reporting as of December 31, 2010 is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on the 
criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring 
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).

We also have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United 
states of america, the balance sheets of caf as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, and the related 
statements of income, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for the years then ended, and our report 
dated february 11, 2011 expressed an unqualified opinion of those financial statements.

february 11, 2011
caracas – venezuela

A member firm of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu 
Limited.

Deloitte refers to one or more of Deloitte Touche 
Tohmatsu Limited, a UK private company limited 
by guarantee, and its network of member 
firms, each of which is a legally separate and 
independent entity. Please see www.deloitte.
com/about for a detailed description of the legal 
structure of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited 
and its member firms
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RepoRt of inDepenDent aUDitoRs

to the Board of Directors and stockholders of Corporación Andina de Fomento (CAF):

We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of corporación andina de fomento (caf) 
as of December 31, 2010 and 2009 and the related statements of income, stockholders’ equity 
and cash flows for the years ended. these financial statements are the responsibility of caf’s 
management. our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based 
on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the Unit-
ed states of america. those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. 
an audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements. an audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and 
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement 
presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

in our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of corporación andina de fomento (caf) as of December 31, 2010 and 
2009, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended, in accordance 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United states of america.

We also have examined, in accordance with attestation standards established by the american 
institute of certified public accountants, the management’s assertion that caf maintained 
effective internal control over financial reporting at December 31, 2010, based on criteria es-
tablished in Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organiza-
tions of the Treadway Commission (COSO), and our report dated february 11, 2011 expressed an 
unqualified opinion thereon.

february 11, 2011
caracas – venezuela

A member firm of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu 
Limited.

Deloitte refers to one or more of Deloitte Touche 
Tohmatsu Limited, a UK private company limited 
by guarantee, and its network of member 
firms, each of which is a legally separate and 
independent entity. Please see www.deloitte.
com/about for a detailed description of the legal 
structure of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited 
and its member firms



208    NOTES 2010 2009 
ASSETS   

Cash and due from banks   119,834 29,906
Deposits with banks  2  1.403,443  1,237,863
Marketable securities:
 Trading  3 and 18  2,456,745  2,214,254
Other investments  2  146,852  203,361
Loans (US$ 67,678 and US$ 61,458 at fair value as of
 december 31, 2010 and 2009)  4 and 18  13,783,043  11,686,689
 Less loan commissions, net of origination costs   70,129  56,125
 Less allowance for losses  4  141,364  143,911
  Loans, net   13,571,550  11,486,653
Equity investments  5  94,721  85,482
Accrued interest and commissions receivable   159,559  135,705
Derivative instruments  17 and 18  524,989  436,745
Property and equipment, net  6  29,901  28,074
Other assets  7  39,281  29,026
  Total assets   18,546,875  15,887,069

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
LIABILITIES

Deposits  8  2,739,497  2,650,706
Commercial papers  9  1,524,285  1,265,417
Bonds (US$ 7,089,124 and US$ 5,588,862 at fair value as of
 december 31, 2010 and 2009)  10 and 18  7,212,812  5,699,219
Borrowings and other obligations (US$ 347,310 and US$ 137,555  11 and 18  998,089  788,467
 (at fair vale as of december 31, 2010 and 2009)
Accrued interest payable   120,001  98,093
Derivative instruments  17 and 18  132,887  45,136
Accrued expenses and other liabilities   1,266,117  53,227
  Total liabilities   12,793,688  10,600,265

STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY  14
Subscribed and paid-in capital (authorized capital US$10,000 million)   2,813,940  2,485,645
Additional paid-in capital   616,171  539,222
Reserves   2,156,937  2,027,228
Retained earnings   166,139  234,709
  Total stockholders’ equity   5,753,187  5,286,804
  Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity   18,546,875  15,887,069

See accompanying notes to the financial statements

CorporaCión andina de Fomento (CAF)

BAlAnCe SheetS
December 31, 2010 and 2009
(In thousands of U.S. dollars)            
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Interest income
 Loans  1(f)  320,068  398,737
 Investments and deposits with banks  1(e) and 3  33,965  67,318
 Loan commissions  1(f)  31,522  17,798
  Total interest income   385,555  483,853
Interest expense
 Deposits   9,255  14,413
 Commercial papers   9,771  7,187
 Advances and short-term borrowings   -  1,011
 Bonds   136,651  139,614
 Borrowings and other obligations   10,057 16,094
 Commissions   7,481  10,406
  Total interest expense   173,215  188,725
  Net interest income   212,340  295,128
Credit to allowance for loan losses  4  (2,990)  (1,656)
  Net interest income, after credit to
        allowance for loan losses   215,330  296,784
Non-interest income
 Other commissions   3,798  3,319
 Dividends and equity in earnings of investees   3.301  9,596
 Other income   801  1,082
  Total non-interest income   7,900  13,997
Non-interest expenses
 Administrative expenses   69,735  62,562
 Other expenses   1,069  147
  Total non-interest expenses   70,804  62,709
  Net income before unrealized changes in fair value related
  to financial instruments   152,426  248,072
Unrealized changes in fair value related to 
 financial instruments   13,713  (13,363)
  Net income   166,139  234,709

See accompanying notes to the financial statements     
  

CorporaCión andina de Fomento (CAF)

StAtementS oF InCome
Years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009
(In thousands of U.S. dollars)            
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    Subscribed      Total
    and paid- Additional General Article N° 42 Total Retained stockholders’  
   NOTES in capital paid- in capital reserve of by-laws reserves earnings equity

Balances at December 31, 2008   2,176,430  280,255  1,458,180  327,574  1,785,754  311,474  4,553,913
 Capital increase  14  209,135  359,047  - -  -  -  568,182
 Stock dividends  14  100,080  (100,080)  -  -  -  -  -
 Net income  14  -  -  -  -  -  234,709  234,709
 Appropriated for general reserve  14  -  -  210,335  -  210,335  (210,335)  -
 Appropriated for reserve pursuant
  to Article N° 42 of by-laws  14  -  -  -  31,139  31,139  (31,139)  -
 Distributions to stockholders’ funds  15  -  -  -  -  -  (70,000)  (70,000)
Balances at December 31, 2009   2,485,645  539.222  1,668,515  358,713  2,027,228  234,709  5,286,804
 Capital increase  14  150,835  254,409  -  -  -  -  405,244
 Stock dividends  14  177,460  (177,460)  -  -  -  -  -
 Net income  14  - -   -  -  -  166,139  166,139
 Appropriated for general reserve  14  -  -  106,238  -  106,238  (106,238)  -
 Appropriated for reserve pursuant
  to Article N° 42 of by-laws  14  -   - -  23,471  23,471  (23,471)  -
 Distributions to stockholders’ funds  15  -  -  -   -  - (105,000)  (105,000)
Balances at December 31, 2010   2,813,940  616,171  1,774,753  382,184  2,156,937  166,139  5.753,187

See accompanying notes to the financial statements

CorporaCión andina de Fomento (CAF)

StAtementS oF StoCkholderS’ equIty
Years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009
(In thousands of U.S. dollars)            
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CorporaCión andina de Fomento (CAF)

StAtementS oF CASh FlowS
Years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009
(In thousands of U.S. dollars)            

    NOTES 2010 2009 
Cash flows from operating activities
 Net income   166,139  234,709
 Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash used in operating activities -
  Unrealized loss on trading securities  3  4,209  2,924
  Amortization of loan commissions, net of origination costs   (11,943)  (8,148)
  Credit to allowance for loan losses  4  (2,990)  (1,656)
  Equity in earnings of investees   (678)  (9,129)
  Amortization of deferred charges   2,297  1,864
  Depreciation of property and equipment  6  2,224  1,659
  Provision for employees’ severance indemnities and benefits   7,812  7,162
  Provision for employees’ savings plan   1,334  1,366
 Unrealized changes in fair value related to financial instruments   (13,713)  13,363
Net changes in operating assets and liabilities -
  Severance indemnities paid or advanced   (3,973)  (5,352)
  Employees’ savings plan paid or advanced   (31)  (717)
  Trading securities, net  3  (246,700)  (518,558)
  Interest and commissions receivable   (23,854)  59,532
  Other assets   (12,552)  1,667
  Accrued interest payable   21,908  (39,911)
   Accrued expenses and other liabilities   7,748  (3,929)
   Total adjustments and net changes in operating assets and liabilities   (268,902)  (497,863)
Net cash used in operating activities   (102,763)  (263,154)
 Cash flows from investing activities
 Purchases of other investments  2  (273,927)  (903,182)
 Maturities of other investments  2  330,436  856,201
 Loan origination and principal collections, net  4  (2,070,844)  (1,480,678)
 Equity investments  5  (8,561)  (1,287)
 Purchases of property and equipment  6  (4,051)  (5,684)
   Net cash used in investing activities   (2,026,947)  (1,534,630)
   Carried forward,   (2,129,710)  (1,797,784)

See accompanying notes to the financial statements
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CorporaCión andina de Fomento (CAF)

StAtementS oF CASh FlowS
Years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009
(In thousands of U.S. dollars)

    NOTES 2010 2009 
   Brought forward,  (2.129.710)  (1.797.784)
Cash flows from financing activities
 Net increase in deposits   88.791  (122.413)
 Net increase in commercial paper   2 58.868  6 07.023
 Proceeds from advances and short-term borrowings   -  9 1.295
 Repayment of advances and short-term borrowings   -  (240.168)
 Proceeds from issuance of bonds  10  1.986.056  1.256.876
 Repayment of bonds  10  (448.608)  (618.567)
 Proceeds from borrowings and other obligations  11  3 37.008  2 54.637
 Repayment of borrowings and other obligations  11  (137.141)  (147.748)
 Distributions to stockholders’ funds  15  (105.000)  (70.000)
 Proceeds from issuance of shares  14  4 05.244  5 68.182
  Net cash provided by financing activities   2.385.218  1.579.117
  Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents   2 55.508  (218.667)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year   1.267.769  1.486.436
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year   1.523.277  1.267.769
Consisting of
 Cash and due from banks   119.834  29.906
 Deposits with banks   1.403.443  1.237.863
     1.523.277  1.267.769
Supplemental disclosure
 Interest paid during the year   1 43.237  216.958
 Noncash financing activities
  Change in derivative instruments assets   88.244  (239.441)
  Change in derivative instruments liabilities   87.751  (13.886)

See accompanying notes to the financial statements
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CorporaCión andina de Fomento (CAF)

noteS to the FInAnCIAl StAtementS
For the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009
(In thousands of US Dollars)

1. Significant accounting PolicieS

a. Description of Business – corporación andina de fomento (“caf”) commenced 
operations on June 8, 1970 established under public international law which abides by 
the provisions of its by-laws. series “a” and “B” shareholder countries are: Bolivia, Bra-
zil, colombia, ecuador, panama, peru, Uruguay and venezuela. series “c” shareholder 
countries are: argentina, chile, costa Rica, Dominican Republic, Jamaica, Mexico, para-
guay, spain and trinidad and tobago. in addition, there are 14 banks which are series “B” 
shareholders. caf has its headquarters in caracas, venezuela.

caf’s objective is to support sustainable development and economic integration within 
latin america and the caribbean by helping the shareholder countries make their econ-
omies diversified, competitive and more responsive to social needs.

caf offers financial and related services to the governments of, and public and pri-
vate institutions, corporations and joint ventures in, its shareholder countries. primarily, 
caf’s principal activity is to provide short, medium and long-term loans to finance 
projects, working capital, trade activities and to undertake feasibility studies for invest-
ment opportunities in its shareholder countries. furthermore, caf manages and su-
pervises third-party cooperation funds of other countries and organizations, generally 
non-reimbursable, destined to finance programs agreed with donor organizations which 
are in line with caf policies and strategies.

caf raises funds for operations both within and outside its shareholder countries.

b.Financial Statement Presentation – the financial statements have been prepared in ac-
cordance with U.s. generally accepted accounting principles and the functional currency 
is the U.s. dollar.

in preparing financial statements in conformity with U.s. generally accepted accounting 
principles, management is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of assets and liabilities as of the date of the balance sheet and reported 
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.  

c. Transactions in other currencies – transactions in currencies other than U.s. dollars 
are translated at exchange rates prevailing on the international markets at the dates of 
the transactions. other currency balances are translated at year-end exchange rates. any 
gains or losses on foreign exchange including related hedge effects are included in the 
statement of income.

d. Cash and Cash Equivalents – cash and cash equivalents are defined as cash, due from 
banks and short-term deposits with an original maturity of three months or less.

e. Marketable Securities – caf classifies its investments, according with management 
intention, in debt securities in one of two categories: trading or held-to-maturity. trad-
ing securities are bought and held principally for the purpose of selling them in the near 
term. held-to-maturity securities are those securities which caf has the ability and 
intent to hold until maturity.

trading securities are recorded at fair value. gains and losses on trading securities are 
included in interest income of investments and deposits with banks in the statements of 
income.
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held-to-maturity securities are recorded at amortized cost, adjusted for the amortiza-
tion or accretion of premiums or discounts. a decline in the market value of any held-
to-maturity security below cost that is deemed to be other than temporary results in 
a reduction in carrying amount. the impairment is charged to income and a new cost 
basis for the security is established. premiums and discounts are amortized or accreted 
over the life of the related held-to-maturity security as an adjustment to yield using the 
effective interest method.

Dividend and interest income are recognized when received and earned, respectively.

f. Loans – caf grants short, medium and long-term loans to finance projects, working 
capital, trade activities and undertake feasibility studies for investment opportunities in 
its shareholder countries. loans are reported at their outstanding unpaid principal bal-
ances adjusted for charge-offs, less the allowance for loan losses and loan commissions 
net of origination costs. interest income is accrued on the unpaid principal balance. loan 
commission fees, net of certain direct origination costs, are deferred and recognized as an 
adjustment of the related loan yield using the interest method and are presented as loan 
commissions in the statement of income.

the accrual for interest on loans is discontinued at the time a private sector loan is 90 
days (180 days for public sector loans) delinquent unless the credit is well-secured and 
in process of collection.

all interest accrued but not collected for loans that are placed on nonaccrual or charged 
off is reversed against interest income. the interest on these loans is accounted for on the 
cash-basis, until qualifying for return to accrual. loans are returned to accrual status when 
all the principal and interest amounts contractually due are brought current and future 
payments are reasonably assured.

the nonaccrual loans are considered impaired. factors considered by management 
in determining impairment include payments status and the probability of collecting 
scheduled principal and interest payments when due.

in compliance with its objective and financial policies, caf grants loans both to pub-
lic and private entities for development and integration programmes and projects in 
stockholder countries. accordingly, caf maintains risk exposure policies to avoid con-
centrating its loan portfolio in one country or specific economic groups, which might 
be affected by market situations or other circumstances. Due to that, caf uses certain 
measurement parameters, such as:  caf’s net stockholders’ equity, total loan portfolio, 
economic groups from public and private sectors, among others.

Equity Investments – caf participates with equity investments in companies and in-
vestment funds in strategic sectors, with a view to promoting the development of such 
companies and their participation in the securities markets and to serve as a catalytic 
agent in attracting resources into the shareholder countries.

equity investments are accounted for using the equity method or at cost. if caf has the 
ability to exercise significant influence over the operating and financial policies of the 
investee, which is generally presumed to exist at a 20% of equity ownership level, the eq-
uity investments are accounted for using the equity method. Under the equity method, 
the carrying value of the equity investment is adjusted for caf’s proportionate share of 
earnings or losses, dividends received and certain other transactions of the investee com-
pany. these investments do not have readily determinable fair values.

a decline in the value of any equity investment accounted at cost that is deemed to be 
other than temporary, results in a reduction in the carrying amount to fair value. these 
investments are evaluated and any impairment is charged to income and a new cost basis 
for the investment is established.



215

h. Allowance for Loan Losses – the allowance for loan losses is maintained at a level 
caf believes is adequate but not excessive to absorb probable losses inherent in the loan 
portfolio as of the date of the financial statements. the general allowance for loan losses is 
established by caf based on the individual risk rating for the long-term other currency 
debt of the borrower countries which is assigned by the international risk rating agencies 
as of the date of the financial statements preparation. this country risk rating considers 
a default probability. given caf’s status as a preferred creditor and taking into account 
the immunities and privileges conferred into it by its shareholder countries, which are 
established in caf’s by-laws and other similar agreements, a factor reflecting a lower 
default probability - usually equivalent to a better risk rating - is used.

a specific allowance is established by caf for those loans that are considered impaired. a 
loan is considered as impaired when, based on currently available information and events, 
there exists the probability that caf will not recover the total amount of principal and 
interest as agreed in the terms of the original loan contract. the impairment of loans is 
determined on a loan by loan basis based on the present value of expected future cash 
flows, discounted at the loan’s effective interest rate.

loan losses are charged against the allowance when management believes the uncollect-
ibility of a loan balance is confirmed. subsequent recoveries, if any, are credited to the 
allowance.

i. Property and Equipment -net – property and equipment are stated at cost less accu-
mulated depreciation. expenditures for maintenance and repairs are charged directly to 
the statements of income for the year as incurred, and improvements and renewals are 
capitalized. Depreciation, is computed on the straight-line method, and charged to the 
statements of income over the estimated useful life of assets.

During 2009, based on the expansion plans of operations involving operating assets, 
caf’s management conducted an analysis on the useful life assigned to such assets. in 
connection with this review, it decided a prospective updating of the useful life of certain 
assets, which caused an immaterial increase in profits for the period.

the assets in conformity with their estimated useful life are as follows: 

Buildings 30 years
Buildings improvements  15  years
Furniture and equipment 2 to 10 years 
Vehicles 5 years

j. Intangible assets – intangible assets are reported at cost less accumulated amortization. 
the amortization is computed in accordance with the straight-line method over the useful 
life estimated by caf.  the estimated useful life of these assets is between 2 and 5 years.

k. Bonds and borrowings – Medium and long-term debt issuances, whose objective is 
to provide the financial resources required to finance caf’s operations, are recorded in 
bonds. the borrowings account includes those obligations with local or foreign financial 
institutions and commercial banks, which are commonly recorded at amortized cost.

Bonds are recorded as follows:
•	 Bonds	denominated in other currencies are recognized at their fair value, as provided 

by asc 825-10-25 “fair value option”. gains or losses resulting from changes in the 
fair value of these bonds are recognized in the statement of income as they occur. 
caf enters into cross currency interest rate swaps as an economic hedge of the inter-
est rate and foreign exchange risks related to these bonds.

•	 Bonds	denominated in Us$ are hedged for interest rate risk using interest rate swaps, 
and are put into fair value hedge accounting relationships assuming no hedge inef-
fectiveness (the “short cut method”), as established in asc 815-20-25-102.
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transactions related to partial repurchases of bond issuances result in the derecognition 
of the related liabilities. the difference between the repurchase price and the debt’s 
settlement net cost is recognized as income/loss for the year.

l. Employees’ Severance Indemnities – accrual for severance benefits comprises all the 
liabilities related to the workers’ vested rights according to caf’s employee policies and 
the labor law of the Bolivarian Republic of venezuela.

Under the current labor law, employees earn a severance indemnity equal to five days 
of salary per month, up to a total of 60 days per year of service. labor indemnities are 
earned once an employee has completed three (3) months of continuous service. from 
the second year of service, the employees earn an additional two- day salary for each year 
of service (or fraction of a year greater than six months), cumulative up to a maximum of 
30 days of salary. severance benefits are recorded in the accounting records of caf and 
interest on the amounts owed to employees are paid.

in the case of unjustified dismissal or involuntary termination, employees have the right 
to an additional indemnity of one-month salary per year of service up to a maximum 
of 150 days.

m. Pension Plan – caf established in March 2005 a defined benefit pension plan which 
is mandatory for all new employees as of the date of implementation of the plan and 
voluntary for all other employees. the plan is contributory and the benefits are based 
on years of service and the employee’s average salary for the three consecutive years of 
service with the highest salary. these contributions are reviewed on a periodic basis by 
caf based on actuarial assumptions.

n. Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities – all derivatives are recognized on the 
balance sheet at their fair value. on the date the derivative contract is entered into, for which 
hedge accounting would to be applied, caf designates the derivative as either a hedge 
of the fair value of a recognized asset or liability or of an unrecognized firm commitment 
(“fair value hedge”), a hedge of a forecasted transaction or of the variability of cash flows to 
be received or paid related to a recognized asset or liability (“cash flow hedge”). caf for-
mally documents all relationships between hedging instruments and hedged items, as well 
as its risk-management objective and strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions. 
this process includes linking the derivatives that are designated as fair-value or cash-flow 
hedges to specific assets and liabilities on the balance sheet or to specific firm commitments 
or forecasted transactions. caf also formally assesses, both at the hedge’s inception and on 
an ongoing basis, whether the derivatives that are used in hedging transactions are highly 
effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of hedged items.

changes in the fair value of a derivative that is highly effective and that is designated 
and qualifies as a fair-value hedge, along with the loss or gain on the hedged asset or 
liability or unrecognized firm commitment of the hedged item that is attributable to 
the hedged risk, are recorded in income. changes in the fair value of a derivative that is 
highly effective and that is designated and qualifies as a cash-flow hedge are recorded in 
other comprehensive income, until income is affected by the variability in cash flows of 
the designated hedged item.

caf discontinues hedge accounting prospectively when it is determined that the de-
rivative is no longer effective in offsetting changes in the fair value or cash flows of the 
hedged item; the derivative expires or is sold, terminated, or exercised; the derivative is 
de-designated as a hedging instrument, because it is unlikely that a forecasted transac-
tion will occur; a hedged firm commitment no longer meets the definition of a firm 
commitment; or management determines that designation of the derivative as a hedging 
instrument is no longer appropriate.

When hedge accounting is discontinued because it is determined that the derivative no 
longer qualifies as an effective fair-value hedge, caf continues to carry the derivative on 
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the balance sheet at its fair value, and no longer adjusts the hedged asset or liability for 
changes in fair value. the adjustment of the carrying amount of the hedged asset or li-
ability is accounted for in the same manner as other components of the carrying amount 
of that asset or liability. When hedge accounting is discontinued because the hedged 
item no longer meets the definition of a firm commitment, caf continues to carry the 
derivative on the balance sheet at its fair value, removes any asset or liability that was 
recorded pursuant to recognition of the firm commitment from the balance sheet and 
recognizes any gain or loss in income. When hedge accounting is discontinued because 
it is probable that a forecasted transaction will not occur, caf continues to carry the de-
rivative on the balance sheet at its fair value, and gains and losses that were accumulated 
in other comprehensive income are recognized immediately in income. in all situations 
in which hedge accounting is discontinued, caf continues to carry the derivative at its 
fair value on the balance sheet, and recognizes any changes in its fair value in income.

o. Guarantees – caf provides guarantees for loans issued in support of projects located 
within a shareholder country that are undertaken by public and private entities. caf 
may offer guarantees of private credit agreements or it may offer public guarantees of 
obligations of the securities of third party issuers. caf generally offers partial credit 
guarantees with the intention that private lenders or holders of securities share the 
risk along with it. caf’s responsibility is  limited to payment up to the amount of the 
guarantee upon default by the client. the guarantee fee income received is deferred and 
recognized over the life of the transaction.

p. Recent Accounting Pronouncements Applicables – 
•	 Accounting Standards Update (ASU or Update) 2010-6, improving Disclosures about 

fair value Measurements; asU 2010-6 amends the disclosure requirements for fair 
value measurements. companies are now required to disclose significant transfers 
in and out of levels 1 and 2 of the fair value hierarchy, whereas the previous rules 
only required the disclosure of transfers in and out of level 3. additionally, in the roll 
forward of level 3 activity, companies must present information on purchases, sales, 
issuances, and settlements on a gross basis rather than on a net basis. the Update also 
clarifies that fair value measurement disclosures should be presented for each class 
of assets and liabilities. a class is typically a subset of a line item in the statement of 
financial position. companies should also provide information about the valuation 
techniques and inputs used to measure fair value for both recurring and nonrecurring 
instruments classified as either level 2 or level 3. We adopted this guidance in the first 
quarter of 2010, except for the new requirement related to the level 3 roll forward. 
gross presentation in the level 3 roll forward is effective for us in first quarter 2011 
with prospective application.

•	 Disclosures about the credit quality of financing receivables and the allowance for 
credit losses - in July 2010, the fasB issued guidance that will require enhanced dis-
closures surrounding the credit characteristics of caf’s loan portfolio. Under the new 
guidance, caf will be required to disclose its accounting policies, the methods it uses 
to determine the components of the allowance for credit losses, and qualitative and 
quantitative information about the credit risk inherent in the loan portfolio, including 
additional information on certain types of loan modifications. this statement has not 
affected caf´s financial results.
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2. DePoSitS with BankS

Deposits with banks mature in three months or less and include the following:

         December 31,

 2010  2009

U.S. dollars  1,403,230  1,236,045

Other currencies  213  1,818

 1,403,443  1,237,863

as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, deposits due in 90 days or more are reported in the 
balance sheets as other investments.

3. MarketaBle SecuritieS

Trading Securities
a summary of trading securities follows:

trading securities include net unrealized losses of Us$ 4,209 and Us$ 2,924 at Decem-
ber 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively.

net realized gains from trading securities of Us$ 11,781 and of Us$ 26,542 at Decem-
ber 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively, are included in the statement of income in the line 
investment and deposits with banks.

caf places its short-term investments in several financial institutions and limits the 
amount of credit risk. as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, caf does not have any signi-
ficant concentrations of credit risk. total marketable securities include Us$ 95,485 and 
Us$ 17,165, at December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively, in other currencies.

4. loanS

loans include short, medium and long-term loans to finance projects, working capital 
and trade activities. the majority of the loan contracts have been subscribed with the 
series “a” and “B” shareholder countries, or with private institutions or companies of 
these countries.

loans by country are summarized as follows:
 
 December 31,
Shareholder country 2010  2009
Argentina  1,395,137 1,156,848
Bolivia  1,301,123  1,157,668
Brazil  1,115,992 1,033,705
Colombia  1,965,880  1,688,710
Costa Rica  152,388  151,513
Dominican Republic  119,722  75,000
Ecuador  2,436,631  2,051,732
Mexico  19,466  -
Panama  139,604  126,121
Paraguay  66,049  27,687
Peru  2,181,681  1,864,529
Uruguay  656,678  581,510
Venezuela  2,227,613  1,765,088
       Loans  13,777,964  11,680,111
Fair value adjustments  5,079  6,578
Carrying value of loans  13,783,043  11,686,689

 December 31,
  2010  2009
 Average Average
 Amount maturity (years) Amount maturity (years)
U.S. Treasury Notes  45,011  1.77  36,046  0.89
Bonds of non-U.S. governments and government entities  258,673  2.23  4 3,382  3.47
Financial institutions and corporate securities:  2,153,061  0.46  2,134,826 0.73
Commercial paper  882,529  1,049,059
Certificates of deposit  340,711  351,959
Bonds  666,388  499,595
Others 263,433   234,213
  2,456,745 0.68 2,214,254 0.78
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the loan portfolio composition and average yield of loans disbursed and outstanding are 
summarized below:

loans by industry segments are as follows:

loans mature as follows:

loans portfolio quality 

the loan portfolio quality indicators for both years are presented below:

                                                                                                                                              December 31,

 2010  2009

Public Sector  11,050,387  9,324,379
Private Sector  2,727,577  2,355,732
Loans  13,777,964  11,680,111
Fair value adjustments  5,079  6,578
Carrying value of loans  13,783,043  11,686,689

 December 31
 2010 % 2009 %
Agriculture, hunting and forestry  40,454  -  7 8,116  1
Exploitation of mines and quarries  66,000  1  4 3,000  1
Manufacturing industry  199,896  1  2 61,378  2
Supply of electricity, gas and water  4,089,458  30  2,960,953  25
Transport, warehousing and communications  4,362,460  32  3,660,135  31
Commercial banks  1,698,488  12  1,500,080  13
Development banks  253,993  2  1 38,465  1
Social and other infrastructure programs  3,067,215  22  3,031,127  26
Other activities  -  -  6 ,857  -
 13,777,964  100  1 1,680,111  100

fair value adjustments to the carrying value of loans represent adjustments to the ca-
rrying value of transactions in designated fair value.

at December 31, 2010 and 2009, loans in other currencies were granted for an equiva-
lent of Us$ 34,506 and Us$ 35,771, respectively, principally in peruvian nuevos soles 
and colombian pesos. at December 31, 2010 and 2009, loans include fixed interest rate 
loans of Us$ 38,286 and Us$ 72,097, respectively.

loans classified by public sector and private sector borrowers, are as follows:

 December 31,
  2010  2009
 Average Average
 Amount maturity (years) Amount maturity (years)
Loans  13,777,964  2.44  1 1,680,111  2.59

                                                                                                                                                December 31,

 2010  2009

Remaining maturities -  
Less than one year  2,328,806  2,277,403
Between one and two years  1,635,890  1,088,676
Between two and three years  1,377,283  1,126,905
Between three and four years  1,240,399  1,078,578
Between four and five years  1,102,446  943,399
Over five years  6,093,140  5,165,150
 13,777,964  11,680,111

                                                                                                                                                December 31,

 2010  2009

Remaining maturities -
Overdue loans  0  0
Nonaccrual loans  0  0
Impair Loans  0  0
Overdue loan principal as a percentage of loan portfolio  0%  0%
Nonaccrual loans as a percentage of loan portfolio  0%  0%
Allowance for losses as a percentage of loan portfolio  1.03%  1.23%
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Purchase of loan portfolio
During 2009, caf carried out operations related to the purchase of loans for the amount 
of Us$65,000. During 2010, caf did not conduct this type of operations.

A/B loans
caf administers loan participations provided to clients, and assumes the credit risk only 
for the portion of the loan owned by caf. at the end of the years 2010 and 2009, caf 
administered loans of this nature whereby other financial institutions provided funds 
amounting to Us$ 1,002,034 and Us$ 898,910, respectively.

Allowance for loan losses
a movement of the allowance for loan losses follows:

5. equity inveStMentS

equity investments, which have no market value, are as follows:

6. ProPerty anD equiPMent - net

a summary of property and equipment follows:

the depreciation expenses of Us$ 2,224 and of Us$ 1,659 for property and equipment 
at December 31, 2010 and 2009, respectively, are included in the statement of income.

7.other aSSetS

a summary of other assets follows:

                                                                                                                                                December 31,

 2010  2009
Direct investments in companies accounted under
      equity method  30,466  31,077
Investment funds accounted under 
      equity method  23,034  27,566
Direct investments in companies at cost 9,674  9,674
Investment funds at cost  31,547  17,165
 9 4,721  85,482

                                                                                                                                                December 31,

 2010  2009
Balances at beginning of year  143,911 143,167
Credit to results of operations  (2,990)  (1,656)
Recoveries  443  2,400
Loans charged-off  -  -
Balances at end of year  141,364  143,911

                                                                                                                                                December 31,

 2010  2009
Land  16,650  16,650
Buildings  20,412  20,412
Buildings improvements  17,058 1 5,010
Furniture and equipment  13,641  11,842
Vehicles  7 52  472
 68,513  64,386
Less accumulated depreciation  38,612  36,312
 29,901  28,074

                                                                                                                                                December 31,

 2010  2009
Intangible assests, net  7,858  6,024
Deferred charges, net  26,820  19,701
Other assets  4,603  3,301
 39,281  29,026
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8. DePoSitS

caf’s deposits of Us$ 2,739,497 at December 31, 2010 mature in 2011 (Us $2,650,706 
at December 31, 2009 - matured in 2010). at December 31, 2010 and 2009, the interest 
rates on deposits rangedfrom 0.01% to 1.35% and from 0.10% to 2.06%, respectively. 
total deposits include Us$ 136,180and Us$ 27,460, at December 31, 2010 and 2009, 
respectively in other currencies.

9. coMMercial PaPer

caf’s commercial paper of Us$ 1,524,285 at December 31, 2010 mature in 2011 (Us$ 
1,265,417 at December 31, 2009 - matured in 2010). at December 31, 2010 and 2009, 
the interest rates on commercial paper ranged from 0.26% to 1.16% and from 0.12% to 
1.89%, respectively.

10. BonDS

an analysis of bonds follows:

a summary of the bonds issued, by remaining maturities, follows:

at December 31, 2010 and 2009, fixed interest rate bonds amounted to Us$ 5,906,811 
and Us$ 4,426,606, respectively, of which Us$ 1,742,141 and Us$ 935,936, respectively, 
are denominated in yen, euros, pounds sterling, swiss francs, colombian pesos and pe-
ruvian nuevos soles.

                                                                                                                                                December 31,

 2010  2009
Remaining maturities -
Less than one year  578,590  447,047
Between one and two years  485,986  767,904
Between two and three years  922,969  739,021
Between three and four years  1,027,072  749,421
Between four and five years  1,014,381  204,074
Over five years  2,796,865  2,380,949
 6,825,863  5,288,416

 December 31,
 2010 2009 
 Principal outstanding  Principal outstanding
   Weighted   Weighted
   average cost,   average cost,
 At original   after swaps At original  after swaps
 exchange At spot   (%) exchange rate At spot  (%) 
  rate exchange rate (Year-end)  rate exchange rate (Year-end)

U.S. dollars 4,300,007  4,300,007  2.42  3,427,798  3,427,798  2.79
Euros  1,043,647  1,046,260  1.86  369,357  412,268  0.92
Yen  417,384  483,554 2.40  448,359  540,272  1.73
Colombian Pesos  205,352  243,221  3.38  305,353  369,563  2.37
Venezuelan Bolivars  209,302  104,651  (0.63)  209,302  209,302  (0.53)
Swiss francs  455,616  478,062  2.30  193,836  192,456  2.64
Mexican Pesos  68,807  60,618  1.14  145,223  119,002  1.16
Peruvian Nuevos Soles  125,748  139,882  1.21  125,748  135,795  1.43
Pounds Sterling  -  -  -  63,440  64,993  3.07
 6 ,825,863  6,856,255   5,288,416  5,471,449
Fair value adjustments   356,557    227,770
Carrying value of bonds   7,212,812    5,699,219
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11. BorrowingS anD other oBligationS

an analysis of borrowings and other obligations and their weighted average cost, follows:

at December 31, 2010 and 2009, there are fixed interest-bearing borrowings and other 
obligations amounting to Us$ 155,113 and Us$ 20,582, respectively

Borrowings and other obligations, by remaining maturities, are summarized below:

some borrowing agreements contain covenants conditioning the use of the funds for 
specific purposes or projects.

at December 31, 2010 and 2009 there were unused term credit facilities amounting to 
Us$ 172,000 and Us$ 117,300, respectively.

12. accrueD exPenSeS anD other liaBilitieS

a summary of accrued expenses and other liabilities follows:

13. PenSion Plan

caf established in March 2005 a defined benefit pension plan (the plan), which is man-
datory for all new employees as of the date of implementation of the plan and voluntary 
for all other employees. the plan is contributory and the benefits are based on years of 
service and the average employee’s salary for the three consecutive years of service with 
the highest salary. the employees make monthly contributions to the plan equal to 7% of 
their salary. all contributions are made in cash. voluntary participants must contribute to 
the plan certain withheld benefits. at December 31, 2010 the plan has 218 participants.

the measurement date used to determine pension plan benefits is December 31.

the plan’s benefit obligation (pBo) and assets as of December 31, 2010 and 2009 
follows:

                                                                                                                                                December 31,

 2010  2009
Remaining maturities -
Less than one year  143,618  128,936
Between one and two years  130,822  142,046
Between two and three years  148,869  108,598
Between three and four years  233,505  90,593
Between four and five years  107,590  56,832
Over five years  226,375  263,907
 990,779  790,912

 
  December 31,
 2010 2009 
 Principal outstanding  Principal outstanding   
   Weighted   Weighted
   average cost,   average cost,
 At original   after swaps At original  after swaps
 exchange At spot   (%) exchange rate At spot  (%) 
  rate exchange rate (Year-end)  rate exchange rate (Year-end)

U.S. dollars  977,147  977,147  1.06  775,360  775,360  0.98
Peruvian Nuevos Soles (at spot rate)  10,575  1 0,575  -  13,891  13,891  -
Other currencies (at spot rate)  3,057  3,057  -  1,661  1,661  -
 990,779  990,779   790,912  790,912
Fair value adjustments   7,310    (2,445)
Carrying value of borrowings and other obligations   998,089    788,467

                                                                                                                                                December 31,

 2010  2009
Employees’ severance indemnities, benefits and savings  54,317  48,139
Other liabilities  11,800  5,088
 66,117  53,227
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as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, the pBo’s net assets are as follows:

the table below summarizes the evolution of the periodic cost of projected benefits 
related to the pBo for the periods ended December 31, 2010 and 2009:

a summary of the net projected cost for the year 2011 follows:

Weighted-average assumptions used to determine net benefit cost since the origination 
of the plan to December 31, 2010 and 2009 follows:

14. StockholDerS’ equity

Authorized Capital
the authorized capital of caf at December 31, 2010 and 2009, amounts to 
Us$10,000,000, respectively, distributed among series “a”, “B” and “c” shares.

Subscribed Callable Capital
the payment of subscribed callable capital will be as required, with prior approval of 
the Board of Directors, in order to meet financial obligations of caf, when internal 
resources are inadequate.

Shares
caf’s shares are classified as follows:
•	series “a” shares: subscribed by the governments or public-sector institutions, semipub-

lic or private entities with social or public objectives of: Bolivia, Brazil, colombia, ecua-
dor, panama, peru, Uruguay and venezuela. these shares grant the right of representation 
on caf’s Board of Directors of one principal director and one alternate director per 
share. series “a” shares have a par value of Us$1,200.

•	series “B” shares: subscribed by the governments or public-sector institutions, semi-
public or private entities and commercial banks of: Bolivia, Brazil, colombia, ecuador, 
panama, peru, Uruguay and venezuela. these shares grant the right of representation 
on caf’s Board of Directors of one principal director and one alternate director for 

                                                                                                                                                December 31,

 2010  2009
Plan’s benefit obligation (PBO)  3,388  2,060
Plan Assets  3,121  2,060
Unrecognized actuarial losses, net  267  -

                                                                                                                                                December 31,

 2010  2009
Service cost  574  447
Interest cost  3 5  33
Expected return on plan assets  (35)  (33)
 574  447

Service cost:
Contributions to the plan   642
Guaranteed benefit   76
  718
Interest cost   148
Expected return on plan assets   (137)
  729

Discount rate   4%
Expected long-term rate return on Plan assets   4%
Salary increase rate   3%

                                                                                                                                                December 31,

 2010  2009
Net assets:
Cash  -  85
Deposit with banks  3 ,121  1,973
Accrued interest  -  2
 3,121  2,060
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each of the following countries: Bolivia, colombia, ecuador, peru and venezuela. also, 
the commercial banks that currently hold shares of caf are entitled altogether to one 
principal director and one alternate director on the Board of Directors. series “B” 
shares have a par value of Us$5.

•	series “c” shares: subscribed by legal entities or individuals belonging to countries 
other than Bolivia, Brazil, colombia, ecuador, panama, peru, Uruguay and venezuela. 
these shares provide for representation on the Board of Directors of caf of two prin-
cipal directors and their respective alternates, who are elected by the holders of these 
shares. series “c” shares have a par value of Us$5.

subscribed and paid-in capital is presented as follows at December 31, 2010:

at December 31, 2010, the distribution of unpaid subscribed capital and of subscribed 
callable capital is presented below:

 Number of Shares  Amounts 
 Series “A”  Series “B”  Series “C”  Series “A”  Series “B”  Series “C”  Total
At December 31, 2008  5  366,271  67,815  6,000  1,831,355  339,075  2,176,430  
 Dividends in shares  -  15,972  4,044  -  79,860  20,220  100,080
 Issued for cash  -  583  41,244  -  2,915  206,220  209,135
At December 31, 2009  5  382,826  113,103  6,000  1,914,130  565,515  2,485,645
 Dividends in shares  -  30,403  5,089  - 152,015  25,445  177,460
 Exchanged shares  -  50,695 (50,695)  -  253,475  (253,475)  -
 Issued for cash  3  12,858 16,589  3,600  64,290  82,945  150,835
At December 31, 2010  8  476,782  84,086  9,600  2,383,910  420,430  2,813,940

 Number of Shares  Amounts 
Stockholder Series “A”  Series “B”  Series “C”  Series “A”  Series “B”  Series “C”  Total
Bolivia  1  32,652  -  1,200  163,260  -  164,460
Brazil  1  39,888  -  1,200  199,440  -  200,640
Colombia  1  116,123  -  1,200  580,615  -  581,815
Ecuador  1  32,914  -  1,200  164,570  -  165,770
Panama  1  8,912  -  1,200  44,560  -  45,760
Peru  1  116,367  -  1,200  581,835  -  583,035
Uruguay  1  13,232  -  1,200  66,160  -  67,360
Venezuela  1  116,365  -  1,200  581,825  -  583,025
Argentina  -  -  44,542  -  -  222,710  222,710
Chile  -  -  4,779  -  -  23,895  23,895
Costa Rica  -  -  2,838  -  -  14,190  14,190
Dominican Republic  -  -  5,034  -  -  25,170  25,170
Jamaica  -  -  157  -  -  785  785
Mexico  -  -  4,067  -  -  20,335  20,335
Paraguay  -  -  4,124  -  -  20,620  20,620
Spain  -  -  18,076  -  -  90,380  90,380
Trinidad & Tobago  -  -  469  -  -  2,345  2,345
Commercial banks  -  329  -  -  1,645  -  1,645
  8  476,782  84,086  9,600  2,383,910  420,430  2,813,940

 Unpaid Subscribed Capital  Subscribed Callable Capital 
  Series “B”  Series “C”  Series “B”  Series “C”
  Number of  Number of  Number of  Number of
Stockholder shares Amount shares  Amount sharess Amount shares Amount
Bolivia  7,042  3 5,210  -  -  14,400  72,000  -  -
Brazil  11,314  5 6,570  -  -  25,200  126,000  -  -
Colombia  10,421  52,105  -  -  50,400  252,000  -  -
Ecuador  7,042  35,210  -  -  14,400  7 2,000  -  -
Panama  9,880  49,400  -  -  7,200  3 6,000  -  -
Peru  25,352  126,760  -  -  50,400  252,000  -  -
Uruguay  6,070  30,350  -  -  7,200  36,000  -  -
Venezuela  25,352  126,760  -  -  50,400  252,000  -  -
Argentina  -  -  9,318  46,590  -  -  25,200  126,000
Chile  -  - -  -  -  -  800  4,000
Mexico  -  -  -  -  -  -  1,600  8,000
Paraguay  -  -  10,883  54,415  -  -  -  -
Spain  -  -  18,422  92,110  -  -  40,000  200,000
Trinidad & Tobago    142  710  -  -  -  -
Commercial banks  4  20  -  -  -  -  -  -
  102,477  512,385  38,765  193,825  219,600  1,098,000  67,600  338,000
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subscribed and paid-in capital is presented as follows at December 31, 2009:

at December 31, 2009, the distribution of unpaid subscribed capital and of subscribed 
callable capital is presented below:

General Reserve
the general reserve was set-up to cover possible contingencies. the stockholders de-
cided to increase the reserve by Us$106,238 and Us$210,335 during the years ended 
December 31, 2010 and 2009, by appropriations from net income for the years ended 
December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

Reserve Pursuant To Article N° 42 Of The By-Laws
caf’s by-laws establish that at least 10% of annual net income is to be allocated to a 
reserve fund until that fund amounts to 50% of the subscribed capital. additional alloca-
tions may be approved by the stockholders. at the stockholders’ meetings in March 2010 
and 2009, it was authorized to increase the reserve by Us$23,471 and Us$31,139, from 
net income for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively.

 Number of Shares  Amounts 
Stockholder Series “A”  Series “B”  Series “C”  Series “A”  Series “B”  Series “C”  Total
Bolivia  1  30,131  -  1,200  150,655  -  151,855
Colombia  1  107,453  -  1,200  537,265  -  538,465
Ecuador  1  30,377  -  1,200  151,885  -  153,085
Peru  1  107,280  -  1,200  536,400  -  537,600
Venezuela  1  107,278  -  1,200  536,390  -  537,590
Argentina  -  -  3 4,149  -  -  170,745  170,745
Brazil  -  -  3 1,341  -  -  156,705  156,705
Chile  -  -  4,461  -  -  22,305  22,305
Costa Rica  -  -  2 ,649  -  -  13,245  13,245
Dominican Republic  -  -  4 ,699  -  -  23,495  23,495
Jamaica  -  -  1 47  -  -  735  735
Mexico  -  -  3 ,796  -  -  18,980  18,980
Panama  -  -  6 ,009  -  -  30,045  30,045
Paraguay  -  -  2 ,531  -  -  12,655  12,655
Spain  -  -  12,572  -  -  62,860  62,860
Trinidad & Tobago  -  -  3 07  - -  1,535  1,535
Uruguay  -  -  10,442  -  -  52,210  52,210
Commercial banks  -  3 07  -  -  1,535  -  1,535
  5  382,826  113,103  6,000  1,914,130  565,515  2,485,645

 Unpaid Subscribed Capita  Subscribed Callable Capital 
  Series “B”  Series “C”  Series “B”  Series “C”
  Number of  Number of  Number of  Number of
Stockholder shares Amount shares  Amount sharess Amount shares Amount
Bolivia  -  -  -  -  14,400  7 2,000  -  -
Colombia  838  4,190  -  -  50,400  252,000  -  -
Ecuador  -  -  -  -  14,400  72,000  -  -
Peru  -  -  -  -  50,400  252,000  -  -
Venezuela  -  -  -  -  50,400  252,000  -  -
Argentina  -  -  17,273  86,365  -  -  -  -
Brazil   -  - 17,623  88,115  -  -  25,200  126,000
Chile  -  -  -  -  -  -  800  4,000
Mexico  -   - -  -  -  -  1,600  8,000
Panama  -  -  8,481  42,405  -  -  -  -
Paraguay  -  -  12,296  61,480  -  -  -  -
Spain  -  -  -  -  - - 40,000  200,000
Trinidad & Tobago    283  1,415  -  -  -  -
Uruguay  -  -  8,115  40,575  -  -  7,200  36,000
  838  4,190  64,071  320,355  180,000  900,000  74,800  374,000
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15. DiStriButionS to StockholDerS’ funDS

the stockholders may distribute a portion of retained earnings to special funds, created 
to promote technical cooperation, sustainable human development and management of 
poverty relief funds in the shareholder countries.

in March 2010 and 2009, the stockholders agreed to distribute Us$105,000 and 
Us$70,000, from retained earnings at December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively, to the 
stockholders’ funds.

16. tax exeMPtionS

caf is exempt from all taxes on income, properties and other assets. it is also exempt 
from liability related to the payment, withholding or collection of any tax or other 
levy.

17. Derivative inStruMentS anD heDging activitieS

caf utilizes derivative financial instruments to reduce exposure to interest rate risk and 
foreign currency risk. caf does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for tra-
ding or speculative purposes.

By using derivative financial instruments to hedge exposures to changes in interest rate and 
foreign exchange rates, caf exposes itself to credit risk and market risk. credit risk is the 
failure of the counterparty to perform under the terms of the derivative contract. When 
the fair value of a derivative contract is positive, the counterparty owes caf, which creates 
credit risk for caf. When the fair value of a derivative contract is negative, caf owes the 
counterparty and, therefore, it does not possess credit risk. caf minimizes the credit risk 
in derivative instruments by entering into transactions with high-quality counterparties 
whose credit rating is “a” or higher.

the market risk associated with interest rate and currency risk is managed by swapping 
loans and borrowings, subject to fixed interest rates and denominated in other currency 
into floating interest rate instruments denominated in U.s. dollars. caf enters into deriva-
tive instruments with market risk characteristics that are expected to change in a manner 
that will offset the economic change in value of specifically identified loans, bonds or 
borrowings and other obligations. Derivative contracts held by caf consist of interest rate 
and cross-currency swaps and are designated as fair value hedges of specifically identified 
loans, bonds or borrowings and other obligations with fixed interest rates or non U.s. 
currency exposure.

caf monitors the credit risk associated with derivative transactions. credit risk is man-
aged by establishing exposure limits based on the credit rating and size of the individual 
counterparty, among other factors. to further reduce the credit risk in derivatives, caf 
enters into credit support agreements with its major swap counterparties. this provides 
risk mitigation, as the swap transactions are regularly marked-to-market and the party 
being the net obligor is requested to post collateral when net mark to-market exposure 
exceeds certain predetermined thresholds, which decrease as counterparty’s credit rating 
deteriorates. this collateral is in the form of cash or highly rated and liquid government 
securities. caf offsets the fair value amount recognized for derivative instruments and 
the fair value amount recognized for the collateral, whether posted or received, under 
master netting arrangements executed with the same counterparty, in accordance with 
asc 815-10-45-5. 

the amount recognized for the right to receive collateral or the obligation to post 
collateral that have been offset at year-end 2010, was Us$ 17,530 and Us$ 29,401, 
respectively.

the following table presents the notional amount and fair values of interest rate swaps and 
cross-currency swaps and the underlying hedged items at December 31, 2010 and 2009:
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for the years ended December 31, 2010 and 2009 all of cafs’ derivatives which have been 
designated as hedging relationship were considered fair value hedges. the change in the fair 
value of such derivative instruments and the change in fair value of hedged items attributable 
to risk being hedged are included in the statement of income.

18. fair value MeaSureMentS

Asc 820 “fair value Measurements and disclosures”, defines fair value, expands disclo-
sure requirements around fair value and specifies a hierarchy of valuation techniques 
based on whether the inputs to those valuation techniques are observable or unobser-
vable. observable inputs reflect market data obtained from independent sources, while 
unobservable inputs reflect the company’s market assumptions to determine the best 
price of these instruments. these two types of inputs create the following fair value 
hierarchy:
•	 Level 1 - Quoted prices for identical instruments in active markets
•	 Level 2 - Quoted prices for similar instruments in active markets; quoted prices for 

identical or similar instruments in markets that are not active; and model-derived va-
luations in which all significant inputs and significant value drivers are observable in 
active markets.

•	 Level 3 - valuations derived from valuation techniques in which one or more signifi-
cant inputs or significant value drivers are unobservable.

Determination of Fair Value
the following section describes the valuation methodologies used by caf to measure 
various financial instruments at fair value, including an indication of the level in the fair-
value hierarchy in which each instrument is generally classified. Where appropriate the 
description includes details of the valuation models, the key inputs to those models as well 
as any significant assumptions.

When available, caf generally uses quoted market prices to determine fair value, and clas-
sifies such items in level 1. in some cases where a market price is not available, caf will 
make use of acceptable practical expedients (such as matrix pricing) to calculate fair value, 
in which case the items are classified in level 2.

if quoted market prices are not available, fair value is based upon internally developed 
valuation techniques that use, where possible, current market-based or independently sou-
rced market parameters, such as interest rates, currency rates, etc. items valued using such 
internally generated valuation techniques are classified according to the lowest level input 
or value driver that is significant to the valuation. thus, an item may be classified in level 3 
even though there may be some significant inputs that are readily observable.

 Notional amount  Fair value
   Cross
 Interest  currency  Derivative  Derivative
 rate swap swap  assets  liabilities
At December 31, 2010 -
 Loans  -  22,499 -  7,532
 Loans  40,100  -  907  -
 Borrowings  340,000  -  5,970  (1,340)
 Bonds  4,176,318  -  260,030  -
 Bonds  -  2,525,857  258,082  126,695
  4,556,418  2,548,356  524,989  132,887
At December 31, 2009 -
 Loans  -  21,880  -  4,107
 Loans  33,000  -  -  213
 Borrowings  140,000  -  -  2 ,445
 Bonds  3,302,318  -  169,932  -
 Bonds  -  1,860,619  266,813  38,371
  3,475,318 1,882,499 436,745 45,136
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Where available, caf may also make use of quoted prices for recent trading activity in 
positions with the same or similar characteristics to that being valued. the frequency and 
size of transactions and the amount of the bid-ask spread are among the factors consi-
dered in determining the liquidity of markets and the relevance of observed prices from 
those markets. if relevant and observable prices are available, those valuations would be 
classified as level 2. if prices are not available, other valuation techniques would be used 
and the item would be classified as level 3.
•	Marketable securities: caf uses quoted market prices to determine the fair value of 

trading securities and those transactions are classified in level 1 of the fair-value 
hierarchy.

•	 loans: the fair value of fixed rate loans, which are hedged using derivative transactions, 
is determined using the current variable interest rate for similar loans. loans transac-
tions are classified in level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

•	 derivative assets and liabilities: Derivative transactions contracted and designated by caf as 
hedges of risks related to interest rates, currency rates or both for transactions recorded as 
financial assets or liabilities are also presented at fair value. in those cases the fair value is 
calculated utilizing market prices given by the counterparties. Derivative transactions are 
classified in level 2 of the fair-value hierarchy.

•	 bonds and borrowings: for bonds issued and medium and long term borrowings of caf 
the fair value are determined utilizing internal valuation techniques, such as, discounting 
expected cash flows using the appropriate discount rates for the applicable maturity, 
reflecting the fluctuation of the variables such as interest and exchange rates. those tran-
sactions are generally classified in level 2 of the fair-value hierarchy depending on the 
observability of significant inputs to the model.

Items Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis
the following tables present for each of the fair-value hierarchy levels caf’s assets and 
liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis at December 31, 2010 and 
2009:

 Level 1 Level 2  Level 3  Net balance
At December 31, 2010 -
Assets -
Marketable Securities:
 U.S. Treasury Notes  45,011  -  -  45,011
 Bonds of non-U.S. governments and government entities  258,673  -  -  258,673
 Financial institutions and corporate securities:
  Commercial papers  882,529  -  -  882,529
  Certificate of deposits  340,711  -  -  340,711
  Bonds  666,388  -  -  666,388
  Others  263,433  -  -  263,433
    2,153,061 -  -  2,153,061
    2,456,745  -  -  2,456,745
Loans   -  67,678  -  67,678
Derivative instruments:
 Interest rate swap  -  266,907  -  266,907
 Cross-currency swap  -  258,082  -  258,082
    -  524,989  -  524,989
    2,456,745  592,667  -  3,049,412
Liabilities -
Bonds   -  7,089,124  -  7,089,124
Borrowings and other obligations  -  347,310  -  347,310
Derivative instruments:
 Interest rate swap  -  -  -  -
 Cross-currency swap  -  132,887  -  132,887
    -  132,887  -  132,887
    -  7,569,321  -  7,569,321
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 Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Net balance
At December 31, 2009 -
Assets-
Marketable securities:
 U.S. Treasury Notes  36,046  -  -  36,046
 Bonds of non-U.S. governments and government entities  43,382  -  -  43,382
 Financial institutions and corporate securities:
 Commercial paper  1,049,059  -  -  1,049,059
 Certificates of deposit  351,959  -  -  351,959
 Bonds  499,595  -  -  499,595
 Others  234,213  -  -  234,213
    2,134,826  -  -  2,134,826
    2,214,254  -  -  2,214,254
Loans   -  61,458  -  61,458
Derivative instruments:
 Interest rate swap  -  169,932  -  169,932
 Cross-currency swap  -  266,813  -  266,813
    -  436,745  -  436,745
    2,214,254  498,203  -  2,712,457
Liabilities -
Bonds   -  5,588,862  -  5,588,862
Borrowings and other obligations  -  137,555  -  137,555
Derivative instruments:
 Interest rate swap  -  2,658  -  2,658
 Cross-currency swap  -  42,478  -  42,478
    -  45,136  -  45,136
    -  5,771,553  -  5,771,553

Items Measured At Fair Value on a Nonrecurring Basis
equity investments initially recorded at cost are measured at fair value on a non-recur-
ring basis and therefore are not included in the tables above. such equity investments are 
classified in level 3 of the fair-value hierarchy.

the fair value of those equity investments is determined based on financial analysis of 
the investees.

19. fair value of financial inStruMentS

in accordance with Asc 825 Financial Instruments, caf also estimated the fair value of 
all financial instruments in caf’s balance sheet, including those financial instruments 
carried at cost, as presented in the table below. the fair value estimates, methods and 
assumptions set forth below for caf’s financial instruments are made solely to comply 
with the requirements in asc 820 Fair Value Measurements and disclosures and should be 
read in conjunction with the financial statements. 

the following is a summary of the carrying value and estimated fair value of caf’s 
financial instruments at December 31, 2010 and 2009:
 December 31,
 2010  2009
 Carrying  Estimated  Carrying  Estimated
 amount  fair value  amount  fair value
Financial assets
 Cash and due from banks  119,834  119,834  29,906  29,906
 Deposits with banks  1,403,443  1,403,443  1,237,863  1,237,863
 Marketable securities  2,456,745  2,456,745  2,214,254  2,214,254
 Other investments  146,852  146,852  203,361  203,361
 Loans, net  13,571,550  13,574,966  11,486,653  11,492,618
 Equity investments (Cost method)  41,221  41,221  26,839  26,839
 Acrrued interest and commissions receivable  159,559  159,559  135,705  135,705
 Derivative instruments  524,989  524,989  436,745  436,745
Financial liabilities
 Deposits  2,739,497  2,739,497  2,650,706  2,650,706
 Commercial paper  1,524,285  1,524,285  1,265,417  1,265,417
 Bonds  7,212,812  7,215,181  5,699,219  5,701,764
 Borrowings and other obligations  998,089  998,469  788,467  789,463
 Derivative instruments  132,887  132,887  45,136  45,136
 Accrued interest payable  120,001  120,001  98,093  98,093
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the following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of those 
financial instruments, not accounted for at fair value under asc 820 Fair Value Measure-
ments and disclosures:
•	 Cash and due from banks, deposits with banks, interest and commissions receivable, other in-

vestment,  deposits, commercial paper, advances and short-term borrowings and accrued interest 
payable: the carrying amounts approximate fair value because of the short maturity of 
these instruments.

•	 loans: caf is one of the few institutions that offer loans for development in the stoc-
kholder countries. a secondary market does not exist for the type of loans granted by 
caf. as rates on variable rate loans and loan commitments are reset on a semiannual 
basis, the carrying value, adjusted for credit risk, was determined to be the best esti-
mate of fair value.  the fair value of fixed rate loans is determined using the current 
variable interest rate for similar loans.  

•	 Equity Investments: the fair value of equity investments recorded at cost is determined 
based on a financial analysis of the investees.

for additional information regarding caf’s determination of fair value, included items 
accounted for at fair value under asc 820 fair value Measurements and disclosures, see 
note 18.

20. fair value oPtion

asc 825-10-25 “fair value option” permits to choose to measure eligible financial assets 
and financial liabilities at fair value. once the fair value option has been chosen for an 
instrument, this choice cannot be reversed. fair value changes on these financial assets and 
financial liabilities must be recorded in the statement of income.

caf’s management decided to measure at fair value those financial assets and liabilities 
denominated in currencies other than Us dollars for which it has contracted a derivative 
as an economic hedge for other currency and interest rate risks. 

the results recorded in the statement of income as a result of periodic cash flows and 
unrealized changes in fair value as of December 31, 2010 and 2009 for instruments that 
fair value option was chosen, and for derivatives used as economic hedges for these instru-
ments, are as follows:

21.coMMitMentS anD contingencieS

commitments and contingenciesinclude tthe following:

these commitments and contingencies result from the normal course of caf’s business and 
are related principally to loans and loan equivalents that have been approved or committed 
for disbursement.

in the ordinary course of business caf has entered into commitments to extend credits, such 
financial instruments are recorded as commitments upon signing the corresponding contract 
and are reported in the financial statements when disbursements are made.

                                                                                                                                                December 31,

 2010  2009

Bonds  16,897  (16,757)
Loans  (3,184)  3,593
Comercial Papers  -  (100)
Other Investments  -  (99)
 13,713  (13,363)

                                                                                                                                               December 31,

 2010  2009

Credit agreements subscribed  6,371,035  3,056,384
Lines of credit  2,735,226  2,535,552
Letters of credit  195,327  2,241
Guarantees  225,973  183,211
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the contracts to extend credit have fixed expiration dates and in some cases expire with-
out making disbursements. also based on experience, parts of the disbursements are made 
up to two years after the signing of the contract. therefore, the total commitment amounts 
do not necessarily represent future cash requirements.

guarantees mature as follows:

to the best of the knowledge of caf’s management, caf is not engaged in any litigation 
that ismaterial to caf’s business or that is likely to have an adverse effect on its business, 
financial condition or results of operations.
 

22. funDS aDMiniStration

caf, as a multilateral financial institution, acts as administrator of several funds funded by 
third parties and caf’s own shareholders. these shareholders funds are funded through 
distributions made each year by the shareholders from caf’s prior year’s net income. the 
financial statements of the funds are annually audited by independent auditors firms.

in connection with the operations carried out by the funds, caf’s financial responsibility 
is limited to the fund’s balance, less commitments contracted. since caf does not maintain 
residual interests in these funds, it does not expect the generation of economic benefits for 
future distribution. these funds are not part of caf’s accounts.

as of December 31, 2010 and 2009, managed funds net assets are Us$ 426,500 and
Us$ 374,170, respectively.

23. SuBSequent eventS

Management has evaluated subsequent events through february 11, 2011, financial state-
ments issue date. as a result of this evaluation, there are no subsequent events, as defined, 
that require a disclosure in caf’s financial statements at the year ended December 31, 
2010, except for:
•	 on January 19, 2011, the portuguese Republic paid eUR 3.75 million corresponding 

to the first installment under the share subscription agreement between the Republic 
and caf, thus becoming a series “c” shareholder of the institution.

•	 on february 2, 2011, caf issued euros 250 million, 4.625%, under its Medium term 
notes programme due 2018.

•	 on february 10, 2011, caf issued chf 130 million, 2.625%, under its Medium term 
notes programme due 2015.

                                                                                                                                               December 31,
 2010  2009

Less than one year  54,715  51,000
Between one and two years  62  -‐
Over five years  171,196  132,211
 225,973  183,211
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goveRning BoDies
CorporaCión andina de Fomento

ShareholderS’ aSSembly1

the shareholders’ assembly is caf’s highest authority. it meets in ordinary sessions once 
a year, within ninety days following the end of the fiscal year; and in extraordinary sessions,  
according to need. in both cases, it is convened by the executive president. the assembly 
is comprised of series a, B and c shareholders. the assembly approves annual Report of 
the Board of Directors, the audited financial statements, and determines the allocation of 
net income.

in addition, it elects Board members, according to the provisions set forth in the “agree-
ment establishing the corporación andina de fomento”, appoints the external auditors 
and examines other issues submitted to its consideration. 

board oF direCtorS2

the Board of Directors is comprised of thirteen principal members and their alternates. 
ten of its members are elected by series a and B shareholders, for a three-year period, 
and may be re-elected. series c shareholders have two principal directors and their alter-
nates, while banks and private financial institutions within the andean region, which are 
series B shareholders, have one director and his/her alternate. the Board establishes the 
corporation’s policies, appoints the executive president, approves credit operations, the 
annual budget, and approves guarantees, investments and other operations within caf’s 
mandate. approvals of certain operations are delegated to the executive committee or the 
executive president, according to criteria set forth by the Board. the executive commit-
tee meets with a quórum of at least six of its members.

exeCutive Committee

the executive committee was established by the Board of Directors in 1971. it is compri-
sed of six directors designated by series a, B and c shareholders, and is chaired by the exe-
cutive president. it approves financial operations within the limits established by the Board.

audit Committee3

the audit committee was established by the Board of Directors in July, 1996. it is com-
prised of six members: the chairman of the Board, four directors elected by the Board 
for a two-year period, and caf’s executive president. it recommends the selection of 
external auditors and reviews their annual work program. it also reviews the institution’s 
annual report and financial statements, with the corresponding auditors’ opinion, before 
their submission to the Board and shareholders assembly, the internal audit Reports on 
the structure of internal control systems; the annual portfolio risk management program 
and the annual report of its implementation.

exeCutive preSident

the executive president is caf’s legal representative. as ceo, he is in charge of the  
institution’s overall supervision and management, as well as all matters which are not spe-
cifically entrusted to any other governing body. likewise, he approves caf’s country and 
sector strategies, decides on organizational and procedural issues under his authority, and 
authorizes the institution’s financial operations within the limits delegated to him by the 
Board of Directors.

the executive president is assisted by and advisory council composed of experts from 
the economic, business, and financial communities of the region, whose main task is to 
support the president in the analysis of caf’s strategic objectives. the executive president 

is appointed for a five year period, and may be re-elected.
1 the Xli ordinary shareholders’ meeting as well as the Xli ex-

traordinary shareholders’ Meeting were held on March 8th, 2010.
2 During 2010, four Board of Directors meetings were held on 

March 8th,  July 9th, october 1st, and november 30th, respectively.
3 the Xvii audit committee was held on March 8th, 2010.
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BolIVIA
Principal: elba viviana caro hinojosa
secretary of Development planning 

Alternate: harley Rodríguez téllez
vice-Minister for public sector investment

and external financing

BrAZIl
Principal: paulo Bernardo silva
secretary of planning, Budget and 

administration

Alternate: carlos augusto vidotto
secretary of international affairs 

planning, Budget and administration 

secretariat

ColomBIA
Principal: Juan carlos echeverry
secretary of finance and public credit 

Alternate: sergio Díaz-granados guida
secretary of trade, industry and tourism

eCuAdor
Principal: camilo samán salem
chairman of the Board 

national finance corporation

Alternate: verónica sión de Josse
secretary of industry and competitiveness       

PAnAmA
Principal: alberto vallarino
secretary of economy and finance

Alternate: Dulcidio de la guardia
vice-Minister of finance

Peru
Principal: ismael Benavides ferreyros
secretary of economy and finance

Alternate: luis Miguel castilla
vice-Minister of finance

uruGuAy
Principal: fernando lorenzo
secretary of economy and finance

Alternate: Mario Bergara
president Uruguay central Bank

VeneZuelA
Principal: Jorge giordani
the power of the people’s planning and 

finance secretary

Alternate: eyilde Margarita gracia
planning and finance secretary

BoaRD of DiRectoRs
(as of December 31st, 2010)

chairman of the Board (2010-2011)
luis alberto arce
secretary of economy and public finance

SerieS a ShareholderS

BolIVIA
Principal: luis alberto arce
secretary of economy and public finance

Alternate: Roger edwin Rojas Ulo
vice-Minister treasury and public credit

ColomBIA
Principal: José Darío Uribe
general Manager Banco de la República

Alternate: hernando José gómez  
Director national planning Department

eCuAdor
Principal: patricio Rivera 
secretary of finance  
Alternate: Diego Borja cornejo 
chairman of the Board 

ecuador central Bank

Peru
Principal: alfonso Zárate Rivas
chairman of the Board

corporación financiera de Desarrollo 

(cofide)

Alternate: carlos casas tragodara
vice-Minister of economy

VeneZuelA 
Principal: edmée Betancourt de garcía
president Banco de Desarrollo

económico y social de venezuela 

(BanDes)

PrIVAte BAnkS
Principal: guillermo lasso Mendoza
executive president

Banco de guayaquil

Alternate: carlos gonzález-taboada
vice chairman of the Board and general 

Manager

scotiabank perú

SerieS b ShareholderS

SerieS C ShareholderS

ArGentInA
Principal: Roberto José feletti
secretary of economic policy

secretariat of economy and public finance    

ChIle
Alternate: Matías acevedo
corporate Manager coRfo

SPAIn
Principal: elena salgado Méndez
second vice-president of the government 

and economy and finance secretary            

trInIdAd & toBAGo
Alternate:  Winston Dookeran
secretary of finance
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eXecUtive ManageMent
(as of December 31st, 2010)

President and Chief executive officer l. enrique garcía
executive Vicepresident luis enrique Berrizbeitia
General Advisor luis sánchez Masi
Chief legal Counsel Ricardo sigwald

Corporate Comptroller Marcelo Zalles
director, risk management Marcia arliani
director, Internal Audit Martha Diez

Corporate director, Credit management stephen foley
director, Special Assets Renny lópez

Corporate director, human Capital José Bellido
director, human Capital operations corina arroyo
director, human Capital Planning leopoldo gómez

Corporate director,  technology and operations luiz amato
director, operations Control germán alzate
director, Information technology Diego grillo

director, Secretariat and external relations andrés Rugeles
director, Strategic Communication María Rubiños

Corporate Vicepresident, Public Policy and Strategic devolpment leonardo villar
director, Public Policy and Competitiveness Michael penfold
director, research pablo sanguinetti
director, Smes and microfinance Manuel Malaret

Corporate Vicepresident, Country Programs lilliana canale
director, regional Programs alexis gómez
director, Governance and technical Cooperation elvira lupo
director, Argentina Álvaro garcía
director, Bolivia emilio Uquillas
director, Brazil Moira paz estenssoro
director, Colombia víctor traverso
director, ecuador hermann Krützfeldt
director, Panama Rubén Ramírez
director, Peru eleonora silva
director, Spain germán Jaramillo

Corporate Vicepresident, Infrastructure antonio Juan sosa
Senior director, Infrastructure Manuel llosa
director, Sectorial Analysis and Programming
director, northern region Projects lucía Meza
director, Southern region Projects Rolando terrazas

Corporate Vicepresident, Corporate Finance and Investment Banking peter vonk
Corporate director, Productive and Financial Sectors carlos sanz
director, Productive and Financial Sectors northern region víctor loero
director, Productive and Financial Sectors Southern region félix Bergel
director, Structured Financing carmen elena carbonell
director, Financial Advisory Services ignacio fombona

Corporate Vicepresident, Social and environmental development José carrera
director, Social development Bernardo Requena
director, environment María teresa szauer

Corporate Vicepresident and Chief Financial officer hugo sarmiento
director, Financial Policies and Internacional Issues gabriel felpeto
director, multilateral and Bank Financing carolina españa
director, treasury alfonso Machado
director, Accounting and Budget Marcos subía

director, logistics and Administrative Services Jaime caycedo
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pRoDUcts anD seRvices

caf’s activities are aimed at supporting sustainable development and regional inte-
gration among its shareholder countries. as a multilateral source of financial resources, 
the institution attracts funds from international markets to latin america, with the 
objective of promoting investment and trade opportunities in the region.

likewise, caf provides resources generally non-reimbursable, for a series of special 
programs that support its mission within the framework of its agenda for compre-
hensive Development.

these funds are devoted to socioeconomic development in shareholder countries, 
through the financing of operations that contribute to improving the competitiveness 
of their economies, the development of infrastructure, physical integration, the pro-
motion of micro-, small- and médium-sized businesses, the strengthening of financial 
markets, the development of human capital and the reform and modernization of 
states.

the institution offers financial products and services to shareholder states and public, 
private and mixed capital companies based in shareholder countries.

the products and services offered by caf are mainly aimed a supporting the imple-
mentation of its agenda for comprehensive Development and its special programs. 
they include a series of financial tools designed to meet clients’ requirements and 
market opportunities, under the following headings:

loanS

loans represent caf’s main financing tool. they are employed in investment projects 
and activities related to the institution’s corporate mission.

Project financing

project financing loans are allocated to develop and execute projects in road trans-
portation, telecommunications, water and environment, border development and the 
physical integration of shareholder countries. caf also provides financing to corpo-
rate projects in the industrial field, to enhance and renovate productive capacity and 
to insert businesses into regional and global markets.

creDit lineS

credit lines allow the institution to offer maximum resources for a given period 
without an express commitment to the client.

Project Structuring anD financing

caf actively participates in the financing of projects structured with limited gua-
rantees (limited recourse lending). this category is mainly utilized for the financing 
of Boo (Build, operate and own) operations in the infrastructure sector, generally 
arising from concessions granted by governments, or to finance oil and gas, mining 
and other extractive projects. 

co-financing

co-financing is a type of loan that complements the financial resources provided by 
caf and attracts external capital to the region. through these instruments, the insti-
tution grants the a portion of the loan using its own resources, while distributing the 
B portion among international banks and institutional investors. in addition, caf co-
finances operations with other multilateral organi zations, such as the inter-american 
Development Bank, the World Bank, the international investment corporation, the 
nordic investment Bank, the international finance corporation and the internatio-
nal fund for agricultural Development, as well as with official bodies and local and 
international private banks

Support to the private 
SeCtor

the private sector has a direct im-
pact as a wealth creator, a generator 
of employment and a promoter of 
trade and markets. companies also 
have a key multiplier role in educa-
tion and technology transfer.

caf promotes the participation 
of the private sector in investment 
projects in the productive sectors of 
shareholder countries. in addition, 
the institution offers advice on go-
vernance, corporate governance and 
the promotion of corporate social 
responsibility, which also requires 
the active participation of the sec-
tor, and structures physical integra-
tion projects to include private sec-
tor participation, on account of the 
large capital investments involved in 
infrastructural developments.

it offers direct assistance through 
traditional term loans and indirect 
assistance through partial credit gua-
rantees for government obligations 
in the underlying transactions or 
part-financing.

an example of caf’s activities in 
this regard is the advice given on 
the structuring of concessions in the 
framework of peru’s inter-oceanic 
Roads project, which was successfu-
lly financed by the private sector.
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GuaranteeS

guarantees are used by the institution to back up credit operations approved by other 
sources for governments, businesses and financial institutions.

partial Credit GuaranteeS

partial credit guarantees (pcg) are financial instruments through which a portion 
of the credit risk of a client’s obligation is guaranteed to a third party. through this 
mechanism, caf attracts fresh resources to the region and stimulates the activities of 
private financial sources by offering conditions that would otherwise not be available.

FinanCial adviCe

the institution provides financial advice to public and private sector clients. among 
other services, caf offers advice in: i) the definition and structuring of financial plans 
for projects and companies; ii) the design and implementation of public bid processes 
to delegate the private sector the construction, operation and administration of infras-
tructure and public service works, such as public private partnerships and concessions; 
iii) preparation of private sectors offers to participate in public bid processes; iv) mer-
gers and acquistions; and v) valuations. 

publiC-private partiCipationS

caf actively participates in the structuring of financing operations with the private 
sector, in order to overcome the shortage of funds available to finance infrastructural 
projects. through this participation, caf contributes to the process of financial engi-
neering needed to structure this type of operation, offers advice to the parties invol-
ved, and promotes the development and strengthening of capital markets.

treaSury ServiCeS

treasury services include deposits via the money desk, from overnight to 12 months, 
offered by caf to its shareholder countries.

equity inveStmentS

equity investments are capital investments utilized by caf to support business de-
velopment in shareholder countries and their access to capital, as well as to attract 
resources to the region.

Cooperation FundS

caf uses cooperation funds to finance specialized operations that complement the 
existing technical capacity of shareholder countries, to promote special programs that 
contribute to sustainable development and regional integration. these funds may be 
reimbursable, non-reimbursable or of conditional recovery, depending on the nature 
and purpose of the operation.

cooperation funds are primarily intended to support reforms related to state moder-
nization processes, such as privatization, administrative decentralization and institutio-
nal strengthening.

they also contribute to export and investment plans, the development and integra-
tion of the region’s financial and capital markets, technology transfer and adaptation, 
environmental protection, social development and the promotion of cultural values.

caf also administrates and supervises funds, mostly non-reimbursable, from other 
countries and bodies, which are devoted to financing programs agreed with donor 
organizations and according to the policies and strategies of the institution.
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head oFFiCe venezuela

av. luis Roche, torre caf
altamira, caracas
telephone: +58 (212) 209.2111 (master)
fax: +58 (212) 209.2444
e-mail: infocaf@caf.com

arGentina

av. eduardo Madero, n° 900
edificio catalinas plaza, piso 9
c1106acv, ciudad de Buenos aires
telephone: +54 (11) 4310.1111 (master)
fax: +54 (11) 4310.1100
e-mail: argentina@caf.com

bolivia

av. arce, n° 2915, Zona san Jorge
la paz
telephone: +591 (2) 264.8111 (master)
fax: +591 (2) 243.3304
e-mail: bolivia@caf.com

brazil

saU/s, cuadra 01, lote 1/2
Bloco M/n, edificio libertas
salas 1404 a 1409
70070-010, Brasilia-Df
telephone: +55 (61) 3226.8414
fax: +55 (61) 3225.0633
e-mail: brasil@caf.com

Colombia

carrera 9ª, n° 76-49
edificio ing, piso 7, Bogotá
telephone: +57 (1) 744.9444 (master)
fax: +57 (1) 313.2787
e-mail: colombia@caf.com

eCuador

av. 12 de octubre n. 24-562 y cordero
edificio World Trade Center
torre a, piso 13, Quito
telephone: +593 (2) 222.4080 (master)
fax: +593 (2) 222.2107
e-mail: ecuador@caf.com

Spain

plaza pablo Ruiz picasso, n° 1
torre picasso, planta 24
# 28020, Madrid
telephone: +34 (91) 597.3894 (master)
fax: +34 (91) 597.4927
e-mail: espana@caf.com

panama

calle 50 y calle santo Domingo
edificio global Bank, piso 40, 
oficina 4001
ciudad de panamá
telephone: +507 297.5311 (master)
fax: +507 297-5301
e-mail: panama@caf.com

peru

av. enrique canaval y Moreyra n° 380
edificio torre siglo XXi, piso 9
san isidro lima 27
telephone: +51 (1) 710.8511 (master)
fax: +51 (1) 716.9885
e-mail: peru@caf.com

uruGuay

plaza independencia 710
torre ejecutiva, piso 9, Montevideo
telephone: +598 2917.8211 (master)
fax: +598 2917.8201 
e-mail: uruguay@caf.com

heaD anD coUntRY offices
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